Enabling a Coal Transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia

An Exploratory Case Study Research with a Political Economy Analysis & Development of Institutional Interventions

Master thesis submitted to Delft University of Technology

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in Complex Systems Engineering and Management

Faculty of Technology, Policy and Management

by

Kieron Patrick Funk

Student number: 5234603

To be defended in public on August 25th, 2022

Graduation committee

: Dr. T. Hoppe, Section Organisation and Governance
: Dr. ir. J.N. Quist, Section Energy and Industry
: Dr. T. Hoppe, Section Organisation and Governance
: A.G. Darwili, Section Economics of Technology and Innovation

Chairperson First Supervisor Second Supervisor: Advisor:

Acknowledgements

This thesis marks the end of my time at the Delft University of Technology and the end of my Master's in Complex Systems Engineering and Management. I hereby want to express my gratitude to everyone who helped me throughout this last chapter of my formal education.

Firstly, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Jaco Quist and Prof. Dr. Thomas Hoppe for their supervision during my thesis. I am especially grateful for their constant dedication, their valuable feedback, and our fruitful discussions. I would further like to thank Dr. Abidah Setyowati for her valuable feedback and for the insightful discussions which we had at the beginning of my research before Dr. Setyowati accepted a new and exciting position at The World Bank. I would further like to thank Aldy Gustinara Darwili for his contributions.

I would further like to express my gratitude to all experts who participated in the interviews for this research. I truly enjoyed all of the interviews and the involved discussions, which provided me with valuable insights and new perspectives. Especially insights into the Indonesian context were of great value and increased my understanding of the real-life situation in South Kalimantan and Indonesia. The interviews sparked my interest in pursuing a career in research, especially in field research related to energy transitions in developing economies.

In addition, I would like to thank everyone at the Delft University of Technology and the Technology, Policy and Management faculty for the exceptional education I received during my studies.

Lastly, I would like to thank my family, who supported me throughout my studies and my master thesis. I am truly grateful for the education you have provided me with.

Executive Summary

According to the UNFCCC, the generation of electricity from coal fired power production (CFPP) is regarded as the greatest cause of climate change. Phasing-out CFPP and accelerating the deployment of renewable energy sources (RES) is, therefore, a crucial part of energy transitions for mitigating climate change. As part of the Paris Agreements and international climate negotiations, the Indonesian government has announced ambitious plans to reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions and reach net-zero by 2060. However, despite these ambitious plans, Indonesia plans to expand their use of CFPP in the coming years and deployment of RES is limited. Research suggests that the main problem with regard to a coal transition in Indonesia arises from vested interests of powerful and influential actors in the political economy of coal in Indonesia.

In the province of South Kalimantan, coal contributed 18.8% of the provincial GDP in 2017. The economic dependency of South Kalimantan poses a significant barrier to a coal transition. However, research suggests that the economic, social, and environmental costs of not preparing for collapsing coal markets are high and disruptive. This suggests that South Kalimantan should prepare in advance for a coal transition.

The purpose of this thesis is to conduct research on possible ways to enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan. A literature review on coal transitions has revealed that policies are regarded as the main drivers for coal transitions. This thesis adopts a broader view of policies as part of institutions. In view of the theory of New Institutional Economics (NIE), institutions can be defined as rules that structure social interactions. Crucially important in this regard is the fact that NIE applied to politics is synonymous with Political Economy. This thesis aims to assess how a coal transition in South Kalimantan can be enabled by institutional interventions. The main research question of this research is: *How can a coal transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia, be enabled by influencing actors in the Indonesian political economy of coal through institutional interventions*?

The research approach of this thesis is a case study on the political economy of coal in Indonesia, and more specifically in South Kalimantan. The case study is an exploratory, single case study. The research methodology for the case study combines literature reviews, a desk study and expert interviews. The desk study aims to analyse the political economy of coal in South Kalimantan, Indonesia. Multiple data sources were used for the case study, such as academic articles, reports, and newspaper articles. For the analysis of the data from the desk study, the 'Analytical Framework for Understanding the Political Economy of Sectors and Policy Arenas' from Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005) (henceforth called Analytical Framework) was used.

After the political economic analysis based on the desk study, the second part of this research aims to explore how a coal transition in South Kalimantan can be enabled by institutional interventions. This part of this case study is conducted by using a theoretical framework for the analysis of institutions by Williamson (2000). The theoretical framework guides the exploration of possible institutional interventions. The exploration of institutional interventions is conducted in two ways. First, insights from the literature on coal transitions, political economy of coal- or energy transitions, and literature directly related to coal or energy transitions in South Kalimantan and Indonesia are used to identify possible institutional interventions. These insights are complemented with insights from expert interviews. The expert interviews aim to establish insights into which of the *proposed* institutional interventions would be *politically feasible*, given the existing political economy of coal.

The results of the political economic analysis have revealed that multiple factors influence the political economy of coal in South Kalimantan. These include historical and foundational factors, existing institutions in the coal and electricity sector, processes of change, structural features, power

dynamics and vested interests, and ideologies and values in the coal sector. An actor analysis reveals that multiple actors and organisations influence the political economy of coal and policymaking in the electricity and coal sector to a varying extent. The results from the desk study and literature review revealed that multiple institutional interventions could influence a coal transition in South Kalimantan. Formal institutional interventions include international climate agreements, the creation of an independent regulator, environmental regulations, changing the allocation of mining permits, providing compensation schemes, providing alternative means for economic development, restructuring the electricity market, introducing carbon pricing, reforming energy subsidies, introducing emission or renewable portfolio standards, introducing feed-in tariffs (FiTs), attracting investments into other technological solutions, implementing measures for rationing or banning, or introducing moratoria. Informal institutional interventions could include increasing awareness of climate change and environmental issues among key stakeholders and the local population in South Kalimantan, increasing citizen engagement, fostering the emergence of new actors aimed at disrupting the current regime, fostering the influence of voters on political processes, and fostering strong political leadership.

However, based on insights from literature and expert interviews, many of these *possible* institutional interventions are deemed *unfeasible* to be implemented in South Kalimantan and Indonesia due to existing power dynamics, vested interest, and institutional lock-ins. For example, creating an independent regulator seems rather infeasible and ineffective. Implementing stricter environmental regulations seems to be rather ineffective due to existing corruption and non-adherence to laws and regulations. Complete liberalisation of the electricity sector seems unfeasible, but the creation of separate entities of SOEs responsible for generation, transmission, and distribution could increase transparency and could accelerate the deployment of RES. The possibility of reforming the state-owned enterprise PLN might be gaining momentum. Several market instruments, such as carbon pricing, subsidy reform, renewable portfolio standards, or FiTs, seem feasible and are already partially considered in current energy planning processes. However, their effectiveness remains questioned, especially with regard to lobbying efforts to keep carbon prices low and with regard to the market structure of the electricity market, whereby currently, competition is weak or even non-existent due to the monopolistic position of PLN.

Based on the results of this case study and the expert interviews, several institutional interventions are proposed to enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan that seem politically feasible, given the political economy of coal. These are complemented with insights from systems thinking and insights to overcome the prevalent systems archetypes of the *Tragedy of the Commons, Rule Beating*, and *Policy Resistance*.

In conclusion, enabling a coal transition in South Kalimantan would have to arise from a shared understanding of the current and expected market dynamics and the need to prepare for collapsing coal markets and stricter climate targets. Increasing awareness at the provincial level, providing financial and technical assistance, and fostering citizen engagement could facilitate a bottom-up approach for influencing the political spectrum through the electorate. Strong political leadership would be required to align the interests of powerful and influential actors, to reduce the extent of vested interests, and to reduce corruption to enable a coal transition. A *democratic symbiosis* of a bottom-up and a top-down approach is required since political leadership is required to facilitate citizen engagement, and citizen engagement is required to foster the emergence of new political actors favouring reforms or to create pressure on the current regime. However, any efforts to enable a coal transition would have to consider the current political economic reality. Especially the overarching goals of the Indonesian government for providing public infrastructure, ensuring energy access and security, and maintaining low electricity prices, would have to be acknowledged. Compensation measures and providing alternative means for economic development are crucial in

this regard. Reduced costs for RES could aid in providing affordable and reliable energy access by simultaneously providing infrastructure development and employment opportunities. Pressure from international climate agreements can exert influence on the current regime to accelerate a coal transition. International financial and technical support is crucial for enabling a coal transition in South Kalimantan. From a systems thinking perspective, systems archetypes can be overcome by: (1) increasing awareness and increasing coal mining regulations to reduce the *Tragedy of the Commons*; (2) providing alternative means for economic development for redirecting *Rule Beating* and for reducing *Policy Resistance*. (3) Compensation for affected stakeholders might also reduce the archetype of *Policy Resistance*. These measures are required to overcome the prevalent systems archetypes and to intervene in the complex system of the political economy of coal to enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia.

Further research needs to be conducted on: (1) adaptive management of the proposed institutional interventions, (2) how *key actors* can be convinced of the importance of anticipating and preparing for coal transitions, (3) examining the required investments for a coal transition, how these can be distributed, and how to ensure that investments and international financial support are used for the intended purposes and not redirected or misused, (4) exploring adequate alternative pathways for economic development in South Kalimantan, and (5) possibly modelling the proposed institutional interventions.

Keywords:

energy transition, coal transition, political economy, new institutional economics, systems thinking.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements I			I
E	ecutiv	e Summary	11
Li	st of Fig	gures VI	
Li	st of Ta	ıblesI	X
Li	st of Ak	breviations	x
<i>1</i> Introduction			1
	1.1	Problem Statement	3
	1.2	Research Questions	4
	1.3	Alignment with Complex Systems Engineering and Management	4
	1.4	Thesis Outline	5
2	 Liter	rature Review. Theoretical Background & Research Gans	6
2	2 1	Literatura Poviow	6
	2.1	Coal Transition in Indonesia and South Kalimantan	о с
	2.1.1		Q Q
	2.1.2		-
	2.2	Theoretical Background1	2
	2.2.1	Energy Transitions	2
	2.2.2	Political Economy	3
	2.2.3	Political Economy of Coal, Transitions, & Decarbonisation	4 5
	2.2.4	New Institutional Economics & Theoretical Framework	7
	2.2.5	Complex Systems, Systems Thinking & Systems Archetypes	9
	2.3	Research Gaps and Scope of Research 2	0
	2.4	Synthesis of Insights from Chapter 22	1
3	Rese	earch Approach and - Methodology2	3
	3.1	Research Approach - Case Study	3
	3 2	Data Collection 2	5
	321	Qualitative Desk Research - Literature Review and External Sources 2	5
	3.2.2	Expert Interviews	.6
	3.3	Data Analysis of Expert Interviews 2	7
	3.4	Data Protection and Data Processing2	8
	3.5	Validity and Reliability of Qualitative Research2	8
4	Polit	tical Economic Analysis of Coal in South Kalimantan	0
	4.1	Basic Country Analysis	ი
	411	Indonesia - Basic Country Analysis	0
	4.1.2	South Kalimantan - Basic Provincial Analysis	1
	1 2	Definition of the Coal and Electricity Sector and involved Actors	1
	4.2	Defining the Coal Sector in South Kalimantan	1 1
	4.2.1 1 7 7	Defining the Electricity Sector in South Kalimantan	יד ב
	7.2.2		5

	4.3	Actor Analysis of the Coal Sector	36
	4.4	Intra-Sector Analysis of the Coal Sector	38
	4.4.1	The Role of History	38
	4.4.2	Institutional Changes	39
	4.4	4.2.1 Institutional Changes in the Coal Mining Sector	39
	4.4	4.2.2 Institutional Changes in the Electricity Sector	41
	4.4.3	Processes of Change	41
	4.4	4.3.1 Drivers of Coal Production	41
	4.4	4.3.2 Drivers of a Coal Transition	42
	4.4.4	Structural Features	43
	4.4.5	Power and Interest	44
	4.4.6	Ideologies and Values	46
	4.5	Relations between Actors & Influence on Policymaking	47
5	Dev	elopment of Institutional Interventions	49
	5.1	Results from Literature & Desk Study	49
	5.1.1	Objectives & Determining Entry Points	49
	512	Considerations for Implementing Institutional Interventions	<u>1</u> 9
	513	Interventions on the Embeddedness Level	51
	514	Interventions in the Institutional Environment	53
	5.1.4	1.4.1 International Agreements and Climate Targets	53
	5.	1.4.2 Implementing an Independent Regulator	53
	5.	1.4.2 Implementing stricter Environmental Regulation	54
	5.	1.4.0 Allocation of Mining Permits - Centralization vs Decentralization	54
	515	Interventions on the Governance Level - Compensation schemes	55
	5.1.5	Interventions on the Governance Level - Compensation schemes	55
	5.1.0	1.6.1 Draviding alternative forms for Economic Davidonment	50
	Э. Г	1.6.1 Providing alternative forms for Economic Development	0C
	Э. Г	1.6.2 Market Regulation, Liberalisation, or Privatisation	5/ F0
	Э. Г	1.6.3 Economic measures - Carbon Pricing, Subsidies & Taxes,	58
	5.	1.6.4 Expanding Share of Renewable Energy Sources	01
	5.	1.6.5 Investments in other Lechnological Solutions	64 65
	5.	1.6.6 Rationing, Bans, Moratoria & Plant Closures	65
	5.3	1.6.7 Emergence of New Market Entrants, Actors & Civil Society Engagement	65
	5.1.7	Financing a coal transition	66
	5.1.8	Summary of Proposed Institutional Interventions from Literature	66
	5.2	Results from Expert Interviews	68
6	Disc	ussion	78
	6.1	Implications for Practice	78
	6.2	Implications for Theory and Research	84
	6.3	Reflection on Societal Relevance	85
	6.4	Research Limitations	85
	6.5	Further Research	86
7	Con	clusion	88
	7.1	Answers to the Research Questions	88
	7.1.1	Answer to the first Sub Research Question	88

7.1.2	Answer to the second Sub Research Question	
7.1.3	Answer to the third Sub Research Question	
7.1.4	Answer to the Main Research Question	89
7.2	Outlook	
ReferencesX		
Appendi	x A - Basic Country Analysis Indonesia	XXII
Appendi	x B - Basic Province Analysis - South Kalimantan	XXV
Appendi	x C - Actor Analysis	XXVI
Appendix D - Interview Protocol XXXI		
Appendix E - Interview Consent Form XXXII		

List of Figures

Figure 2-1: Process Diagram of Literature Review7
Figure 2-2: Analytical Framework for Political Economic Analysis, adapted from Moncrieffe and
Luttrell (2005)
Figure 2-3: Williamson's Framework for Institutional Analysis, adapted from Williamson (1998) 18
Figure 4-1: Relationship of Factors influencing Policymaking in Sectors, adapted from Moncrieffe
and Luttrell (2005)
Figure 4-2: Annual production of coal in Mtonnes - Export and domestic use, adapted from Atteridge
et al. (2018)
Figure 4-3: Multi-Level Perspective of the Indonesian Electricity Sector, adapted from Marquardt
(2014)
Figure 4-4: Electricity Generation from different energy sources in Indonesia, adapted from Arinaldo
& Adiatma (2019)
Figure 4-5: Electricity Grid in South Kalimantan (taken from Riva & Vestarchi, 2019; Original
Source: PT PLN Persero, 2019)
Figure 4-6: Relationship between Ministries and Influence on Policymaking, adapted from Ordonez
et al. (2021)
Figure 4-7: Overview of Energy Planning in Indonesia, adapted from: (Maulidia et al., 2019;
Setyowati & Quist, 2022; Schmidt et al., 2013)

List of Tables

Table 1: Keywords for Search Queries on the current state of research	6
Table 2: Overview of the Case Study Design	25
Table 3: Overview of Expert Interviewees	27
Table 4: Actor Analysis of the Political Economy of Coal	37
Table 5: Summary of Proposed Institutional Interventions from Literature	68
Table 6: Summary of Results from Interviews	77

List of Abbreviations

ADB:	Asian Development Bank
CCOWs:	Coal Contracts of Work
CCS:	Carbon Capture and Storage
CCT:	Clean Coal Technologies
CFPP:	Coal-Fired Power Production
CME:	Coordinated Market Economies
CoSEM:	Complex Systems Engineering and Management
DPR:	Dewan Perwakilan Rakyat (engl.: Indonesian parliament)
EBKTE:	(Directorate General for Renewable Energy)
ETS:	Emission Trading Scheme
EU:	European Union
FiT:	Feed-in Tariffs
GDP:	Gross Domestic Product
GHG:	Greenhouse Gas
GHGE:	Greenhouse Gas Emissions
IMF:	International Monetary Fund
IPPs:	Independent Power Producers
KEN:	Kibijakan Energi Nasional (engl.: National Energy Policy)
LCOE:	Levelized Cost of Electricity
LNG:	Liquefied Natural Gas
MEMR:	Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources
MOEF:	Ministry of Environment and Forestry
MoF:	Ministry of Finance
MLP:	Multi-Level Perspective
MW:	Mega Watts
NDC:	Nationally Determined Contributions
NIE:	New Institutional Economics
NWO:	Dutch Research Council
OECD:	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PPAs:	Power Purchase Agreements
RES:	Renewable Energy Sources
RUED:	Regional Energy Plan
RUEN:	National Energy Plan
RUKN:	The National Electricity Plan
RUPTL:	Regional Electricity Plan from PLN
SRQ(s):	Sub Research Question(s)
STS:	Socio-Technical Systems
UNEP:	United Nations Environment Program

1 Introduction

Anthropogenic climate change is partly caused by Greenhouse Gas Emissions (GHGE) into the earth's atmosphere (Fouquet, 2016; WCED, 1987). The energy sector is one of the main contributors to climate change by GHGE from fossil fuels (Climate Analytics, 2019b; IPCC, 2021). In order to reduce global warming caused by the emission of GHGs, the energy system needs to transition from a fossil fuel-based energy production to a low-carbon energy system which is based on renewable energy sources (RES) (Fouquet, 2016). This process is known as the energy transition (Ialnazov & Keeley, 2020). The energy transition from coal as a fossil fuel to alternative, low-carbon energy sources is called a *coal transition* (Diluiso et al., 2021).

The generation of electricity through coal-fired power production (CFPP) is deemed to be the most significant cause of climate change (UNFCCC, 2021). Phasing out-coal production and accelerating the deployment of RES is, therefore, a crucial part of energy transitions for mitigating climate change (Diluiso et al., 2021). Research indicates that CFPP needs to be reduced by 80% by 2030 and phased out by 2040 to meet the 1.5°C target from the Paris Agreement (Climate Analytics, 2019b; Yanguas Parra et al., 2019). However, models indicate that global coal production is expected to exceed the required reduction to meet global climate targets (Yanguas Parra et al., 2021). Further, Maggio and Cacciola (2012) conclude in their study that global coal production is expected to continue to increase and peak around the year 2050-2060.

Predictions estimate that energy consumption will increase especially in developing countries (Ialnazov & Keeley, 2020; UNEP, 2017). The high growth of the energy demand in developing countries is related to factors such as population growth, economic growth, and structural changes in economies towards more energy-intensive industrial sectors (Kalkuhl et al., 2019). Southeast Asia is believed to significantly contribute to the global energy demand in the future, with predictions estimating the primary energy demand and the demand for coal growing significantly (IEA, 2019). Three countries alone, India, Vietnam, and Indonesia, account for over 30% of the world's planned expansion of CFPP (Climate Analytics, 2019b). Yanguas Parra et al. (2019) argue that phasing out coal in Asia is particularly difficult due to its absolute size and the relative share of CFPP and that "policy action in the power sector is particularly critical for the global achievability of the Paris Agreement" (p.21).

Indonesia in Southeast Asia is hereby no exception, and it is believed that the country, with its 270 million citizens spread across Indonesia's 17,000 islands, will be the fourth-largest economy in the world by 2050 (IEA, 2021a). Indonesia has enormous potential for RES, such as solar energy, hydropower, geothermal, wind-, bio-, and ocean energy and the deployment of these sources could be used to meet the steeply increasing energy demand and simultaneously reduce GHGE from fossil fuels (Langer et al., 2021; see also Climate Analytics, 2019b; Yudha et al., 2021). Langer et al. (2021) conclude in their study that the electricity demand of Indonesia could technically be met by 100% of RES. The costs for RES have been dropping significantly, and the Levelized Cost of Electricity (LCOE) from RES is within the range of fossil fuels or even cheaper for some projects (Yanguas Parra et al., 2019). The energy transition of the Indonesian energy system could provide numerous advantages, such as increased access to low-carbon energy sources, increased energy security, reduced environmental degradation, and economic development and employment opportunities in newly emerging industries, such as the renewable energy sector (Climate Analytics, 2019b).

The Indonesian government has recently announced ambitious plans and targets for accelerating its energy transition (IEA, 2021a). The "National Grand Strategy on Energy" (GSEN) aims at securing long-term energy demand, limiting energy imports, achieving 100% electrification across Indonesia,

expanding the use of RES to 23% of the total demand by 2025 and 31% by 2050, and reducing GHGE as part of the Paris Agreement (SETKAB, 2021).

However, Bridle et al. (2018) emphasise that despite these ambitious plans, increases in electricity generation since 2007 have been supplied mainly by coal, and the share of RES has remained at around 12% of total generation, without any significant relative increases. Further, none of the questioned interviewees in their study believes that the 23% target for RES by 2025 will be met (Bridle et al., 2018). In addition, at the COP26 meeting in Glasgow in 2021, Indonesia did not sign clause 3 of the "Global Coal to Clean Power Transition Statement", which declares to cease issuance of new projects for CFPP. Hereby Indonesia stated that: "to reach net-zero by 2060 [...], Indonesia will consider accelerating coal phase-out into the 2040s, conditional on agreeing additional international financial and technical assistance" (UNFCCC, 2021, Section: Statement supported by:). This commitment to increase the use of CFPP in Indonesia is visible in the expansion plans of Indonesia. The Fast-Track Program (FTP) aims to increase coal production, and the 35,000 MW Program1 aims to build 35,000 MW additional capacity for CFPP (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). Yanguas Parra et al. (2019) conclude that some countries and regions like the EU and OECD states need to phase out coal earlier (by 2031) and that Non-OECD countries in Asia, such as Indonesia, need to phase-out coal by 2037 to meet the 1.5°C target. This discrepancy between the announced plans of Indonesia to phase-out coal and the estimated phase-out timeline highlights the need to accelerate the energy transition in Indonesia by phasing-out coal to meet global climate targets.

Why does Indonesia plan on further promoting coal as an energy source, despite the massive impact on climate change from GHGE and despite the announced targets for reducing GHGE by accelerating the energy transition? The increasing production of coal is expected because Indonesia aims to offset the declining global coal demand by increasing domestic demand from CFPP (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019; Atteridge et al., 2018). Reducing coal production in Indonesia is especially difficult due to the heavy reliance of the Indonesian economy on coal (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). In general, the economic dependency of regions on coal is regarded as a huge barrier to phasing out coal (Brauers et al., 2020; Diluiso et al., 2021; Kalkuhl et al., 2019), and countries with large coal resources seem to be more reluctant towards policies fostering decarbonisation (Biber et al., 2017). Furthermore, Indonesia, like many other countries, is facing an *energy trilemma* - the challenge of providing energy security, addressing energy poverty, and mitigating climate change (Gunningham, 2013). In addition, multiple studies have shown that the resistance to the energy transition and the increase of coal production in Indonesia is mainly due to the interests of powerful and influential actors which oppose the phasingout of coal production due to political and economic reasons (Ordonez et al., 2021; see also Atteridge et al., 2018; Bridle et al., 2018). In research conducted by Atteridge et al. (2018), interviewed experts frequently stated that the political elite benefits from coal mining operations either by ownership structures or by receiving financial contributions. The strong link between the coal industry and politics poses a significant challenge for the energy transition (Brown & Spiegel, 2019; Geels, 2014).

The relationship between political and economic systems is studied in the social sciences of *Political Economy* (Wamsley & Zald, 1973; see also Ukar, 2013). Energy transitions in the view of political economy are especially difficult due to power dynamics and conflicts of interest between influential actors (Lamb & Minx, 2020; Moe, 2010). Biber et al. (2017) argue that especially the political economy of coal poses significant barriers to decarbonisation since coal produces the most emissions per unit of energy, and it has historically been the cheapest fuel.

Several external factors could pose a threat to further economic development, which is reliant on coal. Decreasing global coal demand, rapidly declining costs of RES, dampened global investment interest in the coal industry, and international pledges for mitigating climate change may increase the risk of further investing in coal mining and CFPP (Atteridge et al., 2018; Dutu, 2016; Yanguas Parra et al.,

2019). Caldecott et al. (2017) argue that the economic, social, and environmental costs of being unprepared for collapsing coal markets are high and the impacts disruptive. Preparing for energy and coal transitions in advance could reduce social and economic costs (Malahayati & Masui, 2021). Iskander et al. (2021) emphasise that political conflict was caused in East Kalimantan by the negative impacts of mining operations and the neglect of local governments to enforce the rehabilitation of coal mines. The conflict ushered in demonstrations and violence from several groups, such as local communities, NGOs, environmental groups, and associations of farmers and fishers. Protests from villagers against mining practices have also occurred in East and Central Kalimantan (Brown & Spiegel, 2017). This suggests a growing awareness of local communities of the detrimental impact of coal mining operations and highlights the need for the Indonesian government to take these considerations into account. Overall, the above-discussed aspects emphasise the need for governments to consider transitioning away from coal and seeking alternative pathways for economic development.

1.1 Problem Statement

Indonesia is a rapidly developing country with vast potential for RES and has already committed itself to achieving net-zero by 2060. Despite these plans, coal production is increasing in Indonesia, and it is expected that Indonesia will not meet its 23% targets for RES by 2025 (see Bridle et al., 2018). The difficulties of phasing out coal in Indonesia are related to the heavy reliance of the Indonesian economy on coal and the vested interests of powerful actors in the political economy of coal. Energy transitions are complex processes influenced by various external factors and the interaction of different stakeholders with diverging interests (Fouquet, 2016; Marquardt, 2014; Sovacool, 2016). Several external factors could threaten further economic development, which is dependent on coal. Research has shown that the impact of collapsing coal markets on economies and societies can be high and disruptive. Indonesia should prepare in advance for these scenarios, consider alternative pathways for sustainable economic development, and accelerate the energy transition by phasing out coal to ensure future well-being and prosperity.

The Indonesian government has already made steps on their path to an energy transition. The Indonesian Ministry of Research and Technology and the Dutch Research Council (NWO) cooperate in the research project "Regional Development Planning and Ideal Lifestyle of Future Indonesia - By Utilizing Advance Green Energy Technology and Trans/Inter-disciplinary Approaches", which focuses on energy transitions in Bali and Kalimantan (NWO, 2020). This thesis is part of this research project and aims to contribute to enabling part of a regional energy transition in Kalimantan by phasing out coal.

The coal resources and their production in Indonesia are mainly distributed over the four provinces of South Sumatra, Central-, East-, and South Kalimantan. In South Kalimantan, for example, coal has been a significant source of economic development and contributed to 18.8% of the provincial GDP in 2017 (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). The heavy reliance of South Kalimantan on coal and the lack of research having been conducted for this region highlights the necessity to conduct research on the topic of phasing out coal in South Kalimantan. The case selection for this research will be further discussed in Chapter 3.1

The literature review in Chapter 2.1.1 shows that the resistance to an energy transition and the increase of coal production in Indonesia arises mainly due to the interests of powerful and influential actors which oppose the phasing-out of coal production due to political and economic reasons. The coal lobby thereby significantly influences policy making (Jakob et al., 2020; Ordonez et al., 2021; Setyowati & Quist, 2022), the state-owned enterprise PLN seems reluctant towards phasing-out coal and increasing RES (see Atteridge et al., 2018; Bridle et al., 2018; Ialnazov & Kennedy, 2020), and influential politicians seem to have vested interests in the coal sector (see Atteridge et al., 2021; Ordonez et al., 2021).

Based on these insights, the problem that this thesis addresses is the resistance of powerful actors in the political economy of coal in Indonesia towards a coal transition in South Kalimantan. This thesis aims to explore how this problem can be overcome to enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan.

1.2 Research Questions

The literature review on the current state of research dealing with a coal transition and the political economy of coal in Indonesia, which will be presented in Chapter 2.1.1, has shown that research on the political economy of coal in Indonesia already exists. The literature provides numerous causes for the growth of Indonesia's coal mining sector and the expansion of CFPP. Several studies offer policy recommendations for enabling an energy transition in Indonesia (see Burke et al., 2019; Dutu, 2016, Gunningham, 2013, Kennedy, 2018, Maulidia et al., 2019; Setyowati, 2021; Setyowati & Quist, 2022). However, it seems that research has not yet been conducted to identify how a coal transition can be enabled specifically in South Kalimantan. The identification of this research gap is discussed in Chapter 2.3. More specifically, Chapter 2 provides the theoretical background of this thesis by reviewing existing literature on relevant topics. Chapter 2.3. identifies several research gaps based on the literature reviews and provides justifications for the choice of this research topic and scope. In particular, Chapter 2.3 highlights that policies are regarded as the main driving force behind coal transitions (Diluiso et al., 2021; Jewell et al., 2022; Yanguas Parra et al., 2019). Furthermore, Chapter 2.3 discusses the link between policies and *institutions*, whereby institutions are defined as social rules that structure social interactions (Hodgson, 2006). The hypothesis of this thesis is that institutions can influence actors in the political economy of coal to enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan. This hypothesis is further grounded in the theory of New Institutional Economics, as discussed in Chapter 2.2.5.

In summary, this thesis aims to provide suggestions for institutional interventions to phase out coal by firstly analysing the political economy of coal in Indonesia and secondly identifying viable entry points based on the political economic analysis. This thesis focuses on the Indonesian region of South Kalimantan. This choice is further justified in Chapter 2.3 and 3.1. Based on the literature review from Chapter 2.1.1, the following main research question is derived:

How can a coal transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia, be enabled by influencing actors in the Indonesian political economy of coal through institutional interventions?

This main research question will be answered by further Sub Research Questions (SRQ). These SRQs are based on the structure of the analytical framework which will be used for this research, and which is presented in Chapter 2.2.4. The SRQs are as follows:

SRQ1: How do historical and foundational factors influence the political economy of coal in South Kalimantan, Indonesia?

SRQ2: How do relevant actors and institutions influence the political economy of coal in South Kalimantan, Indonesia?

SRQ3: What institutional interventions could influence the political economy of coal to enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia?

The SRQs will provide insights into which institutional interventions, which could enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan, are politically feasible, given the political economy of coal.

1.3 Alignment with Complex Systems Engineering and Management

This research topic aligns well with the aim of a master thesis project from the master's programme Complex Systems Engineering and Management (CoSEM) to design solutions for complex sociotechnical problems, which take technical, institutional, economic, and social aspects into consideration. The research is situated in a socio-technical system, the Indonesian energy system, with a focus on the coal system. A comprehensive system analysis is conducted for this research. The coal system is thereby analysed comprehensively by utilizing an analytical framework for analysing the political economy of sectors. The political economy of coal is analysed by conducting a brief country and provincial analysis, by delineating the coal and electricity sector, by conducting an actor analysis, and by analysing different factors influencing the coal sector, such as relevant institutions, structural features, processes of change, power dynamics and interests, and ideologies and values. The system analysis is followed by the development of institutional interventions which could enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan. The research therefore has a clear design component by designing institutional interventions. The development of institutional interventions is guided by theories and a theoretical framework used in the curriculum of CoSEM. Technical issues are addressed by investigating technical requirements for phasing-out coal from the current electricity system. Furthermore, the topic also covers values from the public and the private sector, taking interests of the private coal sector and the political sector into account to derive politically and socially beneficial solutions. Lastly, insights from systems thinking, which are taught in the master's programme, are integrated into the discussion part and provide CoSEM typical perspectives on the problem under investigation.

1.4 Thesis Outline

The following thesis is structured as follows. The second chapter presents the literature reviews which were conducted for this research and covers the theoretical background. The analytical framework for the political economic analysis and the theoretical framework for the development of institutional interventions are presented. Research gaps are identified and the scope of the research is justified. The third chapter presents the research approach of this thesis and the research methodologies used to answer the research questions.

The fourth chapter presents the political economic analysis of the coal sector in South Kalimantan and Indonesia. These insights are based entirely on a literature review and a desk study. The fifth chapter is dedicated to the development of institutional interventions. Insights from the literature on coal transitions, the political economy of transitions, and context-specific insights regarding the political economy of coal in South Kalimantan and Indonesia are synthesised, and *possible* institutional interventions are presented which could enable a coal transition. Thereafter, results from expert interviews are presented for institutional interventions, which could *be politically feasible* given the political economy of coal.

The sixth chapter discusses the results of the research. Implications for practice are addressed, whereby the presented results from the expert interviews are discussed and synthesised with insights from the preceding political economic analysis. The synthesis is further complemented with insights from systems thinking. Implications for theory and research are further addressed, whereby the scientific contributions of this thesis are highlighted. The societal relevance of this thesis is discussed, research limitations are presented, and suggestions for further research are highlighted. The seventh chapter concludes the research and answers the main research question by firstly answering the SRQs and by secondly synthesising the main results of the research for answering the main research question. Lastly, policy recommendations are presented, and an outlook is provided.

2 Literature Review, Theoretical Background & Research Gaps

This chapter presents insights from two different literature reviews which were conducted for this research and the theoretical background underpinning the research. The theoretical background includes the analytical framework which is used for the political economic analysis of this research. The theoretical background of New Institutional Economics (NIE) is addressed, which serves as the theory guiding the development of institutional interventions. Research gaps are defined based on the reviewed literature, and the choice for the focus of this research is justified. Lastly, the insights from the literature review and the theoretical background are synthesised to identify the appropriate research approach for this research, which will be discussed in Chapter 3.

2.1 Literature Review

This chapter presents two different literature reviews which were conducted for this research. The first literature review aims to analyse the current state of research dealing with coal transitions in Indonesia and South Kalimantan and the political economy of coal in Indonesia. This literature review enabled the identification of research gaps, which are discussed in Chapter 2.3. The second literature review aims to explore historical coal transitions to gain insights into different factors influencing coal transitions. This literature review shall contribute to answering the main research question by providing insights into enabling a coal transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia.

2.1.1 Coal Transition in Indonesia and South Kalimantan

This chapter provides a brief literature review on the political economy of coal in Indonesia in view of phasing-out coal. The literature review was conducted by performing several search requests in the databases 'Scopus' and 'Web of Science' with specific keywords and their combinations. Table 1 exemplary lists several keywords from the main domains 'Energy Transition', 'Political Economy' and 'Indonesia' and the possible search combinations of these keywords.

Key Words regarding Energy or Coal Transition:	
energy transition, coal transition, coal phase-out, coal industry, coal economy	
Key Words regarding Political Economy:	
political economy, power relation, power dynamics, regime resistance, corruption, polic*, politic*	
Key Words regarding Indonesia:	
Indonesia, Kalimantan, South Kalimantan	

Table 1: Keywords for Search Queries on the current state of research

The search query for this search is as follows: ("energy transition" or (coal near/4 transition) or (coal near/3 phase-out) or "coal industry" or "coal economy") and ("political economy" or politic* or polic* or "power relation*" or "power dynamic*" or corruption or "regime resistance") and (Indonesia or "South Kalimantan" or Kalimantan). This search query led to 35 results in the Web of Science Core Collection and 69 results in Scopus. An abstract scan was conducted, and the articles were further filtered based on double results, sources with no or limited relevance, poor language or grammar, and inconsistent results. Furthermore, an internet search for relevant reports on the topic of energy or coal transitions in Indonesia led to eight reports which were further analysed. Lastly, a forward snowballing

approach was used to find additional relevant sources. Figure 2-1 presents an overview of the process for the conducted literature review.



Figure 2-1: Process Diagram of Literature Review

A brief overview of the main insights from literature directly related to coal transitions and the political economy of coal is in Indonesia is given in the following. A detailed analysis of the primary literature is provided in Chapter 4. Further insights from sources which cover coal and energy transitions more broadly are discussed in Chapter 5.1.

Ordonez et al. (2021) conducted expert interviews to investigate the underlying reasons for the contradiction of aiming to reduce GHGE while increasing CFPP and concluded that current energy policies are largely driven by the development ambitions of public infrastructure while appealing to voters for electoral reasons. Further, they conclude that the expected reduction of coal exports may have led to lobbying by the politically highly connected coal industry to support domestic coal consumption by CFPP. This view is shared by various researchers who conclude that the coal mining industry and the powerful state-owned enterprise (SOE) for electricity production Perusahaan Listrik Negara (PLN) are reluctant to increase the share of RES and phasing out CFPP (Atteridge et al., 2018; Bridle et al., 2018; Ialnazov & Kennedy, 2020). Bridle et al. (2018) argue that the final barrier to the energy transition is the unsupportive influence of powerful stakeholders who even oppose the energy transition. Various studies emphasize the strong political ties of the coal mining industry and the influence they have on current energy policy and the increase of coal production in Indonesia (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019; Atteridge et al., 2018; Jakob et al., 2020), in South Kalimantan (Setyowati & Quist, 2022), and for coal transitions in general (Brauers et al., 2020; Diluiso et al., 2021).

The strong economic dependency of South Kalimantan in particular, strongly influences provincial energy planning processes (Setyowati & Quist, 2022). In research conducted by Atteridge et al. (2018),

interviewed experts frequently stated that the political elite benefits from coal mining operations either by ownership structures or by receiving financial contributions for election campaigns. Further factors related to increasing coal production and consumption in Indonesia are socio-economic factors, such as urbanization, rising incomes, and population growth (Kurniawan et al., 2020; Li et al., 2021).

The strong link between the fossil fuel industry and politics, and the economic and political power it possesses, pose significant challenges for energy transitions (Brown & Spiegel, 2019; Geels, 2014). Atteridge et al. (2018) argue that the decentralized allocation of mining permits and the sharing of revenues of mining operations are drivers for domestic coal production. They indicate that the transfer of the licensing authority from a centralized level to the provincial level has led to a rapid increase of mining permits which were allocated to mining companies. They emphasize that local politicians were financially incentivized to allow mining operations since the provinces are highly dependent on rents and revenues from the mining operations (see also Dutu, 2016; Fünfgeld, 2016; Yuliani, 2017).

Yudha et al. (2018) analysed the network of stakeholders in the fossil fuel industry of Indonesia and identified from their relationships that a close collaboration between the central and regional governments is required for developing effective energy policies. Marquardt (2014) emphasizes the importance of collaboration and governance on multiple levels of decision-making, especially for such a decentralized system as Indonesia. He emphasizes the importance of focusing on the process of implementing policies, and he identifies the missing links between different levels of decision-making as a barrier to the energy transition.

2.1.2 Historical Coal Transitions

This chapter presents a literature review on coal transitions. The databased Scopus and Web of Science were searched for scientific contributions in the field. The search query ("coal transition*" or "coal phase-out") was used to find relevant articles. The main insights of this chapter are based on the extensive literature review on historical coal transitions from Diluiso et al. (2021). In addition, highly cited scientific contributions from the mentioned databases were analysed. In total, nine scientific contributions related to coal transitions and coal phase-out were analysed for this literature review. The low number of analysed sources seems justified due to the use of the extensive literature review from Diluiso et al. (2021).

The generation of electricity in CFPP is regarded as the greatest cause of climate change (UNFCCC, 2021), which highlights the need to accelerate the energy transition by phasing-out coal (Diluiso et al., 2021). Diluiso et al. (2021) conducted a systematic literature review of studies on coal transitions and emphasize that a growing literature on the topic is emerging. The authors argue that despite the relevance of the topic, research remains scarce and evidence not easily accessible. This chapter provides a literature review on the topic of coal transitions by discussing the types of coal transitions, barriers, drivers, policy instruments, and potential outcomes.

Literature on coal transitions differentiates between supply-side- (stagnating production) and demandside transitions (declining consumption) (Diluiso et al., 2021; Oei et al., 2020). Diluiso et al. argue that supply-side transitions either occur through economic circumstances, such as increased competition for coal from cheaper alternatives due to privatization or market liberalization, or through environmental regulations reducing mining profitability. Demand-side transitions were historically caused by market dynamics in the electricity sector and disruptive events, such as wars or the collapse of the Soviet Union. Increasing environmental awareness for climate and health-related impacts facilitates demand-driven coal transitions. Furthermore, the authors emphasize that supply- and demand-side transitions need to occur simultaneously in order to reduce coal dependency (Diluiso et al., 2021). Despite the need for coal transitions to mitigate climate change, coal transitions have proven to be challenging (Diluiso et al., 2021). The main barriers regarding coal transitions are discussed in the following. Firstly, coal is in some regions abundantly available, and the extraction and handling of coal are technologically proven, which makes economic utilization attractive (Diluiso et al., 2021; see also Caldecott et al., 2017; Steckel et al., 2020). Secondly, coal plants have long lifetimes, and the investment for construction is capital-intensive (Diluiso et al., 2021; Jewell et al., 2022). Early retirement would make these plants stranded assets (Caldecott et al., 2016). The already existing coal infrastructure and the construction of new coal plants lead to the so-called lock-in effect. Rentier et al. (2019) define the lock-in of the coal industry as a "self-perpetuating inability to change from existing carbon-intensive activities and technologies to less carbon-based activities and technologies in time to prohibit large-scale damage from climate change" (p.620). This technological or infrastructural lock-in (Seto et al., 2016) is seen in related literature as a main barrier to coal transitions (Jewell et al., 2022; Oei et al., 2020; Rentier et al., 2019). Thirdly, regional economies are often dependent on the coal sector, which is often an inherent and deeply rooted part of the regional economic and cultural system (Diluiso et al., 2021). Brauers et al. (2020) hereby emphasize that coal transitions are not just about replacing coal with alternative energy sources, but that the biggest challenge in coal transitions lies within the shift of affected regions to other forms of economic development. The coal transition must therefore be accompanied by region-specific measures for creating alternative employment opportunities (Yanguas Parra et al., 2019). The possibility of job losses from coal transitions poses a significant political barrier (Jewell et al., 2022). Historical coal transitions have been accompanied by significant job losses. For example, in the coal mining sector, the Dutch coal transition between 1965 and 1990 led to 75,000 job losses, the Polish coal transition to 230,000 lost jobs in 9 years, and the coal transition in the UK to 188,000 lost jobs (Caldecott et al., 2017; Gales & Hölsgens, 2017). Coal transitions have also caused social conflicts, involving hunger strikes, violence, and protests in the UK and Spain, and threats of social conflict affecting compensation packages in the Netherlands or Poland (Caldecott et al., 2017). The literature review from Diluiso et al. (2021) highlights that the economic dependency of regions on the coal industry is seen as the most important barrier to coal transitions. Caldecott et al. (2017) argue that "economic regeneration [...] in former mining regions is arguable the most important aspect of any transition strategy" (p.13). This is especially important for coal exporting countries, and coal-dependent regions (Steckel & Jakob, 2022).

Additionally, the coal industry and coal miners' unions are often reluctant to coal transitions and lobby as powerful and influential actors against coal transitions (Brauers et al., 2020; Diluiso et al., 2021; Jakob et al., 2020). Lamb and Minx (2020) indicate that the institutional structure of economies depending on coal can make them prone to corruption while facilitating the emergence of vested interests. Further barriers to coal transitions relate to the lack of climate policies and the existence of policies favouring fossil fuels, such as subsidies or research funds (Diluiso et al., 2021). Skovgaard and van Asselt (2019) argue that the persistence of fossil fuel favouring subsidies and policies stems from their benefit to powerful actors, such as fossil fuel companies and unions, to structural factors of a country, such as socio-political factors or macroeconomic development, and to ideational factors such as norms and beliefs. This situation is described in the literature as an "institutional lock-in", where powerful actors try to maintain or reinforce the status quo by "coordinated efforts to structure institutional rules, norms, and constraints to promote their goals and interests" (Seto et al., 2016, p.433; see also Oei et al., 2020; Rentier et al., 2019). Brauers et al. (2020) argue that coal transitions and related policy outcomes are heavily influenced by different actors, such as coal companies, governments, unions, and NGOs. Institutional lock-ins, which are exacerbated by powerful actors, can be overcome by inducing institutional change and by shifting the lock-in to alternative modes of favouring powerful actors (Seto et al., 2016). Other barriers to coal transitions include the need for substitution of fossil fuels (Jewell et al., 2022), the strong social identity of regions to coal, the lack of educated labour forces in coal mining regions to find alternative employment (Caldecott et al., 2017), and a lack of public debate regarding coal transitions (Diluiso et al., 2021).

The literature on coal transitions provides ample drivers for coal transitions. Firstly, Diluiso et al. (2021) argue, based on their extensive literature review, that policymakers are the main driving force regarding coal transitions (see also Jewell et al., 2022; Yanguas Parra et al., 2019). Jewell et al. (2022) argue that historical fossil fuel phase-outs were "almost always accompanied with strong state policies" (p.6) and that coordinated long-term policies are required to phase-out fossil fuels. Diluiso et al. (2021) emphasize that coal transitions require policy interventions, even when adequate market forces exist. Coal transitions have also been historically driven by technological innovations (Jewell et al., 2022). Hereby access to alternative energies and affordable prices have been the main drivers (Diluiso et al., 2021). Technological innovation is seen as a crucial aspect of transitions (Geels et al., 2017). Yanguas Parra et al. (2019) argue that "[c]oal phase-out policies need to be accompanied by ambitious renewable energy phase-in strategies" (p.23). Climate-, health-, and local environmental concerns have been driving forces. Pressure from interest groups and societies has been either a driver or barrier, depending on the interests (Diluiso et al., 2021). A further driver of coal transitions is seen in the employment potential in the renewable energy sector, especially since manufacturing-related jobs are not geographically bound to certain regions (Jewell et al., 2022). Further drivers are the vulnerability of the coal sector to global policy changes related to air- and soil pollution regulation, possible limitations on import quantities, decreasing global investment interest in CFPP, and overall increased uncertainty regarding the dynamics of the global coal market (Yanguas Parra et al., 2019).

The literature differentiates between different policy instruments for coal transitions. Diluiso et al. (2021) group the main policy instruments for coal transitions in their literature review into two main categories, namely (1) transition- and (2) management policies. Transition policies aim at initiating or accelerating the transition, while management policies aim to manage the transition once it has been initiated and to prepare for future developments. (1) Transition policies consist mostly of regulatory instruments and economic measures. Regulatory instruments include environmental regulations (e.g., air quality regulations), market regulations (e.g. privatization, liberalization, or industrial regulations), regulations regarding rationing, bans, and moratoria (e.g. limiting production or consumption quotas, banning coal, and moratoria on plants or mines), and lastly performance and technology standards (e.g. renewable portfolio- and emission standards). Regulatory measures, and especially environmental regulations, have been identified by Diluiso et al. to be the most prominent policy measures to drive coal transitions. (2) Economic measures include subsidies and taxes (e.g. carbon taxes, emission trading schemes) and *investments* in alternative energy sources or research and development. (2) Management policies deal with the management of the economic and social costs of the coal transition. These can include either *investments* in regeneration, infrastructure, education, research and development, new technologies, or *compensation schemes* for affected stakeholders. Further measures can include the restoration of mining sites and re-naturalization measures for surrounding landscapes (Diluiso et al., 2021).

The literature on policy instruments suggests that there are ample opportunities for interventions. Further, as discussed above, policymakers are regarded as the main driving forces in coal transitions (Diluiso et al., 2021; Jewell et al., 2022). However, case studies on historical coal transitions show that most policies have been implemented after plant and mine closures (*ex post*) and not *ex ante* in anticipation of the closures (Caldecott et al., 2017). Further, the literature suggests that these measures should not be seen in isolation. Oei et al. (2020) emphasize that a key lesson from historical coal transitions is that policy measures should be combined, such as policies addressing unemployment and fostering the development of new energy enterprises, with broader investments in infrastructure, education, and research and development. Kalkuhl et al. (2019) argue similarly that policymakers

should take a holistic view of coal transition in view of overall sustainable development. They emphasize that trade-offs between economic, social, and environmental goals can arise and must be acknowledged. Further, they highlight that this is politically challenging, due to different involved organisations with diverging policy goals and often lacking coordination being responsible for different sectors. Rentier et al. (2019) highlight the difficulties of implementing policies in political systems where markets are to some extent regulated and often owned by governments, so-called "Coordinated Market Economies" (CMEs). The ownership structures of public utilities and the resulting responsibility and accountability issues may make policy decisions susceptible to political influence, which may increase resistance to required coal transition policies. Rentier et al. (2019) hereby emphasize that coal transitions in CMEs "might only be able to phase out coal through consensual agreements that require extensive compensations and side payments in order to compensate for job losses and for writing off sunk assets" (p.630). Compensation could be paid to the different affected actors, such as: coal regions (e.g. through business project support, grants, energy bill subsidies), workers (e.g. through various financial aid, or retirement incentives), and the coal industry (e.g. through government sponsored rehabilitation of coal mines, subsides, or deficiency grants) (Diluiso et al., 2021). The institutional lock-in caused by powerful actors seeking to maintain the status quo for personal interests (Seto et al., 2016) may be overcome by disruptive political, technological, or social changes which could reduce the chance of powerful actors to veto against coal transition policies (Rentier et al., 2019).

Meadowcroft (2011) indicates that the political dimension of transitions, such as the coal transition, heavily influences policies, and that "getting the politics right appears to be a prerequisite to getting the policies right" (p.73). Meadowcroft indicates that this can be done by political engagement for building new coalitions aimed at reforms, changing power dynamics to create novel centres of power, buying off influential lobbies, compensating disadvantaged actors, or isolating extreme incumbents. Meadowcroft also emphasizes that political ideologies heavily influence sustainability transitions.

Several studies emphasize that even though coal transitions might mainly impact regional areas, a multilevel or polycentric governance approach is required to overcome the challenges of coal transitions which takes the national and the regional or local context into account (Diluiso et al., 2021; Marquardt, 2014; Geels et al., 2017). This is especially important since financial resources and expertise is often lacking on subnational levels (Diluiso et al., 2021).

Historical coal transitions documented in the academic literature provide evidence of coal transition outcomes, both positive and negative. Diluiso et al. (2021) provide an overview of possible outcomes. On the one hand, negative outcomes include, inter alia, the crucial and significant impact on the labour market due to job losses in the coal sector, macroeconomic effects (such as reduced GDP on subnational level), production declines and overall economic stagnation. Negative social outcomes can be expected due to decreased quality of life stemming from worsening living conditions. The energy market in general is expected to experience increased electricity prices. The coal sector specifically is expected to experience significant economic impacts, such as bankruptcies, decreased profits, and increased debts. On the other hand, positive outcomes can be expected from technological innovations and a shift of research and development from coal to renewable energy sectors. Health benefits, especially in view of improved air quality, are reported in line with coal transitions (Diluiso et al., 2021; see also Yanguas Parra et al., 2019). Positive economic outcomes from coal transitions can be expected due to an increased diversification of the economy and sectoral expansions in, for example, manufacturing, renewable energy, and tourism, which can lead to the creation of new jobs in those sectors (Diluiso et al., 2021; Jewell et al., 2022). An increased energy security and independence, and an increased access to clean energy can be expected (Yanguas Parra et al., 2019; see also Climate Analytics, 2019b). Furthermore, research indicates that the economic and monetary benefit of limiting climate change by mitigation efforts can outweigh the cost of adaption (Krupnick et al., 2000; Maddison, 1995). Coal transitions could be part of climate change mitigation to reduce future costs.

Lastly, Caldecott et al. (2017) argue that the cost for not being prepared for collapsing global coal markets can be high and the impact disruptive. The changes in the economics of coal mining are felt by companies, regions and workers, through the risk of financial losses, risk of unemployment, and risk of declining economic activity. Analysed case studies have shown that the economic and social cost of not supporting coal transitions can be significantly higher than the cost of the transition from a societal perspective. The authors argue that anticipated and well-planned phase-out efforts could reduce risk to stakeholders and reduce future costs while providing social, environmental, and economic benefits (Caldecott et al., 2017).

2.2 Theoretical Background

This chapter presents the theoretical background of this research by discussing fields of research related to energy transitions and political economy. The analytical framework which will be used for this research is presented, the theory of NIE is discussed, and insights from the study of complex systems are presented.

2.2.1 Energy Transitions

This chapter presents a brief theoretical background on the topic of energy transitions, based on selected scientific contributions on the topic. These scientific contributions were selected from scientific articles used in the curriculum of the master's course CoSEM and from highly cited articles scientific articles from the databases Scopus and Web of Science.

Transitions in general are understood as "processes of structural change" (Meadowcroft, 2009, p.324) in socio-technical systems. Socio-technical systems (STS) are systems that consist of technologies, organisations, markets, infrastructures, and regulations, and deliver societal functions (Geels et al., 2017). Transitions in STS may involve changes in the existing rules, technological transformations, or changes in societal practices (Meadowcroft, 2009). Transition study is a field of study which encompasses several disciplines, such as complex systems theory, governance studies, and social science of technology, to study socio-technical transitions (Avelino & Rotmans, 2009).

The current global energy system is largely based on fossil fuels (IEA, 2021b). The burning of fossil fuels releases CO₂ and other GHG into the atmosphere, which contribute to climate change. The energy sector is one of the main sources of GHGE globally (IPCC, 2021). To limit climate change, the current, largely fossil fuel-based energy system needs to transition to a low-carbon energy system (Fouquet, 2016). This process of changing the energy system from carbon-emitting, non-renewable fossil fuels to a system of low-carbon or carbon-neutral RES is known as the energy transition (Meadowcroft, 2009; see also Ialnazov & Keeley, 2020). Fouquet and Pearson (2012) define an energy transition as the change from an economic system which is dependent on certain energy sources to other energy sources. Meadowcroft (2009) further indicates that an energy transition can also be seen as the process of changing an energy system from a largely centralized system to a decentralized energy system.

Grubler (2012) emphasizes that the need for energy transitions is "widely apparent as current energy systems are simply unsustainable on all accounts of social, economic, and environmental criteria" (p.8). Sovacool (2016) argues that energy transitions not only require technological changes, but also changes in the political and economic structures, and in the behaviour of actors. Sovacool further emphasizes that energy transitions need to occur quickly to mitigate climate change, since otherwise newly created fossil fuel infrastructure could lead to lock-in syndromes. Various researchers highlight problems which relate to the 'lock-in' syndrome (Jewell et al., 2022; Meadowcroft, 2009; Seto et al., 2016). Sovacool

(2016) provides empirical evidence which suggest that energy transitions have varied strongly in their duration. Similarly, Fouquet (2010) suggests that in the United Kingdom it has taken on average 50 years for sector-specific energy transitions to occur since the Industrial Revolution.

The Multi-Level perspective (MLP) is a theoretical framework which aims to provide a perspective on multiple pathways for transitions. Transitions hereby are understood as "outcomes of alignments between developments at multiple levels" (Geels & Schot, 2007, p.399). These levels consist of the socio-technical regimes, the socio-technical landscape, and niche innovations. Transitions in the MLP are defined as "changes from one sociotechnical regime to another" (Geels & Schot, 2007, p.399). The MLP has been expanded by scholars to also incorporate aspects of political economy into the regime level, addressing actors, power distribution, economics, politics, culture, and discourses (Geels, 2014; see also Avelino & Rotmans, 2009; Avelino & Wittmayer, 2016; Sovacool & Brisbois, 2019). In relation to the MLP, Loorbach et al. (2017) further argue that transitions occur on different levels and depend on their context. They emphasize that within the analysis of transitions, attention must be given to the relationships between different levels and the resulting *interscale dynamics*.

Politics also plays an important role in relation to transition theory (Meadowcroft, 2009, 2011). Geels (2014) concludes hereby that regime incumbents, consisting of policymakers and incumbent firms aiming to maintain the status quo, may show resistance to low-carbon transitions and that green innovations might be insufficient for transitions to occur. Geels even argues that "politically inspired regime destabilization may be necessary to create opportunities for the wider diffusion of renewables, which now face uphill struggles against resistant regimes" (Geels, 2014, p.37). Sovacool and Brisbois (2019) conclude similarly in their study on the effects of power in low-carbon transitions that "power relations [are] asymmetrical but (promisingly) unstable" (p.8), suggesting that destabilization of existing power regimes seems possible.

2.2.2 Political Economy

This chapter presents a brief theoretical background on political economy. The term political economy has several different meanings which evolved over time (Weingast & Wittman, 2011; see also Wamsley & Zald, 1973). Weingast & Wittman (2011) argue that the term political economy had contradictory meanings throughout the last century. On the one hand, the term could refer to an area of study which examines the interrelationship between politics and the economy. On the other hand, political economy can be seen as a methodological approach. This thesis adopts the view of political economy as the former, adopting the definition of political economy as "the interrelationship between structure of rule [(politics)] and a system for producing and exchanging goods and services (economy)" (Wamsley & Zald, 1973, p. 64). Political economy falls under the domain of the social sciences and deals with the relationship of political and social organisations with economic processes. In the theoretical economic process, input factors are transformed in the production process into goods and services. The input factors can include natural resources (renewable and non-renewable resources), humans, capital, technology, information, or the environment (Veseth & Balaam, 2022; see also Ukar, 2013). The political economy of nations is influenced by determinants, such as the structure of authorities, power and authority distribution, incentive systems, division of labour, and resource allocation (Wamsley & Zald, 1973)

The political economy of coal in Indonesia can therefore be characterized as the relationship of the coal economy and the Indonesian political and social system. Coal, as a non-renewable natural resource, is either used directly for exports, or transformed in the production process through combustion into electricity via CFPP.

2.2.3 Political Economy of Coal, Transitions, & Decarbonisation

The previous chapter discussed political economy in general, while this chapter presents theoretical background on the political economy in the context of coal, transitions, and decarbonisation. Brown and Spiegel (2019) define the political economy of the coal industry as a "coal complex", which is characterised as a "global assemblage of finance, infrastructure, and expertise that together constitutes the political economy of coal and determines the speed and scale of its extraction, transportation, and eventual combustion" (pp.153-154).

Several studies highlight the importance of political economy in coal transitions (Brown & Spiegel, 2019; Caldecott et al., 2017; Diluiso et al., 2021). Further, several studies emphasise the importance of mapping different actors which are involved in the political economy of energy or coal transitions for political economic analysis (Jakob et al., 2020; see also Bridle et al., 2018; Diluiso et al., 2021; Yudha et al., 2018). Jakob et al. (2020) argue that climate policies are heavily influenced by the interaction of different stakeholders in the political economy of specific sectors and that the political economy needs to be understood to identify entry points for intervention. They further hypothesise that political decisions surrounding climate and energy policies are heavily influenced by specific interests of actors, and do not necessarily aim at improving overall well-being. These interests could be, inter alia, the desire to create employment, to facilitate structural change, lobbying from interest groups, or meeting the demand for affordable energy prices. Further, Jakob and Steckel (2022) conclude in their study on various case studies of the political economy of coal across several countries, that the main objectives which drive coal production and consumption are affordable energy supply, energy security, and climate change mitigation.

Biber et al. (2017) emphasize that previous research on energy policies mostly focused on policies that would be economically efficient given the technical constraints. However, they argue that this focus neglects the more urgent question of which policies would be politically feasible, since "potential economic efficiency of a policy is irrelevant if it is politically infeasible" (p.609). They emphasize that political actors are the final decision-makers regarding the implementation of policies. Geels (2014) argues that the transition towards a low-carbon energy system can be hindered by powerful regime incumbents, who use discursive, instrumental, material, and institutional forms of power. Geels argues that considering those complexities emerging from the political economy of sectors, niche innovations might not be sufficient to accelerate energy transitions and that destabilization of fossil fuel industries might be required for transitions to occur (Geels, 2014). Lamb and Minx (2020) emphasize that the interests of actors in the fossil fuel industry are of vital importance for political economic analysis. They emphasize that these interest groups could utilize significant political measures and financial resources to prevent policies harming their business operations. These measures could include lobbying, altering public discourses around fossil fuels and climate policies, or seizing offices in regulatory government offices (Lamb & Minx, 2020). This resistance can be explained by the distributional effects of climate policies, which impose costs on some actors, while the benefits are mainly enjoyed by others. The costs for energy transitions are mainly beared by the fossil fuel industries (Biber et al., 2017). However, the fossil fuel industry is not the only actor resisting energy transitions. Biber et al. (2017) emphasize that political resistance towards energy transitions is also visible from other actors. Businesses utilizing fossil fuels can profit from their use and production, citizens are employed by the fossil fuel industry for extraction and processing and depend on the industry for their income, and industries can profit from cheap electricity being supplied by fossil fuels (Biber et al., 2017).

The literature suggests various constraints to energy transitions and decarbonisation in view of political economy. These include the dependency of the economy on fossil fuels, the extent of fossil fuel mining or extraction activities, the endowment of the country with natural resources, the potential for RES,

structural features of the industry, the level of corruption, the extent and depth of democratic norms, the public awareness of environmental issues and climate change, and the level of social trust in social and political organisations (Jakob et al., 2020; Lamb & Minx, 2020). Biber et al. (2017) hypothesise that countries with vast fossil fuel resources would be less likely to support energy transition policies, whereas countries with high potential for RES could be more inclined to support energy transition policies. However, they also argue that the lock-in syndrome and the dependency of countries on fossil fuels is a fundamental problem for further decarbonisation.

Regarding the extent of economic dependency of regions on fossil fuels, Diluiso et al. (2021) conclude that, in view of coal transitions, structural change in regions is of major importance for establishing interventions which are feasible within the political economic context. They emphasize that taking the negative effect of mining closures on the labour market into consideration, is of crucial importance for any *just transition* (Diluiso et al., 2021).

2.2.4 Analytical Framework for Political Economic Analysis

This chapter presents an analytical framework which will be used in this research to analyse the political economy of coal in South Kalimantan. This is conducted by firstly presenting several existing frameworks for political economic analysis, and by secondly justifying the choice of a particular framework.

Several different tools, analytical-, and theoretical frameworks have been developed for political economic analysis. An overview of these tools and frameworks is provided by GPPAC (2009). The overview broadly groups the tools into the following three categories. (1) Macro-level country analysis: These tools aid in understanding the political economy of countries and their overall development ambitions. (2) Sector-focused analysis tools and frameworks: These aim to facilitate understanding of the specific sectors, with a focus on different actors, their interest, incentives, and their institutional context within the sector. (3) Problem-focused analysis: These tools focus on a specific problem, and how it can be resolved.

From these tools and frameworks, the sector specific frameworks seem to be the most suitable category for the analysis of the coal sector in this research. Two main frameworks are presented here by the GPPAC. The 'Analytical Framework for Understanding the Political Economy of Sectors and Policy Arenas' and the Framework for 'Addressing Governance in Sector Operations'. Both frameworks aim to generate a comprehensive understanding of different actors and their relationship and are useful for designing sector programmes and support strategies. However, the second framework is mostly focused on the governance of the specific sector, while not focusing extensively on political economy issues. The first framework extends the focus on the sector by also guiding an analysis of the country context, which includes political economic aspects (GPPAC, 2009).

From this overview, the 'Analytical Framework for Understanding the Political Economy of Sectors and Policy Arenas' from Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005) (henceforth called analytical framework) seems to be the most suitable framework, for the following reasons. The analytical framework aids in conducting analyses of the political economy of specific sectors and for analysing the policy arena within those sectors. The authors emphasize that political economic analyses can aid in understanding the relationship between economic processes, political policies, and social institutions. Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005) adopt the definition of institutions as "the standards and rules of operations" (p.8) and emphasize that these can either be formal institutions (rules and procedures) or informal institutions (norms). This view of institutions is closely aligned with view of institutions within New Institutional Economics (NIE), which will be discussed in Chapter 2.2.5.

Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005) emphasize that the framework aims to: (1) facilitate a broad understanding of *local* sector and policy arenas and provide explanations for how and why sectors function within a national context; (2) enable an independent sector analysis, comparative analysis, and the analysis of relations between national and sub-national sectors; and (3) provide explanations for how actors and organisations function within an institutional context and how their interactions affect policies (their creation, implementation, and outcome). They further argue that the analysis can aid in assessing the appropriateness of interventions in the sector (Moncrieffe & Luttrell, 2005).

The framework seems ideally suitable for the analysis of the political economy of coal in Indonesia in view of the above-described issues for the following reasons. Firstly, the sector analysis can aid in understanding the functioning of the coal sector in South Kalimantan. The independent sector analysis can provide sufficient depth of analysis to understand the specifics of the sector. Moreover, the analysis of the relation between the national and sub-national sectors enables an embedded analysis of the sub-national political economy of coal in South Kalimantan within the national context of Indonesia. Thirdly, the literature review has identified that the main barrier to the energy transition in Indonesia is the reluctance of regime incumbents due to their political and economic interests. The focus of the framework on actors and organisations and how they interact within the institutional context can provide a deeper understanding of these interactions and their underlying causes. Lastly, the focus of the analysis for assessing possible interventions is closely aligned with the aim of this research to develop institutional interventions for intervening in the political economy of coal.

The analytical framework is presented in Figure 2-2. The framework is divided into three stages. The first stage offers a broad analysis of the country and its context. Stage 2 aims to facilitate a deep and comprehensive understanding of the organisations, actors, and institutions within the sector. The third and last stage aims to determine points of interventions from the sector analysis.



Figure 2-2: Analytical Framework for Political Economic Analysis, adapted from Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005)

2.2.5 New Institutional Economics & Theoretical Framework

Institutional economics is a stream of economic thought that originally dealt with the role of institutions in economies. In 1975, Oliver Williamson coined the term "New Institutional Economics" (NIE), which was essentially a new school of economics thought surrounding institutional economics. NIE aims to provide explanations of how legal, political, or social institutions influence human behaviour and economic processes (Hodgson, 2001).

The term institutions can be defined differently. This thesis adopts the definition of institutions as "systems of established and prevalent social rules that structure social interactions" (Hodgson, 2006, p. 2). This definition implies that human interactions are influenced by *social rules*. North (1986) similarly defines institutions as "regularities in repetitive interactions among individuals" (p.231). Ostrom (2005) defines institutions as "prescriptions that humans use to organize [...] structured interactions including those within [...] markets, firms, [...] and governments [...]" (p.3). Ostrom states that the actions which individuals can take are influenced by rules which structure a given situation. These social rules exist either in the form of implicit, often unconsciousness knowledge of how to behave in the diversity of interactions which humans encounter, or in the form of explicit, codified rules, such as laws and regulations (Ostrom, 2005).

There are two underlying assumptions for the theory of institutions. The first is the individualistic behavioural assumption which suggests that individuals aim to maximize their own utility. The second assumption is that each individual attributes different values to goods and services and that measuring these multiple attributes is costly. This results in an exchange of goods and services as an exchange of rights between individuals. This results in contracting between individuals and the structuring of these transactions. Institutions hereby structure these interactions between utility maximizing individuals exchanging goods and services in economic processes (North, 1986). Williamson (2000) argues that human actors being involved in transactions are capable of cognition, yet rationally bounded, opportunistic, and capable of conscious foresight. These assumptions are of critical importance for this research. The individualistic utility maximizing nature of individuals interacting in transactions will serve as the theoretical assumption underlying the behaviour of actors in the political economy of coal in Indonesia.

Institutions therefore influence how humans interact in different social interactions. NIE studies these interactions in economic processes. Crucially important in this regard is the fact that NIE applied to politics is synonymous with *Political Economy* (North, 1994). This connection is of vital importance for this research. North (1994) emphasizes that "[politics] significantly shape economic performance because [it] define[s] and enforce[s] [...] economic rules" (p.366). The *economic rules* are institutions which are defined by political processes.

Williamson (2000), who coined the term NIE, developed a theoretical framework for the economics of institutions, henceforth called the Williamson's framework. The Williamson framework, which is depicted in Figure 2-3, consists of four different levels of institutions. According to Williamson, the institutions on the different levels change with different frequencies. The higher levels change with a slower pace, whereas the lower levels can change with a quicker pace. The four levels can be analysed from different perspectives, ranging from social theory, to economics of property rights, positive political theory, transaction cost economics, and neoclassical economics (Williamson, 1998).



Figure 2-3: Williamson's Framework for Institutional Analysis, adapted from Williamson (1998)

The following information is taken from Williamson (2000). The framework consists of four different levels. The first level (L1) deals with informal institutions, such as customs, traditions, norms, and religion. L1 is called the embeddedness level. The institutions on this level usually change at a slow pace, ranging from 100 to 1000 years. Williamson highlights that these institutions strongly influence the structure and working of societies.

The second level (L2), called the institutional environment, deals with formal rules, such as laws, regulations, constitutions, and especially property rights. These institutions are mainly formed by the legislative, judicial, and executive branches of governments and are influenced by the distribution of powers within the different levels of governments. Williamson emphasizes that progressive change on L2 is difficult to implement due to rigid structures in governments, but that certain defining moments can produce the opportunity for sharp breaks and drastic change. Historical moments of this nature included civil wars due to massive discontent, occupations after the second world war, societal breakdowns (e.g., in the Soviet Union), military coups, or financial crises. Nevertheless, these moments occur rarely, and the usual frequency of change lasts from 10 to 100 years.

The third level (L3) concerns itself with institutions of governance, especially the governance of contracts. This level can be analysed through the lens of transaction cost economics. The unit of analysis is a transaction between entities, such as people or organisations, which can be structured by contracts. The frequency of change on this level ranges usually from 1 to 10 years.

The fourth level (L4) deals with neoclassical economics, which deals with resource allocation and employment. The frequency of change is continuous since demand and supply continuously influence prices and quantities of products and services.

The four different levels in the framework directly influence each other. The solid arrows in Figure 2-3 indicate that the higher levels directly influence the lower levels of institutions. Vice versa, the dashed arrows, which connect the lower levels with higher levels of institutions, indicate a feedback loop between the levels. Lower levels can therefore also influence higher levels (Williamson, 2000). The notion of different levels of institutions which influence each other has also been brought forward by Ostrom (2005; 2010).

In summary, the analysis of a given context through the lens of institutions provides explanations on how institutions shape the behaviour of humans. NIE deals with how institutions shape economic processes, and NIE applied to politics is synonymous with Political Economy. Williamson's framework serves as a theoretical framework to identify different levels of institutions and to explain how these influence each other. The second and third level, according to Williamson (2000), are of special importance for many public policy issues. This research will use Williamson's framework to identify different levels of institutions and to explain their relationship and how these interact. This will serve as the foundation to develop institutional interventions to enable a coal transition in Indonesia.

2.2.6 Complex Systems, Systems Thinking & Systems Archetypes

This chapter presents insights from the study of complex systems, systems thinking, and systems archetypes, which will provide further insights for the development of institutional interventions. These insights shall contribute to this research by providing perspectives from the master's course CoSEM for enabling a coal transition in the complex system of the coal sector.

Meadows (2008) defines a system as "an interconnected set of elements that is coherently organised in a way [to achieve a purpose or a function]" (p.11). A system consists of elements, interconnections, and it has a purpose or a function. Many complex systems exist in the physical world, ranging from the Internet, to GPS, to human societies, and to power grids (Arnold & Wade, 2015). Systems thinking is a *way of thinking* for understanding these complex systems (Checkland, 1993). Richmond initially defined systems thinking "as the art and science of making reliable inferences about behaviour by developing an increasingly deep understanding of the underlying structure" (Richmond, 1994, p.6). Arnold and Wade (2015) define systems thinking as a skill set which helps to better understand complex systems and their behaviour, to predict their functioning, and to steer the systems towards a desired outcome. They emphasize that systems thinking involves the following aspects: recognizing interconnections, understanding feedback loops, understanding system structure, identifying nonlinearities in the relationship of elements and their relationship, understanding dynamic behaviour, reducing complexity, and understanding systems at different scales.

The analytical endeavour of systems thinking and viewing the world as complex systems is also adopted by Ostrom (2005) in her studies of institutions. Ostrom argues that, for example, individuals are part of larger structures which are composed of multiple individuals, which are themselves part of larger systems. Ostrom emphasizes that: "What is a whole system at one level is a part of a system at another level" (Ostrom, 2005, p.11). Ostrom (2005) emphasizes that her analytical work, is "a form of "dissecting" complex systems into [subsystems] that are then dissected further" (p.11).

Meadows (2008) emphasizes that in order to change the functioning of systems, leverage points need to be identified. Furthermore, complex systems can be grouped into so called system *archetypes*. These are "common system structures that produce characteristic patterns of behaviour" (Meadows, 2008, p.187; see also Stroh, 2015). The first system archetype which Meadows defines is *Policy Resistance*. This occurs when multiple actors pull the system towards different goals. Any policies affecting the system would draw it further away from the goals of the different actors, thereby producing resistance to the policy. As discussed in Chapter 2.1.1, currently many actors have different interests in coal, with

each actor pulling the system in different directions. Possible policy interventions could further exacerbate the resistance of actors. A solution out of this archetype is to seek out ways to realize the goals of the actors in a mutually satisfactory way (Meadows, 2008).

The second system archetype, according to Meadows, is the *Tragedy of the Commons*. This occurs when a common pool resource, such as coal, is commonly shared and the consumers of the resource benefit from it, but the *cost* of using the resource is shared by everyone. This results in overuse and erosion of the resource until its depletion (Meadows, 2008). This can be clearly seen in the case of coal in South Kalimantan. Even though coal is technically not freely available to everyone because mining requires permits, coal is practically often used as a free resource due to illegal mining. Meadows (2008) argues that possible solutions to the Tragedy of the commons could be: education of the users to understand the consequences of their resource extraction; privatizing the resource; or regulating the access to the resource.

The third and last systems archetype is *Rule Beating*. This occurs when rules, indented to govern the system, are not obeyed by actors (Meadows, 2008). This can be seen in the case of coal in South Kalimantan, where illegal mining and corrupt practices are widespread, as discussed in Chapter 2.1.1. A possible solution to this problem is to design rules in a way that even if actors beat rules, the consequences of the rule beating serve the purpose of the rule (Meadows, 2008).

These insights from systems archetypes will be used in Chapter 6.1 to develop institutional interventions which could enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan.

2.3 Research Gaps and Scope of Research

This chapter identifies research gaps and justifies the choice for the scope of this research. Jakob et al. (2020) argue that climate and energy policies are heavily influenced by the interaction of different actors in the political economy of specific sectors and that the political economy of sectors needs to be understood in order to identify entry points for interventions. Brauers et al. (2020) further emphasise that an analysis of the different actors in coal economies, their influence, relations, and interests, can aid in exploring why a coal regime is maintaining the status quo and why efforts for coal transitions remain ineffective. Research suggests that country-specific analyses are required to develop adequate policy recommendations for phasing-out coal (Caldecott et al., 2017; Carbon Trust, 2021; Yanguas Parra et al., 2019). Biber et al. (2017) highlight the importance of developing policies for countries which might be reluctant towards energy transitions due to their endowment with cheap fossil fuels. Lastly, Diluiso et al. (2021) identified based on their extensive literature review on coal transitions that there is a genal lack of research for developing economies and the Global South and that little is known about the political economy of countries currently investing in coal.

In summary, the research mentioned above on coal transitions and aspects of political economy suggests that the focus of this research on South Kalimantan, Indonesia, seems justified for the following reasons. Firstly, Indonesia is a developing country that relies heavily on coal and plans to further expand coal production and CFFP. Secondly, research has shown that the expanding coal economy is mainly caused by influential actors in the political economy of coal, aiming to benefit from coal operations and who are reluctant towards RES since they could harm their economic and political interests. In addition, the focus on South Kalimantan seems justified due to the lack of scientific contributions in this area and the expected complexity of reducing coal production in this region due to the dependency of South Kalimantan on coal for economic development. Furthermore, since policies and state interventions are regarded as the main driving force behind coal transitions, and the development of policies in coal-dependent countries is vital, focusing on possible policy interventions for enabling the coal transition in Indonesia seems justified.

Policies can be defined as a set of actions, for example, laws, plans or behaviour, adopted and implemented by a government (Bevir, 2021). Based on the theory of NIE (Williamson, 2000; see also North, 1986), this thesis adopts a broader view of policies being part of institutions. NIE studies how institutions influence economic processes (Hodgson, 2001), and more importantly, NIE applied to politics is synonymous with *Political Economy* (North, 1994). North (1994) emphasises that economic performance is shaped and influenced by economic rules (i.e., institutions), which are defined and enforced by political processes. Therefore, the hypothesis of this thesis is that institutions can influence the behaviour of actors in the political economy of coal and possibly enable a coal transition.

The focus on institutions within this research seems justified for the following reasons. The coal sector in South Kalimantan is influenced by the political economy of coal in Indonesia, which could be influenced by institutions. Furthermore, the theoretical link between NIE in relation to the political economy of coal in Indonesia seems to be a research gap. In addition, to the best of the knowledge of the author of this thesis, the Williamson framework seems to have not been used for the analysis of coal transitions before. Due to the resistance of influential actors in the political economy of coal in Indonesia and the need to improve the situation, the phrasing "institutional interventions" seems appropriate, since interventions can be defined as "the action of becoming intentionally involved in a difficult situation, in order to improve it or prevent it from getting worse" (Cambridge Dictionary, n.d).

Lastly, as discussed in Chapter 2.1.2, several studies highlight that even though coal transitions might mainly impact regional areas, a multi-level or polycentric governance approach is required which takes the national and the regional or local context into account (Diluiso et al., 2021; Marquardt, 2014; Geels et al., 2017). This highlights the importance of analysing multiple levels of the political economy of coal in the Indonesian context. Even though the focus of this research lies on the province of South Kalimantan, the broader national context of Indonesia must be taken into consideration to analyse the political economy of coal on multiple levels. Therefore, this thesis addresses aspects which must be viewed from the national perspective, and aspects which are more relevant for the provincial level in South Kalimantan.

2.4 Synthesis of Insights from Chapter 2

Chapter 2 has presented the theoretical background underpinning this research. The literature review on coal transitions has revealed that political economic aspects seem to influence coal transitions significantly. The literature review on coal transitions for Indonesia, and more specifically South Kalimantan, from Chapter 2.1.1, has revealed that the political economy of coal in Indonesia presents a major challenge for phasing-out coal in South Kalimantan. Chapter 2.2.2 and Chapter 2.2.3 presented various important insights from literature on political economy related to this research. The present study aims to combine insights from literature on coal transitions with insights from political economy of coal to analyse how a coal transition in South Kalimantan can be enabled. This analysis requires an in-depth understanding of the political economy of coal in South Kalimantan and Indonesia. The analytical framework from Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005) presented in Chapter 2.2.4 serves as a guideline to conduct this analysis by providing a structure for analysis. Furthermore, Chapter 2.2.5. presented theoretical background on NIE and illustrated how institutions influence economic processes. In addition, emphasize was given on the fact that NIE applied to politics is synonymous with Political Economy. The Williamson framework from NIE (Williamson, 1998) will be used in this research as a theoretical framework to explain how the political economy of coal can be influenced by institutions for enabling a coal transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia. The notion of institutions as enabling coal transitions aligns well with insights from the theoretical background from Chapter 2.1.2, that coal transitions are primarily driven by policies. Policies in this research are defined as being a part of institutions.

This research will therefore use two different frameworks. First, the analytical framework by Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005) will be used for the political economic analysis. Second, the theoretical Williamson framework will be used to discern and develop various entry points for institutional interventions. The two frameworks are used in a consecutive order, whereby the theoretical framework is used in stage 3 of the analytical framework.

3 Research Approach and - Methodology

3.1 Research Approach - Case Study

Yin (1994) indicates that a case study is a research approach which is particularly well-suited for understanding complex social phenomena. Case studies are often employed in research areas, such as policy, political science, organisational, and management studies. The case study allows a holistic analysis of real-life, contemporary events where the researcher has no control over behavioural events (Yin, 1994). A case study is appropriate for exploratory studies for understanding complex, temporal processes that involve multiple participants where the context and experiences of participants are important (Bhattacherjee, 2012). Yin indicates that case studies can be either exploratory, descriptive, or explanatory and that the appropriate research approach depends on the research question. The research questions in case studies often answer *Why*, *How*, and *What* questions (Yin, 1994).

Conducting a case study for this research seems particularly suitable in view of the above-described aspects for the following reasons. Firstly, the coal transition in South Kalimantan is a complex, contemporary phenomenon, over which the researcher has no control. Secondly, the political economy of coal contains a multitude of different actors with diverging interests. The political and economic context plays a vital role in influencing the coal transition. Lastly, the literature review has revealed that research has already been conducted to understand the underlying causes of the current situation (*Why*). However, the literature has not yet adequately addressed *how* this situation can be resolved or *what* interventions would be necessary. This suggests that a case study that explains the underlying causes based on existing literature and explores how the current situation can be resolved by what institutional interventions is particularly well-suited. Therefore, the case study in this research will be foremost *exploratory*, but the exploratory analysis will be enabled by a preceding *explanatory* inquiry.

Bhattacherjee (2012) also distinguishes between interpretative and positivist case research. Interpretative research is a technique where data is collected, systematically synthesised, and analysed to expand on theories or generate new theories. Positivist research is conducted to *test* theories or hypotheses. This research will be of interpretative nature since the collected data will be used to expand on the theory of NIE by applying it to the case.

General Approach to Designing Case Studies

In the following, the research approach for conducting a case study for this research will be elaborated upon, based on the work of Yin (1994). Yin indicates that the following four components are of great importance for conducting case research.

(1) The first and foremost important component is the research question. As already elaborated above, case studies tend to address *why*, *how*, and *what* questions. As discussed in Chapter 1.2, the main research question for this research is: *How can a coal transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia, be enabled by influencing actors in the Indonesian political economy of coal through institutional interventions?*

(2) The second component deals with defining study propositions. Study propositions bring attention to the scope of the study and hint at theoretical issues addressed. The study proposition in this research is that institutions influence actors in the political economy of coal. The theory of institutions guides the further case study and limits its scope.

(3) The unit of analysis defines what the *case* is. The case in this research is the political economy of regional or provincial coal sectors. The political economy contains different actors who interact based

on their interests and are influenced by their context and existing institutions. The justification for the choice of this research has been presented in Chapters 1.1 and 2.3.

(4) This component deals with data collection, linking data to propositions, and defining criteria for interpreting the findings. Data collection in case research can occur through a multitude of sources, such as documentations (e.g., academic articles, reports, or newspaper articles), direct observations, or interviews (Bhattacherjee, 2012). The data collection for this research will be conducted by a literature search in scientific databases for academic articles dealing with the topic of interest, by reviewing relevant reports and newspaper articles on the issues, and by conducting expert interviews. The data collection will be further discussed in Chapter 3.2.

Yin (1994) emphasises that a theoretical or analytical framework can serve as a blueprint for a research design and for guiding data collection and data analysis. The framework can also aid in generalising the results of the case study. The analytical framework from Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005), which was presented in Chapter 2.2.4, will be used for the data analysis in this case study. Furthermore, the theoretical Williamson framework (Williamson, 1998) will be used to structure the development of institutional interventions in this case study's exploratory part.

Case Selection

This section briefly addresses the case selection. Chapter 2.3 already addressed the justification for choosing South Kalimantan for this research. The most important aspects will be discussed in the following. Generally, country-specific analyses are required to develop adequate policy recommendations for phasing-out coal (see Caldecott et al., 2017; Carbon Trust, 2021; Yanguas Parra et al., 2019). Furthermore, developing policies for phasing-out coal is especially important for countries with large endowments with fossil fuels (Biber et al., 2017). In addition, a general lack of research has been identified by Diluiso et al. (2021) for developing economies in the Global South and for the political economy of countries currently investing in coal. These aspects suggest that the focus of this research on South Kalimantan, Indonesia, seems justified since Indonesia is a developing country in the Global South with an endowment of coal and existing plans to further invest in coal. In addition, the political economy of coal in Indonesia seems to be the main cause for the increasing coal production and investment plans, as discussed in Chapter 2.1.1. Lastly, in South Kalimantan, coal has been a significant source of economic development and contributed to 18.8% of the provincial GDP in 2017 (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). The heavy reliance of South Kalimantan on coal and the lack of research conducted for this region highlights the necessity to research the topic of phasing out coal in South Kalimantan.

Case Study Research Design

Yin (1994) distinguishes between four types of case study designs. In the following, the rationale for choosing a specific one will be clarified. The first distinction which can be made is between a singleor a multiple-case study design. A single case design is more suitable for a revelatory and unique or extreme case. Multiple-case research is suitable for testing theories and for establishing the generalizability of cases. In this research, single-case research seems most appropriate since this research aims to generate theories about how institutional interventions can influence the current political economy of coal. The political economy of coal in Indonesia, and more specifically in South Kalimantan, is furthermore a unique case due to its political and economic structure, and the results will be revelatory since there exists a knowledge gap in the field.

The second distinction which can be made, according to Yin (1994), is between a holistic versus embedded case study. An embedded case study design involves multiple units of analysis, whereas a holistic design focus only on one global unit of analysis. This research will focus on several units of

analysis. Units of analysis could include the physical coal and electricity system, the institutional environment, the actors and their interest, their relationship, and their behaviour.

Yin (1994) emphasises that an embedded design can have some disadvantages. The most eminent one is that the researcher could focus too much on one subunit of analysis while neglecting the overarching unit of analysis. This can easily lead to the outcome that the original phenomenon of interest becomes the study's context and not the main inquiry. This pitfall will be dealt with by utilising an analytical framework that divides the case into several units of analysis on different levels that interact with each other. The framework's structure prescribes a systematic inquiry of the separated units of analysis without neglecting the overall relationship among them. This structure will reduce the likelihood of neglecting the overarching unit of analysis in the analytical investigation.

In summary, this case study will be a single case study with an embedded design with multiple units of analysis. The case study will be explanatory in the first stage before shifting its nature towards an exploratory inquiry to answer *how* the coal transition in South Kalimantan can be influenced by *what* institutions. Table 2 provides an overview of the most important components of the case study, according to Yin (1994).

Main Research Question	How can a coal transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia, be enabled by influencing actors in the Indonesian political economy of coal through institutional interventions?
Case Study Design	Single Case Study; Embedded Design, Exploratory; Interpretative.
Proposition	Institutions influence the behaviour of political and economic actors.
Unit of Analysis	The political economy of provincial coal sectors.
Data Collection	Qualitative Desk Research; Expert Interviews.
Analytical Framework	'Analytical Framework for Understanding the Political Economy of Sectors and Policy Arenas' by Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005)
Theoretical Framework	Williamson Framework for Institutional Analysis (Williamson, 1998)

Table 2: Overview of the Case Study Design

3.2 Data Collection

This chapter addresses the means of data collection. Data collection in case research can occur through multiple sources, such as documentations (e.g., academic articles, reports, or newspaper articles), direct observations, or interviews (Bhattacherjee, 2012). The data collection for this research is divided into two stages, namely desk research and expert interviews.

3.2.1 Qualitative Desk Research - Literature Review and External Sources

The first stage of data collection will occur through desk research. The data will be collected from different sources. Firstly, a literature search in scientific databases will be conducted for academic articles dealing with the topic of interest. Secondly, relevant reports and newspaper articles on the issues will be reviewed from the internet.
The main barrier to this research is the lack of understanding of the Indonesian language of the principal investigator of this research. The desk research and the analysis of relevant literature will therefore be focused on English literature. The database search queries will be limited to English or German academic articles. The two most prominent English language newspapers from Indonesia will be analysed, Jakarta Post and Mongabay.

3.2.2 Expert Interviews

The second part of the data collection will be performed by conducting expert interviews. Previous studies have conducted extensive expert interviews on the underlying causes of the current situation in the political economy of coal in Indonesia (see Ordonez et al., 2021). Therefore, the expert interviews for this case study will mostly focus on *how* the situation can be resolved by institutional interventions and not *why* the situation exists. This seems to be a research gap that this thesis intends to fill. However, the expert interviews will also aim to validate data from literature *why* the situation exists. The main part of the expert interviews will be dedicated to exploring *how* a coal transition can be enabled. Insights from the literature on coal transitions will be used to explore which institutional interventions (e.g., policies, market instruments) could enable a coal transition. The literature on possible institutional interventions is presented in Chapter 5.1. The aim of the expert interviews is to explore the political feasibility and expected effectiveness of the proposed interventions from Chapter 5.1. In addition, the expert interviews shall explore whether other interventions or instruments exist, which could enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan. The results of the expert interviews are presented in Chapter 5.2.

Bhattacherjee (2012) indicates that the first aspect of conducting interviews in case studies is to create instruments and protocols to guide the interview process. The questions can either be structured or unstructured or a combination of these. This research will conduct a semi-structured interview process, where open-ended questions are asked. The interview protocol with questions will be developed based on insights from Chapter 5.1. The interview protocol is attached in Appendix D. The questions aim to explore the political feasibility and the expected effectiveness of institutional interventions for the specific case of South Kalimantan. The insights obtained from the expert interviews will then be synthesised with insights from literature to develop recommendations for influencing the political economy of coal by institutional interventions.

Bhattacherjee (2012) emphasises that the second step in conducting interviews is to select interview respondents. He suggests that preferably interview respondents should be selected randomly, but that these should have different backgrounds to provide a variety of different perspectives. Respondents should be selected by assessing their personal involvement with the case under investigation and their ability and willingness to answer the questions. The respondents who will be interviewed for this case study will be carefully selected based on these criteria. Potential candidates could include but are not limited to: authors of scientific articles or reports covering the subject, academics in the field, experts from Think Thanks, policy experts in various companies, or governmental bureaus. Furthermore, the political economic analysis, which is conducted in Chapter 4.3, includes a stakeholder analysis. This stakeholder analysis could reveal further interview candidates who could be interviewed.

In total, 11 experts were interviewed for this research. The experts were selected based on the selection of academic articles and scientific reports on the topic of this thesis. Further, some interviewees were selected based on suggestions from already interviewed experts. The experts have different backgrounds. Table 3 provides an overview of the interviewed experts and their backgrounds.

Stakeholder Cluster	Interviewee / Expert#(e#)	Description	Date of Interview
International Organization	Expert 1 (e1)	Social Development Specialist	09/06/2022
International Think Tank / Research Institute	Expert 2 (e2)	Coal Transition Lead	13/06/2022
	Expert 3 (e3)	Global Sustainable Energy Transitions Specialist	14/06/2022
	Expert 10 (e10)	Energy and Climate Consultant	01/07/2022
	Expert 11 (e11)	Researcher on climate finance	06/07/2022
Indonesian Think Tank / Research Institute	Expert 4 (e4)	Researcher for climate change mitigation and adaptation strategies	16/06/2022
	Expert 5 (e5)	Energy Transformation Specialist	17/06/2022
	Expert 7 (e7)	Researcher on Indonesian coal sector	24/06/2022
	Expert 8 (e8)	Researcher on climate and energy policies	27/06/2022
International University Researcher	Expert 6 (e6)	Researcher on Coal Transitions	22/06/2022
	Expert 9 (e9)	Researcher on Coal Transitions	28/06/2022

Table 3: Overview of Expert Interviewees

3.3 Data Analysis of Expert Interviews

This chapter clarifies how the qualitative data from the expert interviews will be analysed. The following information is taken from Bhattacherjee (2012).

The qualitative data from the expert interviews will be analysed by *open coding*. Hereby text is categorised into codes related to certain concepts, categories (i.e., constructs), and relationships. The aim is to identify certain concepts which emerge throughout the analysed data. The text is analysed, and segments are categorised into codes. The next stage in open coding is to group concepts into higher-order categories. Categories are broader and more generalisable, whereas concepts tend to be context-specific. Categories can aid in generating an understandable "big picture" of the phenomenon. Open coding is especially useful when the researcher continuously identifies new concepts throughout the analysis (Bhattacherjee, 2012).

Open coding seems particularly suitable for the qualitative analysis of the expert interviews for the following reasons. Firstly, the semi-structured interviews will pose the interviewee's questions surrounding possible institutional interventions. These interventions and the interviewees' opinions on the suitability and feasibility of interventions can vary significantly. Open coding allows to categorise the different interventions and group them into concepts. Secondly, since the researcher is not yet aware of all the different interventions that interviewees might suggest, the process of continuously being able to identify new concepts throughout the analysis seems to be particularly useful. Lastly, the research aims to develop a set of institutional interventions and explain their interrelationship through NIE and Williamson's framework.

The different levels of Williamson's framework can aid in grouping the different *concepts*, which are coded into *categories*. The concepts relate to the different institutional interventions, whereas the categories represent the different levels of Williamson's framework (L1-L4). For example, different proposed changes of laws or new regulations can be grouped into concepts, such as environmental regulations or legal changes in the allocation of mining permits, which are categorised into L2 interventions from Williamson's framework. The relationship between the different concepts can then be explained by NIE and the workings of Williamson's framework.

The qualitative analysis will be conducted by using the software ATLAS.ti, Mac (Version 22.1.0). The interviews, which will be held online either in Microsoft Teams or Zoom, will be recorded, if the interviewees give permission, and automatically transcribed by the software. The automatically transcribed interviews will be checked after the interview by listening to the recording and by adjusting any errors in the transcription. The transcribed interviews will then be coded into different concepts and further categorised into the levels of institutions.

3.4 Data Protection and Data Processing

The research, which entails expert interviews with human subjects, was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) from the TU Delft. This chapter addresses the main means for data processing which is being collected throughout this research. The interviewees are further obliged to sign a consent form for participating in this research. The consent form with all relevant data protection and processing information is attached in Appendix E. The main data protection and processing information are summarised in the following.

The collected data consists primarily of qualitative data from expert interviews. The collected data includes interviewees' personal data (name, occupation, organisation, e-mail address), audio recordings of online interviews conducted via Microsoft Teams or Zoom, and anonymised transcripts of the interviews. Personal data will only be collected for purposes related to the thesis and not included in the thesis. The anonymised results from the interviews will be part of this thesis, which will be published in the TU Delft Repository, which is publicly accessible via the internet. The transcripts of the interviews will be completely anonymised and only made available to the supervisor of the thesis within an external appendix and will not be published on the TU Delft Repository or elsewhere. This is conducted to minimise any risk that could arise from the interviewees' re-identification and possible reputation damage. The entire data collected for this research will safely be stored on the personal TU Delft OneDrive of the author of this thesis. The interview audio recording will be deleted one month after the thesis project has been finished.

3.5 Validity and Reliability of Qualitative Research

This chapter discusses the validity and reliability of the qualitative research conducted within this thesis. According to Noble and Smith (2015), the validity of research refers to the integrity of the research methods used and the accuracy to which the methods can reflect the collected data, whereas reliability ensures consistency throughout the analytical procedures and reduction of potential bias influencing the findings. Yin (1994) highlights that the quality of empirical social research can be established by four tests, including construct validity, internal validity, external validity, and reliability. These four tests will be elaborated upon in the following.

Construct validity deals with establishing correct operational measures for the concepts being studied. Yin highlights that construct validity can be established by using *multiple sources of evidence* and by establishing a *chain of evidence*. This will be conducted throughout this research using different sources and by data triangulation. According to Noble and Smith (2015), data triangulation ensures that different perspectives are considered for generating a comprehensive understanding of the problem and of potential interventions. This is conducted throughout the political economic analysis and throughout the data analysis from the qualitative expert interviews. In addition, the validation part of the expert interviews will provide further triangulation with the insights from the literature. Furthermore, the expert interviews will provide further triangulation for the exploratory part, assessing the political feasibility and expected effectiveness of the proposed institutional interventions based on literature.

Internal validity, according to Yin (1994), aims to establish causal relationships between analysed data. However, Yin highlights that is mostly relevant for explanatory case studies. Since this case study is mostly an exploratory case study, threats to internal validity are not critical. However, as discussed in Chapter 3.1, the first part of this case study is partly an explanatory case study, since it aims to explain why the current situation in South Kalimantan exists. Nevertheless, this explanatory part is mostly based on existing literature. The responsible researcher therefore does not intend to make causal relationships between data which is not substantiated. Further, data triangulation will again ensure that claims of causal relationships are substantiated by multiple sources. In addition, the validation part of the expert interviews will provide further data triangulation to some of the causes which have led to the current situation in the coal sector in South Kalimantan, Indonesia.

External validity, according to Yin (1994), refers to the generalizability of the study's findings to other cases. Yin emphasizes that the case studies are often criticised for their lack of generalizability to other cases. This case seems to have some generalizability to other cases. In particular, the findings from this research could be generalized to other coal dependent provinces in Indonesia. Furthermore, the findings could be generalized to some extent to other countries with similar features. However, the case is unique due to, for example, the market structure, the existing institutions, the existing distribution of power and authority, and the extent of vested interests in Indonesia.

Reliability, according to Yin (1994), refers to the repeatability of the findings, where another researcher would arrive at the same results for the case study. One way of ensuring reliability is to document the procedures followed in the case study. This is conducted in this research by documenting the procedure for the literature review and by transcribing the expert interviews (see also Noble & Smith, 2015). However, the interview transcripts and the list of experts will not be publicly available, due to data protection issues discussed in Chapter 3.4. This reduces the reliability of the case study, with ensures reliability to some extent. Furthermore, Noble and Smith (2015) emphasize that ensuring validity and reliability within qualitative research, can be achieved by discussing data elaboratively to ensure that the interviewees' perspectives are comprehensively described. This will be conducted for this research in Chapter 5.2. In addition, biases in data sampling will be acknowledged in Chapter 6.4., and the use of methods is critically reflected. Lastly, the experts interviewed are chosen to represent a diverse background to ensure that different perspectives are taken into account (see Noble & Smith, 2015).

4 Political Economic Analysis of Coal in South Kalimantan

This chapter presents the case study on the political economy of coal in South Kalimantan, Indonesia. The following chapters are structured according to the framework by Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005), which is used for this research.

4.1 Basic Country Analysis

The first stage in the framework involves an analysis of the country, which serves as the context for analysing the specific sector. The country analysis provides insights into how historical legacies, processes of change, and structural features influence actors, the institutional context, and their relationship. Subsequently, the analysis provides insights into how these aspect influences policy-making and - implementation (Moncrieffe & Luttrell, 2005). These relationships between the different concepts are depicted in Figure 4-1.



Figure 4-1: Relationship of Factors influencing Policymaking in Sectors, adapted from Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005)

In the following two subchapters, a brief country and provincial analysis shall provide insights into the above-described factors and their role in South Kalimantan. To understand the role of South Kalimantan, it is important to provide an analysis of Indonesia as well. Chapter 4.1.1. provides a country analysis of Indonesia and Chapter 4.1.2. provides an analysis of the Indonesian province of South Kalimantan.

4.1.1 Indonesia - Basic Country Analysis

This chapter provides a country analysis of Indonesia by addressing such issues as the role of history, institutions, processes of change, structural features, power and interest, and ideologies and values.

The following information is taken from Legge et al. (2022). Indonesia is a country in Southeast Asia located within the Pacific and Indian oceans. Indonesia has much volcanic activity due to its location between three sections of the earth's crust. Indonesia is an archipelago with several larger islands, Borneo (Kalimantan) being one of them. Indonesia is the largest and most populous country in

Southeast Asia and the fourth most populous in the world, with a population of approximately 270 million. Indonesia consists of 17,500 islands, over 7000 of them being uninhabited. The capital of Indonesia is Jakarta, located on the island of Java.

More information regarding the Basic Country Analysis of Indonesia can be found in Appendix A. The information is grouped into: People, Culture, and Society; Economy of Indonesia; Resources and Power; and Government and Political System.

4.1.2 South Kalimantan - Basic Provincial Analysis

An overview of the province of South Kalimantan is provided in Appendix B. In the following, some important data is presented which is relevant for this research.

According to the Global Data Lab (2022), has South Kalimantan a population of approximately 4.14 million, which is about 1.57% of the Indonesian population. Around 40% of the population in South Kalimantan live in urban areas, whereas around 60% live in rural areas. Approximately 97% of the population in South Kalimantan has access to electricity. Around 46% of the population is classified as poor households with an International Wealth Index of below 70. The mean years of education for the population older than 20 years is 8.19 years, with men's education being slightly longer than women's education.

4.2 Definition of the Coal and Electricity Sector and involved Actors

The second stage of the analytical framework focuses on the interaction between actors and institutions and the influence of these interactions on policies (Moncrieffe & Luttrell, 2005). The first part of this stage (2A) aims to delineate the sector of interest. The sector of interest is the coal sector in South Kalimantan. However, the coal sector is also embedded in the electricity system in South Kalimantan since the objective of phasing out coal production will inevitably influence the electricity system, which is heavily reliant on coal. Therefore, both sectors need to be defined. First, the coal sector in South Kalimantan will be defined, and the electricity sector will be defined thereafter.

4.2.1 Defining the Coal Sector in South Kalimantan

The national coal sector of Indonesia influences the provincial coal sector in South Kalimantan. This chapter will therefore define the coal sector in Indonesia, with a particular focus on the coal sector in South Kalimantan.

According to Arinaldo and Adiatma (2019), Indonesia has vast coal resources distributed across four provinces: South Sumatra, East-, Central-, and South Kalimantan. The coal reserves in East Kalimantan have medium-quality coal resources, while South Sumatra and Central Kalimantan tend to have low-quality coal resources with a lower calorific value. According to data from Rosyid and Adachi (2016), coal reserves in South Kalimantan, in the Barito Basin, amounted to 4772 Million tonnes in 2016, from which 17% were of low calorific value, 66% of medium calorific value, and the remaining 17% of high calorific value. Furthermore, the average operating costs for coal mining have increased from 1998 to 2013, while the average gross profit margin has decreased from 39% to 29%. In addition, their study found that the cost of coal mining will continue to increase and that peak coal production will be reached in 2024 (Rosyid & Adachi, 2016).

Indonesia's total coal reserves amount to approximately 99.2 billion tonnes, of which 13.3 billion are classified as proven reserves. Based on the production levels of 2015 of 461 million tonnes per year, the coal reserves are expected to be depleted by 2046 (Budiono & Rizky Ananda, 2017).

Coal extraction provides revenue to the state budget through royalties, taxes, land rent payments, and the sale of coal. In South Kalimantan, coal contributed in 2017 to 18.8% of the provincial GDP (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). In 2010, the mining sector in South Kalimantan employed approximately 2% of the provincial workforce, whereas the agricultural sector employed approximately 51% of the workforce (Down to Earth, 2010). The absolute workforce is, therefore, rather small compared to the mining sector's contribution to the provincial GDP. The mining sector in Indonesia, in general, is of significant importance to the economy in Indonesia and contributed between 2010 and 2015 on average 28% per year to the country's GDP (Yudha et al., 2018).



Figure 4-2: Annual production of coal in Mtonnes - Export and domestic use, adapted from Atteridge et al. (2018)

As shown in Figure 4-2, most of the coal produced in Indonesia is exported, with the share of exports over domestic use increasing significantly since the beginning of the 21st century. However, since 2013, the share of exports has dropped, while domestic demand is steadily increasing.

The export of coal was spurred by increasing coal demand from neighbouring countries, with China and India being the main coal importers (Diluiso et al., 2021). However, the trend of declining exports and increasing domestic use, as seen in Figure 4-2, is indicative of expected future developments, whereby exports are expected to decrease while domestic use is expected to increase due to declining global coal demand (Atteridge et al., 2018).

According to Arinaldo and Adiatma, the heavy dependence of Indonesia on coal is partly due to their growing electricity demand. The Fast-Track Program (FTP) aims to increase coal production, and the 35,000 MW Program1 aims to build 35,000 MW additional capacity for CFPP. In 2017, 58,1% of electricity was generated from coal, and its share has increased over the last decade. Most of the capacity of CFPP is thereby owned and operated by PLN. However, the share of electricity generated by coal from Independent Power Producers (IPPs) is steadily increasing (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019).

Another important aspect of the coal sector is transport infrastructure. According to Atteridge et al. (2018), adequate infrastructure for transporting coal is underdeveloped in some areas with coal reserves. In East Kalimantan, coal is typically transported by river barges to ports. Difficulties arise, for example, from the limited capacity of barges, limited port capacities, and limited transport periods depending on the height of water levels. In the dry season, coal is often stored at the mines due to lacking transport

options via rivers. Some ports and barges are owned or operated by large coal companies, while other coal companies negotiate terms for transporting coal via barges and handling it at ports. Several districts have announced plans to construct further ports to generate revenue streams for the districts (Atteridge et al., 2018).

According to Dutu (2016), most of the coal mining is carried out in remote areas with open-cast mines, which increases the risk of environmental damage. Some mining companies are pursuing mining rehabilitation. However, Dutu highlights that most of the environmental damage stems from smaller, illegal mining sites in remote areas and stresses that illegal mining, known in Indonesia as PETI (Penambangan Tanpa Izin: "Mining Without Permits"), is widespread in Kalimantan (Dutu, 2016).

4.2.2 Defining the Electricity Sector in South Kalimantan

The electricity sector in Indonesia is rather centralised due to the dominant role of the state-owned enterprise (SOE) PLN. PLN is responsible for most of the country's electricity production and for the transmission and distribution of electricity. IPPs need to make contracts with PLN to sell electricity to the grid (Marquardt, 2014). A schematic overview of the Indonesian electricity sector is shown in Figure 4-4, adapted from Marquardt (2014). The schematic overview in Figure 4-3 illustrates the dominant role of PLN in the electricity sector.



Figure 4-3: Multi-Level Perspective of the Indonesian Electricity Sector, adapted from Marquardt (2014)

Figure 4-4 shows the share of different energy sources in the Indonesian electricity sector. The data for the Figure is taken from Arinaldo and Adiatma (2019, p.12). Figure 4-4 shows that coal is the dominant energy source for generating electricity in Indonesia. Indonesia uses coal to supply base load power (Gunningham, 2013). Furthermore, the use of coal is expected to increase over the next years. Hydropower and geothermal power play a minor role in Indonesia, but they are expected to play a larger role in the near future. The use of gas for electricity generation is also expected to play a larger role in the coming years. Figure 4-4 also shows the plan of the Indonesian government to become energy independent by reducing energy imports. Furthermore, the overall energy demand is expected to increase, from 316.7 TWh in 2020 to 501.9 TWh by 2027. In addition, Figure 4-4 illustrates that the share of RES in the Indonesian electricity system is marginal.



Figure 4-4: Electricity Generation from different energy sources in Indonesia, adapted from Arinaldo & Adiatma (2019)

Bridle et al. (2018) provide an explanation for the limited generation of electricity from RES in Indonesia. They highlight that technical factors play a role, such as the existence of many different electricity grids across the different islands, the limited capacity of the grids, the intermittent nature of RES, and the limited availability of land near populated areas for the construction of facilities for RES. Indonesia's geographic features thereby pose a challenge for the development of RES, which will require technical solutions, such as the operation of different grids, varying in their size and nature, either being centrally operated or being designed as off-grid solutions. The variety of grids poses a further challenge for the deployment of RES since intermittent electricity supply from RES can be more easily handled in larger grids. This challenge could be overcome by various technological solutions, such as integrating storage facilities, integrating regional grids through expanding the transmission grid, and increasing expertise in grid management (Bridle et al., 2018).

The electricity grid from South Kalimantan is shown in Figure 4-5. The electricity grid in South Kalimantan is interconnected with the grid in Central Kalimantan, whereby Barito is the largest interconnected system in South Kalimantan and Kotabaru is the largest isolated system. Kotabaru is supplied with electricity from local diesel plants with a capacity of around 16 MW in 2019. The electricity grid in South Kalimantan was further connected to the grid from East Kalimantan in 2018 (Riva & Vestarchi, 2019; PT PLN Persero, 2019).

Figure 4-5 shows that the electricity grid in South Kalimantan is mainly located around the capital city of Banjarmasin. The grid also spans along the northern part of South Kalimantan and the southern coastline. The map also shows the mountainous region in the centre of South Kalimantan, where no grid lines are located due to the resulting geographic constraints. However, as discussed in Chapter 4.1.2, around 97% of the population in South Kalimantan has access to electricity. The impact of phasing-out coal on the electricity grid would mainly be felt in regions connected to the large grid. The interconnection to Central- and East Kalimantan could therefore aid in mitigating the impact of intermittent RES, which would have to be increasingly deployed to meet the supply gap resulting from phasing-out coal.



Figure 4-5: Electricity Grid in South Kalimantan (taken from Riva & Vestarchi, 2019; Original Source: PT PLN Persero, 2019)

The following information is taken from Riva and Vestarchi (2019). South Kalimantan also has vast potential for RES, mostly from solar, wind and biomass. South Kalimantan thereby has the second-highest potential for wind energy in Indonesia. A 70 MW wind farm in the region Tanah Laut at the southern tip of South Kalimantan was constructed in 2021. Further wind farms with a capacity of 80-130 MW and a biomass plant with 12.4 MW are planned.

The electricity demand in 2018 amounted to 2597 GWh. The projected demand for South Kalimantan is expected to grow to 5581 GWh by 2028. This increased demand is mainly due to increased mining operations and expanding palm oil plantations. However, other projections expect the demand to grow to 10 TWh by 2030. The average load profile for South Kalimantan suggests that peak demand occurs between 6-7pm with an average peak load of 550 MW.

In 2019, the total installed capacity in the Barito was 460 MW, of which 260 MW came from coal. The only supply from RES came from a hydro plant in Riam Kanan with a capacity of 30 MW. in 2019 and 2020, two coal plants with a capacity of 200 MW each were constructed. A 200 MW gas plant for peak demand was constructed in 2022, and further gas and coal plants are already planned (Riva & Vestarchi, 2019)

In summary, even though some projects for the development of RES are planned, the majority of current and planned capacity comes from CFPP. However, South Kalimantan has vast potential for RES, such as wind and solar, which could be exploited to meet the increasing electricity demand.

4.3 Actor Analysis of the Coal Sector

This chapter aims to identify relevant actors in the political economy of coal as part of the analytical framework from Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005). Identifying relevant actors involved in the coal sector, their influence, their interests, and their relations can aid in explaining why coal regimes persist and why phasing-out coal is met with resistance (Brauers et al., 2020).

Various researchers have conducted an actor analysis of the political economy of coal in Indonesia (see Bridle et al., 2018; Jakob et al., 2020; Yudha et al., 2018). A brief overview of the actors, their influence and interests is provided in Table 4. The information from Table 4 is taken from Bridle et al. (2018), Jakob et al. (2020), Atteridge et al. (2018), and Ordonez et al. (2021). A detailed actor analysis is provided in Appendix C.

As the detailed actor analysis, and especially the analysis of the different ministries, in Appendix C shows, the different involved ministries significantly influence energy planning processes. The ministries' important role and influence on energy planning is depicted in Figure 4-6, adapted from Ordonez et al. (2021).



Figure 4-6: Relationship between Ministries and Influence on Policymaking, adapted from Ordonez et al. (2021)

Figure 4-6 shows that the President influences all ministries through the presidential agenda. The MoF is responsible for the budget for infrastructure and is dependent on coal for royalties and its contribution to the public budget. The MEMR aims to maintain low electricity prices and minimise costs which makes increases in tariffs impossible. The MSOE aims to deliver public infrastructure and sees coal as the least cost option for this pursuit. All three ministries directly influence PLN and its course for extraction and use of coal (see Ordonez et al., 2021). Further relations between the ministries and their influence on policymaking will be further discussed in Chapter 4.5.

Actors	Interest	Influence
Presidency	 Ensure prosperity and domestic growth Maintaining low electricity prices Providing infrastructure developments Ensure energy security and -access 	 Highest influence on policymaking; power to revoke regulations Definition of KEN and approval of RUEN
Parliament	 Diverging interest and views towards coal or RES (some not too supportive of RES) Close connection to coal industry by some members Concerned for effect of increasing electricity prices Limited knowledge of the energy sector by some members 	 Legislative enactment of policies Strong influence on energy policymaking Partly influenced by coal sector
MEMR	 Course of energy policy dependent on minister in charge Development of RES at low costs Coal as domestic resource for ensuring energy security and independence Possibly in favour of opening market for generation by IPPs 	 Regulatory body of energy and mining sector with strong influence Energy planning influenced by PLN
MoF	 Keeping subsides low Reluctant to increase subsidies for RES Concerns over indebtedness of PLN In favour of increased electricity tariffs Interest in coal due to rents and revenues Increase domestic use of coal 	 Management of government budget Determining financial support for energy sector
MSOE	 Develop public infrastructure Expansion of CFPP 	 Shareholder of PLN Strong influence on policymaking
PLN	 Required to return profits to the government Keep operating costs low; dependent on subsidies Resistant towards RES due to expected higher costs Zero emission targets by 2060 Maintain grid stability Risk of CFPP becoming stranded assets 	 Significant influence on energy policymaking Monopoly on transmission Strong negotiation position towards IPPs Heavily regulated electricity tariffs by MoF
Coal Industry	 Cost pressure to return profits Mainly export of coal, but increasing domestic demand Negative or neutral attitude towards RES 	 Contributes to government budget through royalty payments Significant influence on policies Strong connection to responsible regulators
Province: South Kalimantan	 Incentive to extract coal for rents and revenues Dependency on coal sector for economic development Corruption and lack of law enforcement drives coal production 	 Strong influence on coal sector Vertical fragmentation of responsibilities Rather low influence on national policymaking
Communities	 Interest in economic development Fear of unemployment and loss of social identity from coal transition Increasing concerns over environmental damage from coal operations Territorial claims to natural resources from indigenous communities 	Low political influence
Development Partners & NGOs	 Provision of technical and financial assistance Fostering public engagement, raising awareness Supportive of RES and in favour of coal transition 	Low political influence

Table 4: Actor Analysis of the Political Economy of Coal

4.4 Intra-Sector Analysis of the Coal Sector

Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005) emphasise that different factors, such as historical legacies, institutions, processes of change, structural factors, power relations, ideologies and values, influence different sectors within a country. However, these aspects may differ between sectors. This stage (2B) aims to conduct an in-depth intra-sector analysis of these factors within the coal sector. This analysis is crucial for identifying the main barriers in the sector and potential entry points for interventions (Moncrieffe & Luttrell, 2005).

4.4.1 The Role of History

This chapter aims to analyse the role of history in the coal sector. Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005) highlight that historical circumstances can strongly influence institutions, power dynamics, and ideologies within a sector.

Lucarelli (2010) provides a comprehensive overview of the historical developments within the coal sector, which are elaborated upon in the following. Coal extraction in Indonesia began in the 19th century during Dutch colonial times. Coal was primarily extracted on a small scale. During the first part of the 20th century, coal production declined due to cheap oil, global wars, and political concerns over coal. The introduction of Law No. 11/1967 in the 1960s under President Suharto allowed foreign mining investments, spurring mining production in Indonesia. Major production did not start until the 80s and the production volume was still rather low compared to today. The most drastic increase in mining occurred around the turn of the 21st century. Since then, Indonesia has become a global exporter of coal (Lucarelli, 2010).

Lahiri-Dutt (2016) suggests that coal has played a role in establishing a new *postcolonial identity* in India, leading toward *coal nationalism*, which fostered the attitude toward managing the country's natural resources to improve living standards (see also Brown & Spiegel, 2019). The same could apply to Indonesia. Brown and Spiegel (2017) indicate that under the Dutch colonial regime, claims of local communities to natural resources in Kalimantan were extinguished, and the property rights for these resources were handed to the central government with the establishment of licensing authorities for the extraction of the resources. The administrative and fiscal decentralisation process in Indonesia has then granted more power to local authorities, being responsible for issuing mining permits in the coal sector. This has led to corrupt practices in Kalimantan, where politicians and local authorities were given financial contributions for mining rights or financial support for political campaigns (Brown & Spiegel, 2017; see also Atteridge et al., 2018; Fünfgeld, 2016). This has led to the over-licensing of mining permits, resulting in a drastic increase in mining operations across Indonesia (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019; Atteridge et al., 2018). Dutu (2016) highlights that the decentralisation process has resulted in inconsistencies in the regulatory and legal framework between national and sub-national authorities, which were exploited and led to increased illegal mining.

Atteridge et al. (2018) provide an overview of several problems caused by the historical coal production in Indonesia. They indicate that coal mining was accompanied by poor oversight, which has led to conflicts over land management, including issues of deforestation (see also Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019; Susanto, 2017). They further argue that coal mining also has led to violence, social conflict, and displacement of communities. According to interviewees, some coal mining companies hire local armed groups (called ormas), which exert physical violence on opponents of mining activities in East Kalimantan. They further stress that mining, especially illegal mining, has led to *resource sterilisation*, where deeper coal deposits become difficult to mine due to increased inaccessibility from mining operations without an approved mining plan (Atteridge et al., 2018).

In summary, coal has been an important source of economic development and could have led to a form of coal nationalism in Indonesia, as seen in India. There are, however, several negative historical legacies. These seem to result from corrupt practices and illegal mining, which are suggested to have been exacerbated by the decentralisation process in Indonesia.

4.4.2 Institutional Changes

This chapter addresses the main institutional changes in the coal sector. In line with the definition of institutions presented in Chapter 2.2.5, Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005) distinguish between formal institutions, such as rules and procedures, and informal institutions, such as norms. This chapter mainly addresses the formal institutions in the coal sector. Since phasing-out coal will affect the electricity sector, relevant formal institutions in the coal mining sector, whereas Chapter 4.4.2.2. addresses institutions in the electricity sector.

4.4.2.1 Institutional Changes in the Coal Mining Sector

Article 33, paragraph 2 and paragraph 3 of the Indonesian Constitution state that "sectors of production which are important for the country and affect the life of the people shall be under the powers of the State [, and] natural resources within [the country] shall be under the powers of the State and shall be used to the greatest benefit of the people" (Constitute, 2022, p.17). This article lays the foundation for the extraction and use of coal as a natural resource for economic development and for coal to be under the powers of the state.

In the following, further institutional changes in the coal mining sector will be elaborated. According to Atteridge et al. (2018), one main reason for the increased coal production in Indonesia was the change in the regulation of coal mining and coal production. Before 2009, the right for coal mining was issued by Coal Contracts of Work (CCOWs), based on Law No.11/1967. The CCOW were granted to mining companies by the national government. This regulation fostered foreign investments and increased coal production (see also Lucarelli, 2010). In 2009, the introduction of Law No. 4/2009 (henceforth called Mining Law 2009) led to important changes in the regulation of coal mining by changing the regulation from contractual agreements based on CCOWs to a licensing system. The key change concerned the change of responsibility for granting the licenses from the national to the district area. This change was part of Indonesia's decentralisation agenda based on Law No. 22/1999 (Atteridge et al., 2018). The decentralisation of mining permits led to a dramatic increase in coal mining across Indonesia (Faisal, 2015). However, a key change was initiated by revising the Decentralization law (Law. No. 23/2014) in 2014, which transferred the authority for granting mining permits from the district to the provincial level.

Furthermore, Regulation No. 43/2015 regulates the certification of mining permits and ensures that these are issued in accordance with stated requirements. The regulation also requires districts to report to the provincial governments. These evaluate the mining permits in cooperation with the national Post-Mining Reclamation Supervisory Commission and issue "Clean and Clear" certificates for correctly issued mining permits. However, many mining companies that have not acquired Clean and Clear certificates are still in operation (Atteridge et al., 2018). In 2016, up to 61% of mining permits did not have a Clean and Clear Certificate (Yudha et al., 2018).

Atteridge et al. (2018) indicate that the dramatic increase in mining operations is linked to the allocation and distribution of mining revenues. The government in Indonesia receives revenues from coal mining operations through taxes (e.g., income - and value-added taxes) and non-tax sources, such as royalties

and land rent. Royalties are percentual payments based on the gross sales values and can vary between 2% and 7% of the sales revenue. Land rent payments have to be made according to the land area. Law No. 33/2004 and Law no 55/2005 declare that revenues from royalties are shared among central and sub-national governments, such as provinces and districts. Land rent payments, however, are only allocated to districts. Atteridge et al. (2018) argue that districts and local politicians are incentivised to maximise the use of the land area for mining to increase revenues since it is based on land area and not on profit or productivity. Faisal (2015) further emphasises that about 40% of the licenses issued between 2009 and 2011 were issued without the required documents and that mining is often conducted illegally without any licenses.

Further, as Yudha et al. (2018) emphasise, many mining permits are issued without conducting the required Environmental Impact Assessment (EIAs) or having EIAs copied from other documents without considering local contextual data. Furthermore, many of the EIAs are not made public, which exacerbates a lack of transparency for local communities regarding the environmental impacts of mining operations (Yudha et al., 2018). Fünfgeld (2016) further stresses that local communities are rarely given access to information regarding mining operations, despite several regulations addressing this issue. Fünfgeld argues that many practices in the process of mining permits are opaque and that the responsibilities of mining companies which should be followed are neglected. Illegal mining constitutes a major problem in the mining sector. In 2014, a collaboration between the Corruption Eradication Commission and the MEMR was initiated to supervise coal mining activities (Yudha et al., 2018). However, many of the problems the collaboration should address are still existing (Atteridge et al., 2018).

In 2014, a new restriction on the export of coal was introduced in Indonesia, which required mining companies to obtain a certificate from the Ministry of Trade to export coal. This certificate was granted under the condition that mining companies have the Clean and Clear Certificate (Harris, 2014). Atteridge et al. (2018) further highlight that Presidential regulation No. 22/2017 requires the MEMR to pursue certain activities, such as capping coal production and coal exports and issuing moratoria for licenses in certain areas. However, the authors stress that these announcements were not implemented and that it seems unlikely that the regulations will be implemented.

The MEMR has also issued Regulation No. 34/2009, which requires coal mining companies to keep a certain amount of coal for domestic purposes (Domestic Market Obligations). However, Atteridge et al. (2018) stress that this regulation failed to meet its targets since, between 2009 and 2018, on average, only 20% of coal was used domestically. An export tax further incentivises coal mining companies to reduce exports. These regulations aim to increase energy independence and security (Yudha et al., 2018).

Further, the governor of East Kalimantan announced a moratorium on limiting new mining licenses in 2013 and 2015 (Bell, 2015). However, this moratorium was never implemented or codified into regulation (Atteridge et al., 2018; see also Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). The Mining Law 2009 also set annual production caps for coal mining in each province of Indonesia. The provinces then distribute the production caps to individual mining companies. This distribution depends on various factors, such as revenues, royalty payments, tax compliance, safety measures, and environmental and rehabilitation plans (Atteridge et al., 2018).

In general, royalties from coal and other sources of income incentivise the Indonesian government and various involved actors to support coal extraction and use (Jakob & Steckel, 2022). Atteridge et al. (2018) conclude that, even though the Indonesian government has made many announcements, such as moratoria, production caps, or Domestic Market Obligations, these were often not implemented as intended or codified into regulation.

4.4.2.2 Institutional Changes in the Electricity Sector

This chapter addresses man institutions in the electricity sector related to coal. Susanto emphasises that PLN is facing a dilemma concerning the tariffs it can claim for the following reasons. PLN's revenues depend on consumer tariffs and subsidies from the government. The consumer tariffs PLN can claim are highly regulated, adjusted monthly, and depend on factors such as inflation, exchange rates to the US dollar, and oil prices. The MoF regulates the subsidies. These continually decrease and do not cover all the variable costs PLN faces. This means that PLN is facing the difficulty of recovering its costs. This is especially difficult given higher generation costs for RES, which PLN is required to purchase based on decree 12/2017. This dilemma partly explains the slow growth and difficulties within the renewable energy sector in Indonesia (Susanto, 2017).

Before 2017, decree 31/2009 introduced a single feed-in tariff (FiT) for purchasing electricity from RES by PLN. In 2017, The MEMR introduced the new regulation (Decree 12/2017), which requires PLN to purchase renewable electricity from independent power producers (IPPs) and caps the price of electricity from RES at 85% of the local generation cost if the price would be higher than the national average generation cost of PLN. This partly eliminates the dilemma that PLN is facing because PLN can purchase electricity from RES below its average generation costs (Susanto, 2017; see also Atteridge et al., 2018). The FiTs were then abolished in line with Decree 12/2017 (Jakob et al., 2020).

In March 2018, the Ministerial Decree 1395K/30/MEM/2018 was introduced, which imposed a price cap for coal being used for CFPP, which kept costs for CFPP low (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). This step is argued to be a sign of the vulnerability of CFPP in Indonesia (Climate Analytics, 2019a). A further institutional aspect to be considered is the difference in financing costs for coal or renewable energy projects. Coal projects typically have lower interest rates, whereas renewable energy projects can face up to 10% interest rates (Ordonez et al., 2021).

4.4.3 Processes of Change

This chapter addresses relevant processes of change in the coal sector in Indonesia and South Kalimantan. The chapter is divided into two subchapters, addressing the drivers in coal production and the drivers for a coal transition.

4.4.3.1 Drivers of Coal Production

A driver of coal production is Indonesia's goal to increase trade revenue and reduce the trade deficit from the oil and gas trade (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019; see also Syahni, 2018). In 2018, Indonesia exported approximately 80% of its annual coal production (Atteridge et al., 2018). The high share of exports makes the coal market heavily reliant on global market dynamics (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). However, as discussed in Chapter 4.2.1, coal exports are expected to decrease in the future, and Indonesia is planning to offset this reduction by increasing the domestic use of coal. The increase in domestic use shall spur economic growth while increasing energy access in Indonesia (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019).

Ordonez et al. (2021) highlight that interviewees from their study state that the increased use of coal, especially in view of the 35,000 MW Program, resulted from lobbying efforts from the coal industry. Tampubolon et al. (2018) analysed data from PLN and concluded that the coal consumption for CFPP has increased per unit of electricity production by over 44% in the last 15 years. They indicate that this could be the result of the use of lower quality coal (with lower calorific value) or inefficiency increases in CFPP. Arinaldo & Adiatma (2019) stress that this could further increase the use of coal for domestic purposes. They further highlight that Indonesia's coal reserves of high calorific value are declining and

that the newest CFPP are designed for using coal with a calorific value of 4000 kcal/kg (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019).

A further driver in coal extraction and use stems from the government's subsidies towards the coal sector. Coal is being subsidised through tax exemptions, preferential tax rates, beneficial royalty agreements, and loan guarantees (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). Furthermore, the cost of CFPP does not include externalities, the environmental and social costs, which makes it more cost-competitive than RES (Atteridge et al. 2018). As previously discussed, illegal mining constitutes a main problem in Indonesia and South Kalimantan. Dutu (2016) indicates that informal prices for illegally mined coal can be up to 40% lower than market prices, further increasing demand.

4.4.3.2 Drivers of a Coal Transition

Arinaldo and Adiatma (2019) highlight that East Kalimantan underwent several economic transformations and argue that another economic transformation seems inevitable due to depleting coal reserves. They emphasise that South Kalimantan is facing the same challenge and that sustainable development based on RES is needed (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). This chapter addresses several processes of change which act as drivers of a coal transition.

As discussed, PLN holds a strong position in the Indonesian energy system and is rather reluctant to transition to more RES. However, one interviewee in the study conducted by Ordonez et al. (2021) stated that costs are the biggest factor influencing PLN's agenda and that PLN would utilise more RES if the costs were lower. Bridle et al. (2018) highlight that costs for RES are declining gradually and that many actors in Indonesia would support RES at low costs. One main driver for coal transitions is declining RES costs (Atteridge et al., 2018) and storage technologies (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). This is especially relevant from a political economic perspective (Diluiso et al., 2021; Jakob & Steckel, 2022). Arinaldo and Adiatma (2019) argue that electricity from CFPP in Indonesia could be reduced as soon as RES reach grid parity. They stress that by 2030, solar PV and geothermal energy could be cheaper than CFPP and wind energy by 2050. These results do not even include costs for emission or pollution, which could, if imposed, further favour RES. Attwood et al. (2017) indicate that the cost of CFPP could increase significantly when all externalities and the cost of subsidies would be considered. However, Bridle et al. (2018) argue that costs for RES, especially solar, would be significantly higher if storage is included in the calculation and that these costs would have to fall before grid parity can be reached.

Atteridge et al. (2018) provide an overview of the changing economics of coal. Firstly, coal is experiencing a reduced international investment interest from international banks and private investors. A perceived policy instability in Indonesia further reduces investments in coal projects. Secondly, they highlight the cyclical nature of the coal market, with various fluctuations over time due to changing market prices, costs, and investment interest (Atteridge et al., 2018). Market fluctuations affect coal mining companies with small-scale, provincial mining permits the most, which was evident when coal prices decreased between 2013 and 2015 and small-scale mining companies were forced to shut down their business (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). Apriando (2017) indicates that in East Kalimantan, 125 coal mining companies went bankrupt in 2015 due to declining coal prices. The impact of declining coal prices also had a significant impact on South Kalimantan. Yudha et al. (2018) hereby indicate that in 2015, the economic growth rate decreased by 1.01% from the previous year, partly due to declining coal prices. Atteridge et al. (2018) further highlight that lower international demand and resulting lower market prices further influence coal mining profitability. However, the authors also indicate that even though international demand is expected to decrease, regional demand is expected to increase (Atteridge et al., 2018). Yet, the heavy reliance on coal exports could make Indonesia prone to risks from the international market- or policy changes (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). The global expansion of coal is

reaching its limits also due to further developments in shale gas and possible export bans of low calorific value coal (Dutu, 2016).

In general, it is expected that the costs of coal mining will increase. Rosyid and Adachi (2016) show in their model that the average cost for coal extraction, processing, transport, and royalty payments are expected to increase to 100 US\$ by 2040. International oil prices also influence mining profitability since diesel is the largest operating cost (Atteridge et al., 2018). Increasing production costs for coal mining is the main driver for coal transitions from a political economic perspective (Diluiso et al., 2021).

Many illegal coal mining operations have ceased their operations due to the global demand decline (Faisal, 2015). Illegal mining operations or bankrupt coal mining companies sometimes leave behind unclaimed coal mining pits. These abandoned coal mines pose a deadly trap for local communities, and news spread in Indonesia of children drowning in these mine pits (Apriando, 2017). Atteridge et al. (2018) highlight that public discussions revolving around mining rehabilitation are increasing in Indonesia. They emphasise that stricter requirements would increase costs, rendering some operations unprofitable. However, they also argue that the enforcement of stricter regulations seems unlikely due to the vested interests of politicians (Atteridge et al., 2018). In 2016, thick smoke from peat fires to clear land for coal mines spread to neighbouring countries, putting the Indonesian government under pressure to react (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). Air pollution, dust from coal transport along hauling roads, river pollution, soil contamination, and loss of land and forest have led to growing concerns from local villagers in East and Central Kalimantan over coal mining, resulting in various protests in the region (Brown & Spiegel, 2017). Diluiso et al. (2021) argue that from a political economy perspective, increasing environmental concerns are a main driver for coal transitions. As already discussed, the increased risk of resource sterilisation from fragmented coal mining also led the government to temporarily stop coal mining (Atteridge et al., 2018).

4.4.4 Structural Features

This chapter addresses some structural features in the coal sector. Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005) indicate that structural features can aid in understanding how institutions and actors interact. Structural features include demographic patterns and changes, social identities, the level of development, or the distribution of resources (Moncrieffe & Luttrell, 2005).

Ordonez et al. (2021) highlight that one aspect influencing the coal industry's strong position relates to Indonesia's decentralisation process. Interviewees in their study stated that the coal industry is the main source of finance for political campaigns. Politicians on the provincial or district level, who have the authority over issuing coal mining permits, promise favourable treatment in return for campaign financing (Ordonez et al., 2021). The decentralisation process also resulted in subnational governments having more authority over energy policy matters, making congruent policy implementation more difficult (Jakob & Steckel, 2022). Jewell et al. (2022) similarly argue that phasing-out coal seems more difficult in larger, more diverse countries with different geographies and legislative environments. The structural features of Indonesia seem to be a prime example of these conditions.

Biber et al. (2017) further argue that the political structure of states can influence the political economy of decarbonisation. They argue that democracies tend to have incentives to promote feed-in tariffs (FiTs) for RES due to environmental benefits, improving energy access and promoting rural development. This suggests that the democratic political system in Indonesia and policies related to RES and coal could be influenced by the electorate. However, this would also depend on the interest of the population. As discussed previously, South Kalimantan's economy is heavily reliant on coal for economic development and could be against policies promoting to phase-out coal. Social identities in

South Kalimantan related to coal could further be a hindering factor. This is especially relevant considering that only 38% of Indonesians are aware of climate change (Lamb & Minx, 2020).

Another important structural feature to consider is the market structure of the coal and electricity sector. Biber et al. (2017) hereby emphasise that public ownership or heavy regulation can influence decarbonisation efforts. For the electricity sector, PLN, a SOE, is heavily subsidised by the government. As discussed previously, PLN is pressured to produce at low costs, favouring electricity from cheaper CFPP. The Indonesian government is promoting coal extraction as a means for economic development and revenue streams through different channels, such as royalty payments. The structure of PLN, as the grid operator and responsible for energy security, makes reliable CFPP for base load capacity attractive (Jakob & Steckel, 2022). The market structure suggests that phasing-out coal seems difficult. The possibility of restructuring or re-regulating the electricity market will be further discussed in Chapter 5.1.6.2.

Another important structural feature is the endowment of Indonesia and South Kalimantan with natural resources. Yudha et al. (2021) hereby emphasise that even though Indonesia has significant potential for RES, the historical dependency of Indonesia on coal makes it difficult to break out of coal dependency.

Another important structural feature is related to the size of the Indonesian population. Malahayati and Masui (2021) argue that some environmental issues, such as land conversion and deforestation, are inevitable since Indonesia must maintain its agricultural production. The same could be said for the coal and electricity sector, and that coal can aid in ensuring economic development, energy access, and energy security for the vast Indonesian population.

4.4.5 **Power and Interest**

This chapter addresses the role of power and interests in the coal sector in Indonesia. Different forms of power in a sector can significantly influence policymaking (Moncrieffe & Luttrell, 2005).

Ordonez et al. (2021) highlight that several objectives influence energy policies in Indonesia. These include infrastructure development, fiscal sustainability, ensuring market security for the coal industry, and environmental and climate protection. They highlight that several interviewees suggested that the provision of infrastructure is deemed the most important objective for the current governmental administration under President Jokowi. This can be seen in the 35,000 MW Program for the expansion of CFPP. They further highlight that the goal of ensuring fiscal sustainability, including reducing energy subsidies while maintaining low electricity prices, influences policymaking. They highlight that the MEMR ensured that electricity prices should not be raised by PLN during the election period from 2018 to 2019 to avoid popularity losses for Jokowi (Ordonez et al., 2021). Jakob and Steckel (2022) highlight similarly that policymakers fear potential protests or loss of power and popularity when increasing electricity prices. Ordonez et al. (2021) further indicate that the government also aims to maintain low electricity prices to attract investors, drive industrialisation, and ensure competitiveness.

CFPP is thereby seen as the cheapest form for providing electricity. As stated above, securing the market for the coal industry is also one of the main objectives influencing energy policy. Ordonez et al. hereby emphasise that coal contributes significantly to the government's budget through various channels, as also described in Chapter 4.2.1. They highlight that coal is used to drive economic development and that the coal industry significantly influences political processes, especially through the vested interests of influential actors (Ordonez et al., 2021). Jakob et al. (2020) emphasise that the MoF is especially interested in ensuring revenue streams from royalty payments as contributions to the government's budget. Jakob and Steckel (2022) argue that actors often influence energy policies by directly lobbying

or bribery or by using arguments related to potential job losses, regional development issues, or loss of royalty payments. Ialnazov and Keeley (2020) conclude that any incentives to expand the use of RES in Indonesia might be hindered by policy objectives to maintain low electricity prices, ensure reliable electricity supply, and reduce the government's financial burden from subsidies.

Faisal (2015) indicates that local politicians are often incentivised to issue mining licences to generate income streams from royalty payments. At the same time, those mining companies receiving mining licences often have familiar relationships or other close ties to local politicians or other powerful actors. Furthermore, Faisal suggests that coal mining operations and other business activities often serve as the source of financial contributions to political election campaigns (Faisal, 2015; see also Jakob et al., 2020). In return for the funding investment, actors in the coal sector expect to receive compensation in the form of policies favouring their mining operations or by having mining projects approved (Faisal, 2015). An interviewee in a study conducted by Atteridge et al. (2018) stated that a large permit (100-200 ha) could cost - under the table - up to 5 billion IDR (equivalent to approximately 350.000 USD). Atteridge et al. (2018) emphasise that these coal payments are widespread and that "every [political] party benefits financially from an active coal industry" (p.13). Arinaldo and Adiatma (2019) argue that over-licensing coal mining permits is one of the main drivers for increased coal production in Indonesia. They further highlight that the over-licensing of permits has emerged after the decentralisation process, which could indicate corrupt practices at the regional or provincial level.

Atteridge et al. (2018) provide several examples of corrupt behaviour in the Indonesia coal sector, which include: mining permits being *aggressively* offered by district heads in exchange for under-the-table fees; backdating mining licences; potentially existing informal agreements for mining in protected areas between the MOEF and district heads; or financial contributions by mining companies for avoiding obligations for mining site reclamation. They further highlight that since the Corruption Eradication Commission has tackled corruption issues related to mining licences, corrupt practices have shifted towards the transportation sector of coal. Thereby letters of inspection for coal barges are circumvented, payments are made to avoid inspections, or illegal waterways are used (Atteridge et al., 2018). Further forms of corruption in Indonesia and the Indonesian coal sector are provided by Hickman (2010). Fünfgeld (2016) further highlights that some protests against coal mining in Kalimantan were suppressed through physical violence. Fünfgeld (2016) indicates that local activists stated that coal mining companies bribed the police to interfere in the protests and that coal mining companies are even employing private forces to maintain mining operations. The private forces consist of paramilitary groups, often retired or active army members (Fünfgeld, 2016).

Several authors highlight the strong connection between the coal industry and the political actors (see Atteridge et al., 2018; Jakob et al., 2020; Ordonez et al., 2021). Jakob et al. (2020) hereby highlight that the coal industry has lobbied for increasing domestic use of coal in CFPP due to decreasing global demand and exports. They highlight that the coal industry's influence currently exerts the most influence on policymaking. Atteridge et al. (2018) emphasise that the majority of the interviewees from their study stated that it is *common knowledge* that some politicians benefit from coal mining operations or that they are shareholders or owners of companies operating in the coal sector.

In general, ownership structures of mining companies are highly secretive (Apriando, 2017) and vested interests between the economic and political elite in Indonesia related to coal and other natural resources are widespread (Ordonez et al., 2021). Besides the coal industry, PLN also has a substantial influence on energy policies and the trajectory of future coal production, even actively opposing the development and expansion of RES (Atteridge et al., 2018). Atteridge et al. (2018) further argue that provincial governments can gain leverage against the national government by having access to and control of natural resources. For example, in 2012, East Kalimantan requested a larger fuel allocation, which the national government rejected. In response, East Kalimantan blocked the coal supply to Java by river

transport. In the end, an agreement was formed, and the fuel allocation to East Kalimantan was increased (BPH MIGAS, 2012; see also Atteridge et al., 2018).

To summarise this chapter, there exist strong relationships in the political economy of coal between different actors. These actors often use their power, due to their positions, relationships, or financial means, to influence policymaking in their favour. The coal industry has a strong position, but also PLN exerts influence on policymaking. Politicians often have direct interests in the coal sector in various ways. Policy objectives related to maintaining low electricity prices, ensuring reliable electricity supply, developing infrastructure, and reducing fiscal pressure guide policy-making and hinder the further expansion of RES. The interest of powerful actors seems to be the most important factor hindering a coal transition in South Kalimantan and Indonesia more broadly. Chapter 6.1 will address this issue and how a coal transition could be enabled given these inherent interests and power dynamics.

4.4.6 Ideologies and Values

Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005) indicate that the ideologies and values of people can influence their behaviour and that these beliefs differ between sectors. The following will discuss the main ideologies and values in the coal sector.

The Indonesian government frames coal as being a *national development capital*, which has led to some form of resource nationalism (Jakob et al., 2020; Ordonez et al., 2021). Furthermore, coal in Indonesia is being perceived by policymakers as a cheap energy source for providing energy to the country (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019) and for providing infrastructure (Ordonez et al., 2021). Atteridge et al. (2018) further indicate that the Indonesian government highlights the importance of energy independence, or self-sufficiency, for energy security. The government wants to ensure its independence, especially given historical difficulties with the neighbouring energy exporter Australia. The domestic coal supply shall ensure energy security (see also Jakob & Steckel, 2022). In addition, the government emphasises the importance of natural resources for economic and social development and frames coal as a driver for economic growth (Atteridge et al., 2018).

In view of RES, interviewees in the study conducted by Ordonez et al. (2021) indicated that the targets by the Indonesian government for RES are *rather symbolic*. Additionally, Ordonez et al. highlight that climate change mitigation has been mainly framed in Indonesia as a matter of forestry and agricultural issues. They indicate that interviewed representatives from ministries have stated that the energy sector is not seen as a vital concern for climate change mitigation. They further indicate that there is little awareness of the adverse effects of coal mining and related operations within the population (Ordonez et al., 2021). This is in line with the results from Lamb and Minx (2020), which indicate that only 38% of the Indonesian population is aware of climate change. However, Fünfgeld (2019) indicates that public attitudes towards coal mining and CFPP are changing in Indonesia due to the increased efforts of NGOs and civil society movements. However, even though this information is rather outdated, especially given updated energy policies and international climate targets, Gunningham (2013) argues that climate change concerns are subordinate to concerns over addressing energy security and energy poverty.

In summary, a strong political narrative around coal is influencing the coal sector in Indonesia, targets for RES are rather symbolic, and awareness of climate change is limited.

4.5 Relations between Actors & Influence on Policymaking

This stage (2C) aims to identify and analyse the relationship between different actors in the coal sector and to identify their influence on policymaking. The relationship between actors can occur across organisations, within or external to the sector, or between organisations and actors. The analysis aims to establish insights into how these relations influence the behaviour of actors (Moncrieffe & Luttrell, 2005). As already discussed in Chapter 4.4.5., there exist various vested interests in the political economy of coal. For example, coal mining companies are affiliated with companies operating CFPP, politicians are direct shareholders of coal companies (Apriando, 2017; Faisal, 2015), or politicians receive financial contributions for election campaigns from the coal lobby (Atteridge et al., 2018).

The actors hereby influence political actors responsible for policy-making by different means and to a differing extent. This chapter mainly focuses on how policy related to energy and coal in South Kalimantan, and thereby in Indonesia, is influenced by different actors. Setyowati and Quist (2022) highlight that the decentralisation process has influenced the energy planning processes towards a multi-scalar and dynamic state (see also Marquardt, 2014; Maulidia et al., 2019). Setyowati and Quist (2022) thereby provide an overview of the processes related to energy policies in Indonesia. A schematic scheme of this process is depicted in Figure 4-7 (adapted from Maulidia et al., 2019; Setyowati & Quist, 2022; Schmidt et al., 2013).



Figure 4-7: Overview of Energy Planning in Indonesia, adapted from Maulidia et al., 2019; Setyowati & Quist, 2022; Schmidt et al., 2013

According to Setyowati and Quist and Figure 4-7, the most important energy policy is KEN, followed by the National Energy Plan (RUEN). The provincial governments, such as in South Kalimantan, are responsible for implementing the targets from the RUEN through the Regional Energy Plan (RUED). Presidential Regulation 01/2014 thereby mandates that the RUED shall be developed in negotiations with multiple stakeholders, such as district governments, government agencies, universities, and civil society groups. The negotiated terms shall then be implemented through a provincial regulation. As can be seen in Figure 4-7, the local parliament would then be responsible for approving the regulation. The

National Electricity Plan (RUKN) guides electricity generation, transmission, and distribution. PLN is also responsible for translating the RUKN into Regional Electricity Plans for PLN (RUPTL). However, in reality, the intended alignment between the RUED and the RUPTL is often not met by PLN (Setyowati & Quist, 2022).

Especially for the case of South Kalimantan, Setyowati and Quist (2022) highlight that relevant government agencies and PLN mainly conducted the development of RUED. They stress that the provincial governments showed their willingness for more ambitious targets for deploying RES. They also highlight that most of the interviewees from their study had limited knowledge of the processes associated with developing the RUED. As already discussed in Chapter 4.3 and depicted in Figure 4-7, the MoF, MOEM, and the MSOE all directly influence PLN.

Jakob et al. (2020) highlight a lack of cooperation between the ministries with *silo mentalities*. For example, the MOEF is responsible for the climate policies but can mainly implement forestry measures, whereas energy policies are decided in the MEMR (Jakob & Steckel, 2022). Bridle et al. (2018) stress that the MoF sometimes conflicts with the MEMR. For example, the MEMR issued regulations on FiTs without including the MoF. There also exists no obligation for the ministries to cooperate, nor for the Ministry of Economic Affairs to facilitate cooperation (Bridle et al., 2018). As can be seen in Figure 4-7, the Ministry of Economic Affairs should be responsible for coordinating issues between the MoF and the MSOE.

5 Development of Institutional Interventions

This chapter marks the second stage of this research and refers to stage 3 of the analytical framework from Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005), the development of institutional interventions. Chapter 5 is divided into two main parts. The first part, Chapter 5.1, presents results from literature and the conducted desk study for possible institutional interventions for enabling a coal transition. The possible institutional interventions are categorised according to the Williamson framework (see Chapter 5.1.3-5.1.6). Insights on possible institutional interventions are further complemented with insights from political economy and insights regarding the contextual specifics in South Kalimantan and Indonesia from Chapter 4. Chapter 5.2, the second main part of Chapter 5, presents the results from the expert interviews conducted for this research. The results from Chapter 5.1 are synthesised into an interview protocol, as discussed in Chapter 3.2.2. and presented in Appendix D. The interviews are conducted to evaluate the proposed interventions' expected effectiveness and political feasibility from Chapter 5.1.

5.1 Results from Literature & Desk Study

5.1.1 Objectives & Determining Entry Points

This chapter addresses possible points of intervention for enabling a coal transition in South Kalimantan. Before dealing with specific insights on possible interventions, the objectives and the expectations for the interventions need to be clarified, according to the analytical framework for political economic analysis from Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005). This thesis adopts the view of possible interventions in the political economy of coal from Jakob et al. (2020), Biber et al. (2017), and Brauers and Oei (2020). The authors argue that instead of pursuing policy objectives which would be socially optimal, possible interventions should focus on what is politically feasible. Jakob et al. (2020) emphasise that in the political economy of coal Indonesia, the policies which fulfil the objectives of the most powerful actors influencing policymaking are most likely to be pursued. They emphasise that the social optimum can serve as a benchmark but that every ambition for interventions should consider the political reality and the power dynamics influencing policymaking. Ordonez et al. (2021) conclude that the effectiveness of interventions in the energy sector depends on the extent to which the influence of the coal lobby can be reduced or to which extent interventions harm public and private actors with interests in the political economy of coal. Yudha et al. (2018) stress similarly that policies aimed at reforming the fossil fuel industry should be aligned with the interests and needs of affected stakeholders.

In the following subchapter, insights from the literature will be analysed, and possible interventions will be explored under the paradigm of political feasibility. These insights are based on the literature on the energy transition in Indonesia, dealing either with phasing-out coal or the expansion of RES. Further insights from Chapter 2.1.2 on coal transitions and Chapter 2.2.3 on the political economy of transitions and decarbonisation are used as input for this chapter.

5.1.2 Considerations for Implementing Institutional Interventions

Before addressing different possible interventions, this chapter addresses important considerations for implementing institutional interventions in the political economy of coal. These insights shall aid in the further analysis of possible interventions in the following subchapters.

As discussed previously, several authors emphasise the need for a multi-level governance approach in energy transitions. The researchers hereby emphasise the need to involve various actors, also on the local level, at an early stage of planning and that a bottom-up development should be ensured during policy formulation (Setyowati & Quist, 2022; see also Atteridge et al., 2017; Caldecott et al., 2017;

Marquardt, 2014; Oei et al., 2020). In addition, subnational authorities in Indonesia seem to lack awareness of national intentions, and national policy- and decision-makers seem to have insufficient understanding and knowledge of local and regional circumstances (Marquardt, 2014). Setyowati and Quist (2022) analysed the interplay between national and provincial actors in Indonesia for decisionmaking in energy planning and concluded that policymaking at subnational levels is influenced by factors such as political economic factors, power relations, stakeholder engagement, political leadership, and civil society. Further insights from their study will be used in the following chapters to analyse the political feasibility of proposed institutional interventions. Yuliani (2017) further highlights the challenge of the energy transition in Indonesia caused by inconsistent and unclear policies between ministries and different levels of government. Multi-level governance approaches seem especially important for Indonesia due to its decentralisation agenda (Jakob & Steckel, 2022). As already discussed in Chapter 2.3, even though this research focuses on South Kalimantan, multiple levels of analysis and the broader national context of Indonesia must be considered for developing institutional interventions which then impact the province of South Kalimantan. Furthermore, collaboration between countries in South East Asia could help advance energy transitions in regions (Erdiwansyah et al., 2019; Merdekawati et al., 2022).

Caldecott et al. argue that the involvement of affected stakeholders is especially important due to potential political and social conflict which could arise from coal transitions which do not take the considerations of affected actors into account. They emphasise that consensual approaches to coal transitions which involve affected stakeholders, such as companies, workers, unions, communities, and governments, have been generally successful in previous cases. They stress that a central question for coal transitions is how to persuade affected and involved actors about the need for a coal transition and how to motivate them to collaborate on the transition. They argue that one possible way to conduct this is to showcase the high risks to affected actors of not being prepared for collapsing coal markets and to communicate the interdependency of these risks. The authors argue that this could motivate actors to collaborate on strategies for preparing, enabling, and managing coal transitions (Caldecott et al., 2017). Collaboration and participation of affected stakeholders could also increase acceptance of the expected transition (Oei et al., 2020). Biber et al. (2017) further emphasise that the enactment of policies at subnational levels might initiate the adoption of similar policies at national or international levels and that collaboration can foster a process of learning. Setyowati and Quist (2022) further highlight that the participation of the public in decision-making in Indonesia can provide momentum for energy transitions.

Furthermore, and directly related to the political economy of coal in Indonesia, Atteridge et al. (2018) conclude that "[t]he fundamental structures of the system that triggered such rapid growth in coal production over the last decade remain relatively unchanged" (p.25). They stress that corruption is widespread, politicians have vested and financial interests in mining activities, mining management and oversight are weak, and the overarching goal of the Indonesian government is to increase domestic coal demand. Yuliani (2017) similarly highlights the problem of corruption in issuing mining permits. Ordonez et al. (2021) stress that lasting and effective changes in the Indonesian institutional environment can only be achieved in combination with reforms aimed at reducing corruption and increasing the capacity of regulatory agencies to oversee Indonesia's energy and coal sector and its energy policies. In addition, clarifying and reducing the complexity of the regulatory framework around energy and mining policies could increase the attractiveness of the Indonesian energy market to foreign investors (Dutu, 2016).

Lastly, various researchers highlight the need for adaptive management in policy-making, where policies are revised and re-evaluated continuously (see Biber et al., 2017; Caldecott et al., 2017; Gawel et al., 2017). However, due to the limited scope of this thesis and the emerging complexities and

uncertainties from policymaking in the political economy of coal in Indonesia, this thesis focuses primarily on institutional interventions with a short- to medium-time span. Possible long-term adaptions to proposed institutional interventions would have to be further investigated in future research.

The following chapters will address possible institutional interventions proposed from literature and structured according to the levels of the Williamson framework.

5.1.3 Interventions on the Embeddedness Level

This chapter addresses possible interventions on the embeddedness level (L1) of the Williamson framework. These include changes in customs, traditions, and norms. The first aspects that this chapter addresses are the perspectives, customs, traditions, and norms around coal in Indonesia. Firstly, Ordonez et al. (2021) identified that the Indonesian government is framing their expansion of CFFP as part of the overarching goal of providing public infrastructure. They argue that this framing justifies the expansion of CFFP in view of the Indonesian government and might distort the potential impact of coal mining and CFFP (Ordonez et al., 2021).

Furthermore, the Indonesian government seems to justify to use of coal for ensuring energy security and alleviating energy poverty (Gunningham, 2013) and reducing dependency on fluctuations in international commodity markets (Climate Analytics, 2019a). Coal is framed as an abundantly available national capital intended to drive economic growth (Jakob & Steckel, 2022). Affordable energy supply from coal and ensuring energy security, framed as reliable energy supply and import independence, are often the main objectives in the political economy of coal (Jakob & Steckel, 2022). At the same time, RES are mostly considered for off-grid electricity systems but not for large-scale systems providing base load capacity (Marquardt, 2014).

How can changes in the embeddedness level be realised? More specifically, how can the customs, traditions, and norms around coal in Indonesia be influenced to enable the coal transition? From the perspective of NIE and the Williamson framework, L1 is influenced by lower levels of institutions through feedback loops. According to Williamson (2000), formal rules can influence informal ones. Similarly, research on political economy suggests that laws (formal rules) can shape social norms (Biber & Ruhl, 2014).

Further, Biber et al. (2017) emphasise that changes in social norms might be more effective for changing the behaviour of actors and that these changes might even influence the political feasibility of other legal changes for decarbonisation. Jakob et al. (2020) argue on the same line that the demand for climate policies can be increased by changing public attitudes. In general, Meadowcroft (2009) also emphasises that political ideologies heavily influence sustainability transitions.

Changing the framing of the expansion of CFPP as part of infrastructure expansion to the provision of *sustainable* or *green* public infrastructure might aid in enabling the coal transition. Yudha et al. (2021) conclude that the existence of national development plans and targets embedded in an institutional framework is a key enabler for the transition to an energy system largely based on RES. However, this might be challenging since Lamb and Minx (2020) stress that interest groups from fossil fuel industries might influence public discourses revolving around climate action and decarbonisation (see also Brauers & Oei, 2020). Furthermore, in the case of Indonesia, Atteridge et al. (2018) stress that there seems to be no open dialogue revolving around the possibility of declining coal markets and phasing-out coal. Providing information to the public surrounding the social costs of coal use could aid in phasing-out coal (Jakob & Steckel, 2022).

Further, increasing concerns from the public over pollution from coal could aid in changing the perspective of political leaders supporting coal (Bridle et al., 2018), especially when resistance occurs

towards specific projects (Jakob & Steckel, 2022). Resistance to mining projects and coal has already occurred in East Kalimantan (see Brown & Spiegel, 2017; Fünfgeld, 2016). However, public awareness of the impacts of coal mining operations with regard to climate change and local pollution is limited, and concerns are marginally addressed in the media or the political opposition (Ordonez et al., 2021). In Indonesia, only 38% of people seem to be aware of climate change (Lamb & Minx, 2020), and representatives from ministries in Indonesia have confirmed that the energy sector is not even regarded as the main component of climate change mitigation (Ordonez et al., 2021).

Ordonez et al. (2021) stress that the empowerment of affected communities could aid in phasing-out coal and shifting towards more sustainable energy sources. However, affected communities and environmental advocates do not have much political influence (Atteridge et al., 2018). Setyowati and Quist (2022) highlight that the inclusion of the public in decision-making surrounding energy planning could further aid in accelerating energy transitions. They further highlight the importance of political leadership in facilitating Indonesia's energy transition.

Kalkuhl et al. (2019) argue that decision-makers responsible for coal transitions should adopt a more comprehensive view of sustainable development and not focus too narrowly on increasing energy access or the expansion of RES as part of the coal transition. However, they also emphasise that this is politically challenging due to the fragmented responsibilities of ministries and the often existing lack of coordination between ministries (Kalkuhl et al., 2019). At the same time, the coal industry is highly connected to the political system, and coal is being used to fund local politicians, as discussed previously. For the case of Poland, Brauers and Oei (2020) stress that the belief has to change that an affordable and secure energy supply is only possible with coal. From the perspective of political economy, North (1994) argues similarly that the "belief systems must change for successful reform since it is the mental models of [political] actors that will shape choices" (p.366). Hajer (1996) states, in line with this reasoning, that for influencing policy discourses around environmental problems in politics, the "cognitive frames within which problems [...] [are] perceived [have to change]" (p.131).

Maulidia et al. (2019) argue that Indonesia has a rather short-term view on energy policies, which does not take depleting fossil fuel resources into account and neglects long-term environmental benefits and aspects of energy security. Gunningham (2013) also states that changing norms occurs at the national and international levels, which can be driven by international organisations, such as the United Nations Environment Program. Gunningham further stresses that the IEA has done much to change the international energy narrative for changing norms.

Biber et al. (2017) further argue that the perspective of interest groups can be influenced most effectively by shaping the investments these interest groups make. Ordonez et al. (2021) highlight that declining costs for RES could also change the government's perspective on delivering affordable electricity, developing infrastructure, and ensuring environmental protection and climate change mitigation. Caldecott et al. (2017) indicate that in the case of the coal transition in Limburg in the Netherlands, an *unusual* consensus from different actors on the need for a coal transition emerged out of the realisation that a new energy source arrived (natural gas), which fundamentally would change the *rules of the game*. The consensus between the different involved actors, such as unions, companies, and the government, significantly accelerated the coal transition.

In summary, changing the norms, traditions, and customs around coal use in Indonesia seems difficult. External pressure from international organisations like the UNEP or the IEA could foster changes. Furthermore, internal pressure from the public emerging from discontent and social and environmental damages from mining operations leading to conflict could change the perspective of the political system towards coal. This could be strengthened by fostering education and increasing awareness of climate change and the impacts of mining operations. Increased participation of the public in decision-making could be fostered.

Furthermore, research suggests that the social and economic costs of being unprepared for collapsing coal markets are high and disruptive. Atteridge et al. (2018) stress that costs for coal mining are increasing in Indonesia, reserves are being depleted, reserve sterilisation might occur, coal prices are decreasing, and a coal transition in East and South Kalimantan seems inevitable. Early planning and anticipation of coal transitions could provide long-term growth and prosperity if managed and executed correctly. Politicians could use these prospects to justify the coal transition. This is especially important taking the democratic voting system of Indonesia into account. The framing of coal as an abundantly available engine of economic growth and the public discourse surrounding infrastructure provision through CFPP would have to be changed. Lastly, the feasibility of these suggestions remains unclear. In the expert interviews, it will be further analysed whether these proposed changes are feasible.

5.1.4 Interventions in the Institutional Environment

This chapter addresses proposed interventions for formal rules on L2 of the Williamson framework, such as laws and regulations. Several authors emphasise the importance of policies and regulations as key enablers for energy transitions (see Diluiso et al., 2021; Yudha et al., 2021).

5.1.4.1 International Agreements and Climate Targets

External pressure for advancing coal transitions regarding political economy constraints seems necessary (Brauers & Oei, 2020). Jakob and Steckel (2022) hereby argue that countries might be incentivised to adopt climate measures to increase their international reputation and possibly gain additional benefits, such as membership in trading blocks. The international community could also support reforms in Indonesia to address the energy trilemma, providing energy security, addressing energy poverty, and mitigating climate change (Gunningham, 2013).

Vogt-Schilb and Hallegatte (2017) emphasise that intended Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) from the countries which were agreed upon as part of the Paris Agreement need to be implemented in a politically and socially acceptable manner. They highlight that this can be done in view of political economy aspects by designing policies to contribute to objectives not necessarily related to climate targets. They emphasise that this can foster support from different coalitions. The revenues from carbon taxes could, for example, be used for investments in infrastructure or social assistance (Vogt-Schilb & Hallegatte, 2017).

However, implementing climate and environmental policies regarding energy matters in Indonesia seems quite difficult since climate policies are the responsibility of the MOEF, whereas energy policy-related matters are decided by the MEMR (Jakob & Steckel, 2022). The implementation of stricter climate targets for the energy sector seems challenging. Their feasibility will be further explored in the expert interviews.

5.1.4.2 Implementing an Independent Regulator

A further proposed institutional intervention in literature from the political economy of decarbonisation and energy transitions is the implementation of an independent regulator. Biber et al. (2017) hereby emphasise that the role of an independent regulator for decarbonisation depends on the nature of the independence and the support of the regulator for decarbonisation. They emphasise that an independent regulator could facilitate decarbonisation and phasing-out of coal with adequate regulatory powers and authority. On the other hand, they argue that independent regulators could also harm decarbonisation efforts if the regulator is hostile toward decarbonisation (Biber et al., 2017). Lamb and Minx (2020) further emphasise that interest groups from the fossil fuel industry might even 'capture' the regulatory agencies, which could include either bribing or even taking offices and working in favour of fossil fuel industries. An independent regulator could also be tasked with facilitating the permit process and handling subsidies for RES development (Yuliani, 2017).

This raises the question of whether an independent regulator in Indonesia would drive the phasing-out of coal if the implementation of an independent regulator would be politically feasible and how it can be ensured that the regulator remains independent. This will be further explored in the expert interviews.

5.1.4.3 Implementing stricter Environmental Regulation

Diluiso et al. (2021) indicate that environmental regulations, especially regulations aimed at improving air quality, have been a major instrument to enable or accelerate coal transitions. Wehnert et al. (2019) stress the importance of strengthening environmental regulations for a coal transition in Indonesia. Further, Biber et al. (2017) emphasise that green industrial policies provide incentives for investments in renewable energy, which also fosters the emergence of interest groups in favour of decarbonisation and that existing interest groups are incentivised to shift their business models. They further indicate that these policies can lay the political foundation for further implementing more progressive carbon-pricing systems. This raises the question of whether environmental regulations to improve air quality might be implemented in Indonesia and how likely this is. This will be further explored in the expert interviews.

Another important aspect which needs to be considered in connection with environmental regulations and coal transitions is the restoration of coal mining sites. Caldecott et al. (2017) emphasise that in previous coal transitions, mining sites were often not restored, or funding was not provided for the restoration. This can be seen in Indonesia by the problems with the restoration of mining sites and the lack of oversight, as discussed in Chapter 4.4.3.2. Atteridge et al. (2018) stress that mining restorations should be addressed in an early stage of phasing-out coal, while coal companies are still profitable before the restoration could become financially unfeasible. Another proposed measure for environmental protection would be to better control illegal mining activities (Dutu, 2016).

Also, mining permits are often granted without following through with the required Environmental Impact Assessments (EIA), which stems from lacking supervision at regional levels (Yudha et al., 2018). As discussed previously, since land rent payments are based on land area and directly paid to districts, local officials are incentivised to maximise the use of the land area for mining operations. This could be changed to merely receive revenues from the profit or productivity of mining operations. Fighting corruption and the incentivised granting of mining permits could also aid in decreasing the risk of resource sterilisation, as discussed previously. This raises the question of how environmental regulations could be implemented, the restoration of mining sites be ensured, and illegal mining reduced. This will be further explored in the expert interviews.

5.1.4.4 Allocation of Mining Permits - Centralization vs Decentralization

As discussed in Chapter 4.4.21.1, several researchers argue that the decentralised allocation of mining permits as part of the broader decentralisation agenda of the Indonesian government led to the rapid expansion of mining sites. This was because local politicians were financially incentivised to approve mining operations due to the expected rents and revenues, which could generate revenues for the provinces. The decentralisation of mining permits and the subsequent increase of overissued permits could indicate corruption at the regional level and seems to hinder coal transitions (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). In general, the decentralisation process in Indonesia seems to be perceived rather negatively (Marquardt, 2014). Faisal (2015) argues that the government would have to establish accountability and

reinforce their monitoring mechanisms for decentralised permit allocation to reduce corrupt practices in the mining sector.

However, as Setyowati and Quist (2022) indicate, the introduction of Job Creation Law No. 11 in 2020. which shifted more authority for energy governance to the national government agencies, could indicate that the regional and provincial autonomy laws will be reformed. They further stress that reforms for regional autonomy would have to be complemented with clear accountability measures.

This raises several questions. Firstly, would it be better, and if so, politically feasible, to centralise the allocation of mining sites? Secondly, if the allocation of mining permits remains decentralised, how can it be ensured that local politicians are not incentivised to grant more mining permits? Thirdly, how can it be ensured that illegal mining or granting of faulty applications for mining permits are reduced by ensuring accountability or strengthening monitoring mechanisms? These questions will be further explored in the expert interviews.

5.1.5 Interventions on the Governance Level - Compensation schemes

This chapter addresses possible governance interventions from L3 of the Williamson scheme. These include especially contracts between different parties. The main focus of this chapter is the aspect of compensation schemes, which are essentially contracts between affected parties from a coal transition.

As discussed in Chapter 2.1.2, compensation could be paid to different affected groups, such as coal regions, workers, and the coal industry. Rentier et al. (2019) highlight the importance of compensation for affected parties in countries where the coal industry is heavily regulated and owned by the governments. Jakob et al. (2020) argue similarly that compensation schemes could be used to buy in interest groups which would be negatively affected by policies related to phasing-out coal. Ordonez et al. (2021) further stress the importance of compensation schemes given the high investment costs for renewable energy projects in Indonesia. Caldecott et al. (2017) emphasise the importance of compensating affected workers. They stress that this is especially important since unemployment after mining closures from historical coal transition was high. They indicate that redundancy payments payments of several months of usual payment - could be paid to workers in the coal industry. However, they stress that a key lesson from previous coal transitions was that these did not offer adequate support to help workers transition from the coal industry to other forms of work. They provide evidence that workers in coal transitions who received less redundancy payments, but additional support for transitioning to other forms of work (paid training or relocation), were better off in the long-term. However, they also indicate that workers often preferred higher redundancy payments in the Polish coal transition. In addition, Caldecott et al. indicate that relocation packages as part of managed retreat strategies might be suitable for workers in regions which are heavily dependent on coal and where alternative forms of employment are not within commutable distance option. However, they also emphasise that the loss of professional identity combined with the loss of social networks can pose a significant barrier for workers to consider relocation and that little research has been conducted to examine the connected challenges or whether relocation has worked in previous coal transitions (Caldecott et al., 2017).

These considerations highlight the importance of considering compensation for affected stakeholders in South Kalimantan. The expert interviews will further explore the possibility of compensating affected stakeholders from a coal transition in South Kalimantan.

5.1.6 Interventions for Resource Allocation and Employment

This chapter addresses possible institutional interventions L4 from the Williamson framework, which relates to market structures, specifically resource allocation and employment.

5.1.6.1 Providing alternative forms for Economic Development

As discussed in Chapter 2.1.2, the shift of economic development based on coal to alternative means for economic development poses the biggest challenge to coal transitions (Brauers et al., 2020; Diluiso et al., 2021). Coal transitions have been historically accompanied by job losses, which also poses a significant political barrier to coal transitions (Jewell et al., 2022). Diluiso et al. (2021) stress that coal transitions also involve creating new identities for regions which are heavily involved with coal. The provision of alternative forms of economic development, social identity, and employment opportunities need to be addressed by institutional interventions for coal transitions to be successful (see also Brauers & Oei, 2020; Wehnert et al., 2019).

Caldecott et al. (2017) argue that the geographic concentration of mining sites and the relative share of coal in the region's economy are important factors influencing the ability of the region to absorb the economic shock from declining coal operations. They stress that if the distances to other locations of economic opportunity are too far or if these are lacking, managed retreat might be the most realistic option for these regions. These long-term and forward-looking economic restructuring or regional regeneration considerations might involve direct funds to local governments, investments by central governments to regions, or cost exemptions for regions. In the Netherlands, this was conducted, for example, by creating demand for workers in affected regions by moving government offices to regions or creating universities in the regions. Education of the next generation of mining families in affected regions is also an important strategy to foster alternative employment opportunities. Caldecott et al. further emphasise that economic restructuring ideally should occur on multiple dimensions, such as health, environment, transport, and social protection. Transport infrastructure investments are seen as promising since they can create demand for labour, increase connectivity, and are generally supported by different sectors and companies (Caldecott et al., 2017). The renewable energy sector that could emerge from the coal transition could also be viable for future employment opportunities (Oei et al., 2020). Further options could be the production of green hydrogen or fostering the co-development of cost-competitive RES and energy-intensive industries in affected regions (Jakob & Steckel, 2022). Merdekawati et al. (2022) stress that policymakers responsible for the transition of the workforce from coal companies should address the development of relevant skills, protect workers' rights, and ensure inclusive growth.

As discussed in Chapter 5.1.2, various researchers emphasise the need for close collaboration between different governance levels. Arinaldo and Adiatma (2019) stress that building alternative pathways for economic development in Indonesia requires collaboration between ministries, provincial, and district governments. They emphasise that the MEMR, the Ministry of Home Affairs, and the MoF, *at the very least*, would have to collaborate to establish and implement policies to create alternatives for economic development in Indonesia.

In South Kalimantan's case, providing alternative means of development seems crucially important due to its high economic dependency on coal (see Setyowati & Quist, 2022). A big part of South Kalimantan lives in rural areas with few connections to infrastructure. Infrastructure development could therefore be a viable option. Further, the most suitable options for developing alternative energy sources in South Kalimantan would be solar, wind, and natural gas (Riva & Vestarchi, 2019). Especially the expansion of solar and wind could create employment opportunities in the region. Creating a manufacturing industry around these sources could create further economic growth. Other energy-intensive industries

could also be created, utilising local mineral resources while being supplied with low-cost renewable energy from solar and wind. Green hydrogen production facilities could be created, utilising oversupply from solar and wind, and the green hydrogen exported to neighbouring countries. Universities could be created in the region to improve education and foster long-term growth. However, these measures would require high investments. The question of financing the general coal transition and the involved measures will be further explored in the expert interviews.

5.1.6.2 Market Regulation, Liberalisation, or Privatisation

Maulidia et al. (2019) suggest market restructuring or market liberalisation to advance the energy transition in Indonesia by reducing the monopolistic structure of the energy market dominated by PLN. Diluiso et al. (2021) emphasise that market regulation in relation to coal transitions can occur through nationalisation or privatisation of the coal industry, public and private partnerships, industrial regulation, or the liberalisation of electricity and coal markets. They further found, based on their literature review on coal transitions, that historical coal transitions were often accompanied by the privatisation of the coal industry. Jakob and Steckel (2022) argue that the choice of which energy source is used to generate electricity seems to be heavily influenced by the structure of energy markets. They further argue that in liberalised markets, coal has been historically replaced by cheaper energy sources, such as natural gas and RES, whereas in countries with regulated energy markets with vertically integrated SOE, coal has persisted due to the existence of vested interests. They highlight that deregulation seems to reduce the influence of vested interests on the energy market and fosters the emergence of cost-competitive alternatives.

However, some challenges exist related to energy market restructuring. Caldecott et al. (2017) stress that privatisation of SOE given coal transitions have led to governments recapitalising the newly privatised companies which borrowed funds and thus became highly indebted and forced them to pay interest rates on the funds to governments providing the funds. They emphasise that the high indebtedness often has led to bankruptcies of these companies. Biber et al. (2017) highlight the difficulties of deregulating electricity markets through privatisation of SOE or vertically disintegrating generation, transmission, and distribution. On the one hand, they emphasise that deregulation might foster the emergence of interest groups for RES, but this depends on how deregulation is pursued. In California in the 1990s, the deregulation of the electricity sector forced previous SOEs to sell or dismantle some of their electricity generation assets, which often included fossil fuel assets. This appears to have increased the support for generation from RES (Biber et al., 2017). However, Kim et al. (2016) indicate that even though deregulation of electricity sectors is often packaged politically with policies for the expansion of RES, the deregulation in the US between 1991 and 2012 had no impact on the expansion of RES. They further argue that deregulation requires concessions to actors favouring RES. This suggests that deregulation needs to go hand in hand with policies favouring RES, which are targeted at interest groups capable of utilising these concessions. In addition, Jakob et al. (2020) argue that liberalisation might decrease the political power of regime incumbents and foster the entry of new market players.

Biber et al. (2017) argue that regulated electricity systems may increase the regulatory entry barriers for RES. They emphasise that especially countries with large amounts of fossil fuel electricity generation where the generation is publicly owned might be more reluctant towards policies favouring RES since governments could have intrinsic interests in fossil fuels due to their public utility. However, they conclude that current research does not show a strong link between deregulated electricity systems and increased usage of RES or an increased amount of IPPs.

In Indonesia, an attempt to liberalise the electricity market has been made, which the Supreme Court, however, annulled due to its violation of the constitution (see Maulidia et al., 2019; Setyowati & Quist,

2022). Furthermore, as discussed in Chapter 4.4.2., PLN, the regulated SOE, is required based on MEMR Decree 12/2017 to purchase renewable electricity from IPPs, where the price is capped at 85% of the local generation cost. This makes entry for IPPs selling renewable electricity easier. However, PLN is still heavily subsidised by the MoF, and the government seems to have intrinsic interests in the coal industry, making fossil fuel use more attractive. Deregulation could therefore increase the competitiveness of RES by reducing subsidies and increasing costs for coal.

Privatisation of PLN might be an option to break the resistance of PLN towards coal transitions. However, the ministries regulating and overseeing PLN might resist these measures (Ordonez et al., 2021). Ordonez et al. (2021) emphasise that the MoF and the MOEF would have to be consolidated with the ministries overseeing PLN (MSOE) to successfully reform PLN. It could otherwise be necessary to change the incentive system of PLN to make RES more attractive or even ensure that PLN implements policies favouring RES, even if these are against the interests of PLN (Ordonez et al., 2021; see also Bridle et al., 2017). These policies could include, for example, the requirement to diversify the company's portfolio of energy sources (Brauers & Oei, 2020).

Furthermore, several researchers stress that PLN seems reluctant toward any changes and has vast influences on policy-making and that they justify using CFPP to provide energy security (Jakob et al., 2020; Ordonez et al., 2021). As the grid operator, PLN aims to choose energy sources that do not threaten grid stability, such as CFPP (Ialnazov & Keeley, 2020). Furthermore, due to failures in PLN's responsibility to maximise revenues to the state, several officials from PLN are facing charges or are already in prison because of losses to the state (Harrington, 2017). These circumstances further increase pressure on PLN to favour low-cost energy sources. In general, due to the high emission reduction PLN could be expected to pursue, close cooperation between the government and PLN should be ensured (Siagian et al., 2017).

These considerations raise the question of whether a reform of the electricity system, which is achieved through liberalisation, privatisation, or deregulation, would increase the capacity of RES and decrease the usage of coal and whether this would be politically feasible. These questions will be further explored in the expert interviews.

5.1.6.3 Economic measures - Carbon Pricing, Subsidies & Taxes,

The literature provides ample suggestions for economic instruments for coal transitions in general. Diluiso et al.(2021) indicate that their literature review on coal transitions revealed that the economic measures with the highest occurrence included subsidies and taxes. The tax category includes, for example, emission trading schemes or carbon taxes (Diluiso et al., 2021). Dissanayake et al. (2020) stress that the effectiveness of these instruments for emissions mitigations is highly case-specific and needs to be analysed for each country separately. The effectiveness of these instruments for Indonesia will be analysed in the following.

Carbon-pricing

One economic instrument is carbon pricing, either through carbon taxes or through Emission Trading Schemes (ETS) (Dissanayake et al., 2020). The Indonesian government announced introducing a carbon tax of US2.10 per ton of CO₂ as of July 2022, which shall also serve as a basis for carbon trading (Christi, 2022). However, news from June 23rd, 2022, stated that the carbon tax implementation could be delayed again (Suroyo & Sulaiman, 2022).

In the literature on political economy, it is suggested that implementing carbon pricing mechanisms remains challenging (Jenkins & Karplus, 2017; see Biber et al., 2017; Gawel et al., 2017). Biber et al. (2017) emphasise that carbon pricing mechanisms seem politically difficult to implement in

governments intertwined with fossil fuels interests. They argue that policies which are not in favour of existing and powerful interest groups tend to be less effective and more difficult to implement than policies aimed at supporting decarbonisation. They stress that, for example, subsidies aimed at the development of RES would face less resistance from regime incumbents than carbon pricing mechanisms. They conclude that carbon pricing in fossil fuel-dependent economies "may ultimately be ineffectual" (p.616). They lastly argue that an initially weak carbon pricing mechanism could be preceded by a continuously increasing one but that this would require the emergence of new interest groups in favour of decarbonisation and changes in the political landscape (Biber et al., 2017). Ordonez et al. (2021) provide a different perspective. They argue that PLN might show resistance towards any measures which would result in higher electricity prices and exert influence on political decision-makers. However, they also stress that the MoF could support carbon pricing since the revenues could be used to compensate for losses from coal rents and revenues. They further highlight that these revenues could be used to increase the overall tax revenue from countries (Kalkuhl et al., 2019) or to alleviate energy poverty (Gunningham, 2013).

Dissanayake et al. (2020) conclude from their study that a carbon tax of US\$36 per tonne of CO_2 would be required to meet the Indonesian emission targets. They further highlight that this carbon tax would reduce economic growth by 0.11%. However, they also emphasise that a carbon tax versus a fuel tax would result in lower inflation, fewer effects on welfare loss, employment loss, and wage decline. They also highlight that a carbon tax of this amount would increase the price of coal by 113-117%, likely increasing the tendency towards RES. The authors further highlight the possibility of introducing an Emission Trading Scheme (ETS) in Indonesia. However, they stress that it seems unlikely that the Indonesian government would implement an ETS due to political resistance. They conclude that a carbon tax would be politically more feasible to implement than an ETS. However, views on this are divergent. Brauers and Oei (2020) argue that implementing carbon taxes seems unrealistic for the political economy of coal. Jenkins and Karplus (2017) argue that the difficulties of implementing carbon taxes in this regard stem from the distributional impacts of carbon taxes on producers and consumers.

In summary, the current level of the proposed carbon tax seems to be lower than the required level to meet the Indonesian emission targets (see Christi, 2022; Dissanayake et al., 2020). In addition, as of July 2022, it seems unclear when the carbon tax will be implemented. Furthermore, it seems unclear whether the carbon tax will be effective for phasing-out coal. This will be further explored in the interviews.

Subsidies

Several authors highlight the need to reduce subsidies for fossil fuels in Indonesia (Bridle et al., 2018; Erdiwansyah et al., 2019; Gunningham, 2013; Wehnert et al., 2019). Skovgaard and van Asselt (2019) conclude in their study that there exist several principles for successfully reforming fossil fuel subsidies, which include: getting the timing right for introducing new subsidies aimed at RES and reducing subsidies of fossil fuels; involving a variety of affected stakeholders and different parts of the government at an early stage; communicating to the public on how current subsidies are directed to which purposes, and how these subsidies can be redirected to alternative purposes; and lastly, the need to implement additional complementary measures to counteract the effect of the reform. Phasing out subsidies for fossil fuels can also aid in making RES more competitive (Bridle et al., 2018). However, the view on this is conflicting. Jewell et al. (2018) conclude that removing subsidies would not significantly impact the expansion of RES and would not decrease global GHGE significantly. However, even though fossil fuel subsidies can also aid in ensuring energy security, a reduction could substantially reduce GHGE (Gunningham, 2013).

In the case of Indonesia, subsidies for coal are significantly higher than subsidies for RES (Attwood et al., 2017). Further, there have been attempts to remove subsidies for fossil fuels. However, these have often been followed by a re-introduction of these subsidies. The initially successful removal of subsidies was enabled through political leadership for reform. This was accompanied by strategic communication of these policies and by providing social assistance due to increasing electricity prices (Chelminski, 2018). Reducing fossil fuel subsidies in Indonesia seems challenging from a political economy perspective due to vested interests, corruption, and dependency on fossil fuels (Gunningham, 2013; see also Chelminski, 2018). However, the MoF seems to be also reluctant to increase subsidies to PLN (Bridle et al., 2018).

This raises the question of whether increasing subsidies for RES or decreasing subsidies for coal could be implemented in Indonesia. This will be further explored in the expert interviews.

Taxes

There exist several ways in which taxes can be used to either incentivise or disincentivise coal operations or the coal transition. Kalkuhl et al. (2019) argue that an *upstream tax* for the extraction or the import of fossil fuels, such as coal, could be implemented. They emphasise that this form of tax would be difficult to avoid, and this is especially suitable for informal economies that often do not have the capacity to effectively oversee, regulate, and enforce taxes on industrial or economic activities. However, in the case of Indonesia, it seems rather difficult to implement upstream taxes since this would reduce the profitability of mining operations where powerful actors have financial interests. This is especially relevant since the profitability of the coal mining sector depends heavily on fuel prices since diesel remains the largest share of operating expenses (Atteridge et al., 2018). Nevertheless, Dissanayake et al. (2020) indicate that a fuel tax could lead to 0.29% economic growth in Indonesia.

Caldecott et al. (2017) indicate that governments can employ tax incentives in various ways. For example, governments could create tax incentives for businesses to relocate to certain areas. However, this seems rather ineffective since tax incentives would often not be the single variable influencing the relocation decision of companies. Rather, these incentives could strengthen an already made decision for relocation.

Gunningham (2013) argues that another option could be carbon border taxes. This instrument would have to be adopted by other countries, which would tax goods from countries which do not have adequate climate change mitigation measures. This measure could bring about the required pressure to enact emission reduction targets, but the implementation seems challenging due to expected disagreements between countries, especially between rich and poor countries (Gunningham, 2013). This raises the question of whether taxes could be implemented in Indonesia and how this could be achieved. This question will be further explored in the expert interviews.

Financial Support

Caldecott et al. (2017) further indicate that governments can provide financial support to affected companies by, for example, reducing liabilities of companies related to mining site restorations. However, the authors emphasise that this form of financial aid brings about the risk of moral hazard. Mining companies could be incentivised to pursue mining operations with the implicit knowledge that their costs for restoration would be held by governments, thereby externalising their *true costs* for mining operations. The question of financial support to affected stakeholders from a coal transition will be further explored in the expert interviews.

5.1.6.4 Expanding Share of Renewable Energy Sources

Phasing-out coal needs to be accompanied by strategies for increasing the use of RES (Brauers & Oei, 2020; Yanguas Parra et al., 2019). Several studies stress the need to expand the share of RES in Indonesia (Bridle et al., 2018; Dutu, 2016; Erdiwansyah et al., 2019; Langer et al., 2021).

Indonesia has vast potential for different RES, such as solar energy, hydropower, geothermal, wind-, bio, and ocean energy (Langer et al., 2021; Yudha et al., 2021). The cost for RES has been dropping over the last year, and the LCOE of some sources is already within the range of fossil fuels or even cheaper for some projects (Yanguas Parra et al., 2019), which could help accelerate the expansion of RES, especially since it seems that coal transitions occurred in countries where coal was not economically viable anymore (Jakob & Steckel, 2022). Langer et al. (2021) conclude in their study that the electricity demand of Indonesia could technically be met by 100% RES. According to Bridle et al. (2018), the price paid to generators of RES is the most important factor influencing the viability of renewable energy projects. In interviews conducted by Ordonez et al. (2021), one interviewee stated that PLN would consider RES if the costs were lower. Declining costs of RES could also contribute to meeting the demand of some actors for affordable energy supply (Jakob et al., 2020). The development of RES could also aid in providing alternative means for economic development (Yanguas Parra et al., 2019).

The first topic this chapter addresses is which source of renewable energy would be the most suitable to compensate for the declining share of CFFP. Several authors emphasise solar energy's important role in the Indonesian energy transition (Reyseliani & Purwanto, 2021; Yudha et al., 2021). Yudha et al. highlight that solar energy has vast potential for generating renewable electricity, especially in Indonesia. They also emphasise that solar energy could be more suitable for households due to its intermittent nature. This could be a viable option for rural areas with no access to the electricity grid. However, the authors stress that solar energy development depends highly on government funding due to its high costs (Yudha et al., 2021). Solar PV is most suitable for decentralised rooftop generation, and the need for funding and investments poses another challenge. Kennedy (2018) argues that foreign investments into solar energy in Indonesia mainly foster the development of large-scale centralised solar generation in Sumatra and Sulawesi and that local ownership is thereby neglected. Setyowati (2021) argues that this is especially important for energy justice and highlights the need to address this issue for archipelago islands and decentralised energy solutions in Indonesia. Bridle et al. (2018) hereby emphasise the importance of ensuring the use of the lowest-cost technologies for decentralised off-grid projects. They further highlight that identifying appropriate sites for the development of renewable energy projects with expected high yields should be supported to ensure prices fall below wholesale electricity prices.

Several authors highlight that geothermal energy seems to be the most feasible and suitable source for Indonesia (Yudha et al., 2021; see also Dutu, 2016; Gunningham, 2013). Indonesia is expected to hold 40% of the world's geothermal energy potential due to being located in the *Ring of Fire* (Yuliani, 2017). Further renewable energy sources could also be viable, such as hydropower (Yudha et al., 2021) or micro-hydro power for remote areas (Harrington, 2017). However, research suggests that many hydropower projects have led to similar environmental and social damages as coal mining and operations, such as the relocation of local populations (Roy & Schaffartzik, 2021). Biomass production could be another option for decentralised electricity generation, especially in rural areas (Dutu, 2016; Li et al., 2021). Decentralised electricity generation is suggested as a promising opportunity for phasing-out coal (Roy & Schaffartzik, 2021).

For South Kalimantan, it is expected that coal will still dominate the electricity mix in the medium- and long term, but that solar, wind and natural gas are considered to be the best options to complement coal for electricity generation. The potential for solar energy in South Kalimantan amounts to approximately
6,030 MW, followed by wind with 1,400 MW and biomass with a potential of 1,266 MW (Riva & Vestarchi, 2019).

Most of the investments in Indonesia into renewable energy projects in Indonesia have been made in hydro and geothermal, whereas solar and wind investments are marginal (Bridle et al., 2018). Further investments into solar and wind, as viable RES for South Kalimantan, would be required. Burke et al. (2019) hereby propose various ways to increase solar and wind adoption in Indonesia, which include: political commitment, limiting regulatory requirements, reducing fossil fuel subsidies, introducing carbon pricing, removing protectionist barriers, introducing reverse auction processes, implementing purchase obligations for RES, and improving grid management. However, as discussed in previous chapters, some of these measures could face resistance due to political economic constraints. In addition, Simanjuntak (2021) highlights that significant institutional changes need to be made in Indonesia to increase wind energy deployment. Simanjuntak suggests developing a detailed design for institutional changes to deploy wind energy at the regional or national level in Indonesia (Simanjuntak, 2021). The development and deployment of biomass have been hindered in Indonesia by a lack of national coordination efforts and a lack of learning across different projects (Wong, 2021).

The second aspect that this chapter addresses is the market instruments for accelerating the expansion of RES. Diluiso et al. (2021) highlight that emission and renewable portfolio standards have especially played a role in driving coal transitions. Biber et al. (2017) stress that renewable portfolio standards have been implemented in countries with decarbonisation agendas, especially because they tend to be more politically feasible. Feed-in tariffs (FiT) have also played a role in accelerating the adoption of RES, according to the authors. They emphasise that FiTs generally benefit decentralised generation more, such as rooftop PV, whereas renewable portfolio standards tend to favour large, centralised generation more. FiTs could also be used to incentivise companies to support the development of RES (Ordonez et al., 2021). However, as discussed in Chapter 4.4.2, FiTs have been already implemented in Indonesia and were subsequently abolished in 2017 (Jakob et al., 2020).

Yuliani (2017) hereby argues that implementing FiTs in Indonesia was rather unsuccessful in improving the deployment of RES. He argues that FiTs must be implemented in careful consideration of other efforts. He emphasises that the complexity of governance structures needs to be reduced, knowledge on the community level of RES increased, and coordination between related organisations increased to successfully expand RES by FiTs. Ordonez et al. (2021) state similarly that the main barrier for IPPs to participate in the energy market is the nature of the constantly changing regulations. Further, setting FiT at an adequate right rate for providing fair returns but not excessive profits for generators remains a challenge (Bridle et al., 2018). Lastly, Ordonez et al. (2021) argue that implementing FiTs could face resistance due to reduced rents and revenues from influential actors with interests in the coal industry and that these actors might have to be compensated to ensure their political support.

Biber et al. (2017) offer interesting insights from the political economy perspective. They emphasise that different types of RES may impact the political economy of states differently. They argue that RES, which are typically produced in larger, centralised plants, like wind turbines, might be politically easier to integrate than more decentralised units, such as rooftop solar energy. This is because decentralised solutions could threaten the current business models of electricity companies operating large, centralised units. However, policies aimed at developing solar PV might lead to the emergence of new coalitions in favour of decarbonisation (Biber et al., 2017).

Furthermore, Burke and Stephens (2018) argue that decentralised politics, as enacted through the decentralisation agenda in Indonesia, may foster the development of decentralised and distributed energy systems. They stress that concentrated power may hinder the deployment of RES. Geels (2014) argues similarly that the deployment of RES is hindered by the resistance of regime incumbents.

Similarly, technological advancements may make it easier to overcome institutional lock-ins since they might make alternative options more attractive (Rentier et al., 2019). Investing in the expansion of RES could also offer the opportunity to create alternative forms of economic development and employment opportunities for affected regions (Oei et al., 2020). Biber et al. (2017) also argue that in economies which do not have strong industrial capabilities and manufacturing companies which could support policies in favour of RES, other actors might be more important future interest groups for green policies, such as farmers, homeowners, project developers, and installers. This seems especially important for South Kalimantan, which is mostly invested in agricultural activities. Policies aimed at these actors might therefore be more beneficial to advancing the expansion of RES.

The expansion of RES is met with several barriers. A multi-level governance approach might be required to increase the share of RES (Marquardt, 2014). Marquardt (2014) hereby emphasises the need to involve various actors, also on the local level, at an early stage of planning. He further emphasises that lacking awareness of RES on a local level can often lead to uncoordinated activities and delays in the process. He argues that, especially in Indonesia, the development of RES is mainly coordinated in a top-down process and that bottom-up development should be ensured during policy formulation. Bridle et al. (2018) also emphasise the importance of removing regulatory barriers, maintaining policy stability, and making processes for permission and consent for renewable energy projects easier (see also Harrington, 2017). Bridle et al. (2018) further stress that the most important barrier to the expansion of RES stems from the introduction of Regulations 12/2017 and 50/2017, which cap the electricity price paid to renewable electricity generators at 85% of the local average generation costs, as discussed in Chapter 4.4.2.2, which makes investment recoveries difficult. They also emphasise that this pricing system does not recognise any environmental benefits from RES, thus indirectly favouring coal.

A further barrier to the further expansion of RES in Indonesia is the concern over the integration of intermittent RES into the electricity grid (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019; Gawel et al., 2017; Jakob & Steckel, 2022). Burke et al. (2019) stress the need to improve grid management capacities. Arinaldo and Adiatma (2019) highlight that demand response policies could reduce the cost of integrating RES, such as volatile price policies. Demand response policies could be an option in South Kalimantan, especially since South Kalimantan does not have many large industrial consumers, as discussed in Chapter 4.1.2. Electricity from RES, such as solar PV generated throughout the day, could be immediately used. Storage option could be another option to reduce the costs of system integration. Arinaldo and Adiatma (2019) emphasise that storage is especially relevant for Indonesia due to its specific geographical constraints. They stress that decentralised energy systems would be the only option for some regions due to the remoteness of some regions and the vast amount of different regions. They emphasise that pumped hydro storage could be an option but stress that this would be region-specific and that the reservoirs require large areas. They further suggest Li-Ion batteries but highlight the high costs associated with these. Jakob and Steckel (2022) emphasise that technical and financial assistance could be required to facilitate system integration of RES.

In summary, FiTs have been introduced and subsequently abolished in Indonesia. However, their implementation was not accompanied by additional needed efforts. Carefully considering complementary measures could aid in successfully establishing FiTs. This would be especially suitable since FiTs tend to benefit decentralised RES, like solar, which would be suitable for South Kalimantan. Capping the price for electricity from RES seems to hinder the further deployment of RES since it limits the recovery of investments. Removing regulatory barriers and ensuring policy stability in the electricity sector could ease market entries for RES. Financial and technical assistance for facilitating system integration of RES could aid in accelerating the expansion of RES.

5.1.6.5 Investments in other Technological Solutions

Yanguas Parra et al. (2019) highlight that the investments currently planned for the expansion of CFPP could be redirected to other technologies to ensure that the growing energy demand in Indonesia is met while providing affordable and sustainable energy. Further, several researchers highlight the need for required investments to advance the energy transition in Indonesia (Dutu, 2016; Gunningham, 2013). In the following, several different technological innovations which could enable or accelerate the coal transition in South Kalimantan are elaborated upon.

Natural Gas

Investments in natural gas projects have been associated with coal transitions (Diluiso et al., 2021). Natural gas for use in gas-fired power plants could be an option for reducing the use of coal in CFPP while maintaining the electricity supply in Indonesia (Dutu, 2016; Jakob & Steckel, 2022; Kurniawan et al., 2020). Atteridge et al. (2018) highlight that gas-fired power plants are faster to build, smaller, cheaper, and easier to finance than CFPP. They argue that although natural gas has not played a major role in Indonesia, other countries that phased-out coal have transitioned to using gas-fired power plants, such as the United States. They further highlight that natural gas could be imported from neighbouring Australia, which is the world's largest exporter of liquefied natural gas (LNG) (Atteridge et al., 2018). However, this would be against the aim of the Indonesian government to become energy independent (Climate Analytics, 2019a). Nevertheless, gas is considered by the MEMR as a transition technology, especially for rural electrification (Bridle et al., 2018).

Malahayati and Masui (2021) argue that natural gas could play a dominant role in the energy transition in Indonesia if emission reduction targets were introduced before RES became dominant in the energy mix. However, Jewell et al. (2022) argue that even though natural gas is often considered a transition technology, it still is a fossil fuel, and its role in energy transitions remains contested.

Nuclear

Yudha et al. (2021) highlight that nuclear energy is still classified as a viable option for the energy transition in Indonesia, given the advancements in technology and safety concerns. This view is shared by other researchers (Reyseliani & Purwanto, 2021; see also Permana et al., 2021).

Clean Coal Technologies

Yudha et al. (2018) emphasise that Clean Coal Technologies (CCT) could aid in reducing the harmful environmental impacts of coal use in CFPP. CCT include several different technologies for the different stages in processing coal, such as pre-combustion, combustion, post-combustion, and conversion. CCT could aid in fulfilling the rising energy demand while not compromising the current business models of coal companies with vast influence on the political economy of coal in Indonesia. It seems eminent to invest in CCT to mitigate GHGE from CFPP.

Improving energy efficiency for CFPP

Improving energy efficiency is also seen as a measure to ensure fuel savings and reduce GHGE from CFPP. Investments into energy efficiency measures or technologies could aid in further utilising coal while limiting its emissions (Kurniawan et al., 2020; Li et al., 2021; Malahayati & Masui, 2021).

Carbon Capture and Storage

Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) could be another option for reducing GHGE from CFPP. Yanguas Parra et al. (2019) indicate that retrofitting existing CFPP with CCS could be viable for some plants. However, they also highlight that this scenario is rather unlikely due to the high costs of CCS and

because CCS is currently not considered for use in CFPP. They further argue that investing in CCS could deliver the wrong signals to stakeholders for further investing in the use of coal. Meadowcroft (2009) stresses that investing in CCS could further foster *lock-ins* into fossil fuel infrastructures which could increase the difficulties of phasing-out coal. However, Meadowcroft also argues that CCS could be a viable option to gain political support from the powerful and influential fossil fuel industry, especially in countries that are heavily invested in producing and consuming fossil fuels.

5.1.6.6 Rationing, Bans, Moratoria & Plant Closures

Diluiso et al. (2021) indicate that possible instruments for coal transitions could include quotas on the production or consumption of coal, banning the sale of coal entirely, or implementing moratoria (i.e., temporality prohibiting activities) on coal mines or CFPP. Roy and Schaffartzik (2021) conclude similarly that phasing-out coal entirely would have to include the decision to completely halt the extraction of coal, even if the extraction would still be economically viable. The report by Carbon Trust (2021) concludes similarly that plans for the retirement of CFPP have to be made for a coal transition in Indonesia to be successful.

These measures seem to be difficult to implement in Indonesia due to the expected resistance from powerful political actors who receive rents and revenues from coal use (Ordonez et al., 2021; see also Brauers & Oei, 2020). Further, as discussed previously, a moratorium on limiting new mining licences was announced by the Governor of East Kalimantan but never actually implemented (Bell, 2015; see also Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019; Atteridge et al., 2018). Further, as Biber et al. (2017) argue, implementing policies that harm fossil fuel companies in fossil fuel-dependent economies seems politically challenging.

Furthermore, the authors emphasise that the political economy of fossil fuels might also depend on whether the source is primarily exported or consumed within the state. In Indonesia in 2018, 80% of the coal was exported (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). However, as discussed in Chapter 4.2.1, it is expected that Indonesia will reduce exports and increase its domestic use of coal. However, the MoF could be reluctant to limit exports due to decreased revenues from export duties and foreign earnings (Atteridge et al., 2018). However, PLN recently announced to halt the construction of a coal plant in Java as part of their plan to teach net-zero by 2060 (see Karyza, 2022). This could indicate growing momentum to phase-out coal.

In summary, it seems unlikely that measures for rationing or even introducing moratoria could be implemented in South Kalimantan in isolation. Additional interventions, such as compensation, would be required.

5.1.6.7 Emergence of New Market Entrants, Actors & Civil Society Engagement

Various researchers argue that new actors could affect the power balance in the existing fossil fuel regimes (see Jakob et al., 2020; Geels, 2014; Meadowcroft, 2009). Jakob et al. (2020) emphasise that the emergence of *green industries* could lead to changes in the political environment, exerting pressure to advance more sustainable climate or energy policies. They stress that policymakers can facilitate the emergence of these industries either by regulations or by subsidies. Meadowcroft (2009) argues similarly that political engagement could lead to the formation of new coalitions aiming at policy reforms, which could alter power dynamics in the political environment. Geels (2014) even argues that "politically inspired regime destabilization may be necessary to create opportunities for the wider diffusion of renewables" (p.37).

Setyowati and Quist (2022) stress the importance of public involvement in public discussions or even decision-making and argue that this could influence policymaking (see also Jakob et al., 2020; Sarrica et al., 2018). They further highlight an existing absence of citizen engagement in the energy planning

process in Indonesia. However, they also find that new possibilities for citizen engagement might emerge despite the limiting regulatory and institutional constraints. Nevertheless, in the case of South Kalimantan, they found that the engagement of local actors, such as civil societies and private sectors, is limited in energy planning and that these groups tend to be in less favourable conditions against coal lobbies and powerful actors in the political economy of coal.

In summary, fostering the emergence of new actors and fostering civil society engagement could aid in advancing a coal transition in South Kalimantan.

5.1.7 Financing a coal transition

This chapter addresses the aspect of financing a coal transition in South Kalimantan. Caldecott et al. (2017) highlight that central and regional governments ultimately bore the costs for coal transitions in many historical coal transitions. These costs can include financial aid to affected companies, liability payments to workers, and investments for affected regions to stimulate alternative forms of economic growth.

However, as discussed in Chapter 1, at the COP26 meeting in Glasgow in 2021, Indonesia did not sign clause 3 of the "Global Coal to Clean Power Transition Statement" and stated that "to reach net zero by 2060 [...], Indonesia will consider accelerating coal phase out into the 2040s, conditional on agreeing additional international financial and technical assistance" (UNFCCC, 2021, Section: Statement supported by:). This statement seems to suggest that, in the long-term, Indonesia would consider reducing CFPP, but on the condition that the international finance is required to either expand the deployment of RES (see Bridle et al., 2017; Burke et al., 2019; Harrington, 2017; Jewell et al., 2018; OECD, 2021) or phase out coal (Ordonez et al., 2021). Gunningham (2013) highlights that the World Bank or the UNDP could play a role in these investments.

In the literature on climate ethics, various researchers also highlight the ethical responsibility of developed nations to pay for climate change mitigation and adaptation in less developed states since the more developed states have mostly benefitted from the extraction and exploitation of fossil fuels, such as coal, but the burden of this exploitation lies mostly with less developed states primarily in the Global South (see Posner & Sunstein, 2008; Shue, 1999; Singer, 2010).

However, Atteridge et al. (2018) highlight that a perceived policy instability limits international finance toward Indonesia. Increasing policy stability by a steady course of the Indonesian government on a coal transition could potentially attract more foreign investments. In addition, further challenges exist related to incoming international investment. Posner and Sunstein (2008) emphasise that foreign aid to the government is often redistributed by corrupt politicians for their benefit. Measures would need to be ensured to prevent misuse of foreign investments and redistribution to other purposes not intended.

This raises the question of how a coal transition can be financed. This question will be further explored in the expert interviews.

5.1.8 Summary of Proposed Institutional Interventions from Literature

Table 5 provides a summary of the proposed institutional interventions from Chapter 5.1.3 to Chapter 5.1.6.7. The aspects and sources provided in the summarizing table 5 are by no means exhaustive.

Proposed Institutional Intervention from Literature				
 Establishment of national development plans (Yudha et al., 2021) Increasing public discussion around declining coal markets (Jakob & Steckel, 2022) Increasing awareness on health impacts of coal operations (Bridle et al., 2018) Empowering affected communities (Ordonez et al., 2021) Inclusion of the public in decision-making (Setyowati & Quist, 2022) Political leadership towards a coal transition (Setyowati & Quist, 2022) Declining costs of RES changing the governments perspective on coal and energy investments (Ordonez et al., 2021) 				
 International Agreements and Climate Targets External pressure from international community (Brauers & Oei, 2020) Stricter implementation of Nationally Determined Contributions (Vogt-Schilb & Hallegatte, 2017) Implementing an Independent Regulator (Biber et al., 2017; Yuliani, 2017) Implementing stricter Environmental Regulations Improving Air Quality (Diluiso et al., 2021) Fostering green industrial policies (Biber et al., 2018; Caldecott et al., 2017) More effective control of illegal mining (Dutu, 2016) Increasing adherence to Environmental Impact Assessments (Yudha et al. 2018) 				
 Allocation of Mining Permits Decentralisation seems to hinder coal transitions (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019) Establish accountability (Setyowati & Quist, 2022) and reinforce monitoring mechanisms (Faisal, 2015) 				
 Compensation Schemes Compensation to affected stakeholders of coal transition (Caldecott et al., 2017; Rentier et al., 2019) Compensation to ensure buy-in of regime incumbents (Jakob et al., 2020) Compensation for high investments costs of renewable energy projects (Ordonez et al., 2021) 				
 Providing alternative forms for Economic Development Providing economic development opportunities, employment opportunities, and creating new social identities in affected regions (Brauers et al., 2020; Diluiso et al., 2021; Setyowati & Quist, 2022) Managed retreat, economic restructuring, regional regeneration (Caldecott et al., 2017) Provide employees development trainings (Merdekawati et al., 2022) Increasing collaboration ministries, provincial, and district governments (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019) Market Regulation, Liberalization, or Privatization Nationalisation or privatisation of the coal industry, public and private partnerships, industrial regulation, or liberalisation of electricity and coal markets (Diluiso et al., 2021) Market liberalisation of the Indonesian electricity market (Maulidia et al., 2019) Deregulation to reduce influence of vested interests and increase market competitiveness (Jakob & Steckel, 2022) Consolidation of responsible ministries to reform PLN (Ordonez et al., 2021) 				
 Economic Instruments Carbon Pricing: carbon taxes or an Emission Trading Scheme (Diluiso et al., 2021; Dissanayake et al., 2020) Reducing coal subsidies (Bridle et al., 2018; Erdiwansyah et al., 2019; Wehnert et al., 2019) Increasing subsidies for RES (Attwood et al., 2017; Bridle et al., 2018) Increasing upstream taxes for the for the extraction or the import of coal (Kalkuhl et al. 2019), increasing fuel taxes (Dissanayake et al., 2020), providing tax incentives (Caldecott et al. 2017), or carbon border taxes (Gunningham, 2013) Provision of financial support to affected companies (Caldecott et al., 2017) Expanding Share of Renewable Energy Sources Phasing-out coal in accompany with strategies for increasing RES (Brauers & Oei, 2020; Yanguas) 				

 Further investments in other Technological solutions Investments in Natural gas (Dutu, 2016; Jakob & Steckel, 2022; Kurniawan et al., 2020) Investments in nuclear energy (Permana et al., 2021; Reyseliani & Purwanto, 2021; Yudha et al., 2018) 				
• Investments in Clean Coal Technologies (Yudha et al., 2018)				
• Improving energy efficiency of coal plants (Kurniawan et al., 2020; Li et al., 2021; Malahayati & Masui, 2021)				
• Utilizing Carbon Capture and Storage (Yanguas Parra et al., 2019; Meadowcroft, 2009)				
Rationing, Bans, Moratoria & Plant Closures				
• Quotas on coal, banning the sale of coal, or implementing moratoria on coal mines or coal plants (Diluiso et al., 2021)				
Retirement of coal plants (Carbon Trust, 2021)				
Emergence of New Market Entrants, Actors & Civil Society Engagement				
• Fostering green industries (Jakob et al., 2020)				
• Fostering formation of new coalitions by political engagements (Meadowcroft, 2009)				
Public Involvement in discussions or decision-making (Setyowati & Quist, 2022)				

Table 5: Summary of Proposed Institutional Interventions from Literature

5.2 **Results from Expert Interviews**

This chapter presents the results of the interviews. As discussed in Chapter 3.2.2., an interview protocol was developed based on the insights from Chapter 5.1. The interview protocol is presented in Appendix D. The expert interviews shall provide insights on the feasibility and effectiveness of the possible institutional interventions presented in Chapter 5.1. Table 6, which is presented at the end of this chapter, provides a summarizing overview of the results from the interviews. In the following, the results from the interviews are presented, according to the structure of the interview protocol.

In general, all the questioned interviewees believe South Kalimantan should prepare for or aim for a coal transition (e1-e11). Interviewees stated that the international coal markets and global coal demand are expected to decline in the future and that South Kalimantan should prepare for this (e3, e6, e7). Several interviewees also stated the need to phase out coal regarding the related emissions and climate change mitigation (e7, e9, e10, e11). E4 stated that the cost of postponing the transition would be higher in the future than the cost of preparing it now and that Indonesia should learn from other counties where this has happened. Interviewees similarly stated that preparations and strategies for providing alternative economic development should be made now to be prepared for collapsing coal markets and subsequently decreased economic competitiveness (e5, e11). Of the questioned interviewees, no one believed that South Kalimantan should not prepare or aim for a coal transition.

The interviewees presented several drivers which have led to the current dominance of coal in the Indonesian market and the region of South Kalimantan. These include the natural abundance of coal reserves and the possibility to exploit these (e3, e6, e7, e9, e10), the demand for coal as a cheap and abundantly available energy source (e1, e3, e4, e6, e7), the provision of cheap energy access for the Indonesian population (e4, e6, e10), the possibility of maintaining cheap electricity prices for political support (e4), the demand for coal as an export commodity (e1, e6, e8, e9), international demand for coal (e8, e11), Indonesia's geographical location close to demand centres (e9), the export of coal for counteracting the negative trade balance of Indonesia (e4, e5, e10), coal as a source of public revenue through royalties and other payments (e1, e3, e4, e5, e8, e9, e10, e11), employment opportunities in the coal sector (e6, e7, e9), the overissuing of mining permits (e1, e4), the decentralization process in the coal sector which has increased coal mining (e3, e4, e5, e7, e8, e11), vested interests of powerful actors (e1, e3, e6, e8, e11), corrupt practices fostering coal mining (e3, e11), the history of resource extraction in Indonesia (e3, e11), the existence of CCOWs and the associated lock-in (e5), targets imposed by the MoF to the MEMR for coal royalties which drives coal production (e3), the take-or-pay contracts with IPPs which creates an economic lock-in for CFPP (e3), the structure of the PLN as a SOE (e3), resource

nationalism (e3), limited awareness of climate change (e4), limited knowledge of policymakers to implement decarbonisation strategies (e4), the support of local population of coal extraction to attract workers for driving the local economy (e5), and the COVID-19 pandemic and the war in Ukraine mixing up the international coal market (e6).

This section addresses aspects of power that interviewees mentioned in relation to the current dominance of coal in Indonesia. Several interviewees emphasised that vested interests of political and economic actors influence the coal sector in Indonesia (e1, e3, e6, e8, e11). E11 stated that elite control, the power of corrupt officials over resources, and corruption are the *root causes* for the increased coal production in Indonesia. E1 stated that coal is part of a well-connected network which supports the political machine. E7 also highlighted that political actors are often directly involved in the coal economy. E3 highlighted that the national policies related to coal and the energy sector are mainly driven by the national government around the president and not much influenced by local governments. E3 also stressed that the local governments are heavily incentivised to support coal extraction for generating revenue streams.

Further, the coal mining companies contribute significantly to regional development and thus influence regional political processes (e7). The financial and technological lock-in of PLN was also mentioned as a driving factor for PLN to lobby for CFPP (e3). The powerful role of the MSOE as the main shareholder of PLN was also mentioned as a factor influencing policymaking (e3). E4 also highlighted that the perspective of powerful stakeholders would need to be changed for a coal phase-out to be effective.

Further barriers to the expansion of RES and, therefore, indirect contributors to coal include the belief that RES cannot provide a safe and reliable energy supply (e3, e7), the already existing know-how and ease of operating CFPPs (e4), the high investments associated with storage options for RES or gas-fired power plants as alternatives (e3, e6), the challenge of integrating RES reliably into the grid (e8), or institutional barriers such as complicated permitting and administrative procedures (e3). Another problem which e3 has stated is that the expected decreasing price of RES in the future could make coal uncompetitive, which could lead to an oversupply of cheap coal which then floods the market.

The interviewees presented several drivers which could accelerate or enable a coal transition. These include international pressure and international climate agreements (e1, e2, e4, e6), divestments from fossil fuels from major financial institutions, such as the World Bank or the ADB (e1), the investment trend towards RES (e10), increasing public awareness related to climate change and environmental issues (e1, e3, e4), increasing market shares of RES (e2, e4), declining costs of RES (e2, e3, e4, e10), expected reduced international demand for coal (e3, e5, e6, e7), low capacity factors of current CFPP in Indonesia (e3), and social and economic benefits of phasing-out coal (e2). Especially market forces were deemed influential in phasing-out coal (e2, e3, e4, e10). E4 highlighted that the awareness of key stakeholders in Indonesia for the need for decarbonisation is rather low. E11 highlighted that the plans to move the Indonesian capital to Kalimantan could spur a debate on how coal-dependent regions in Kalimantan can change into more thriving urban centres.

This part addresses institutional interventions on the embeddedness level (L1) and presents results from the interviews on which factors could influence the national and provincial governments to change their current course on coal mining and the expansion of CFPP. These include: an increased awareness of the policymakers and key stakeholders for the need to decarbonize the Indonesian economy (e4, e6, e10), increased awareness of the local population for the environmental issues (e4, e8, e10), provision of education on climate change (e4), increased knowledge of RES (e9), the influence of voters on politics (e4, e10), citizen participation using social media to bring environmental issues to public debate (e4), provision of sufficient employment opportunities from industries revolving around RES (e2), support from the international community (e4, e5, e6, e10), pressure from the international community (e4, e10, e11), the flow of international finance to retire CFPP or to invest in RES (e7, e8), market dynamics such as declining international coal demand and resulting declining exports (e4), strong political leadership advocating decarbonisation (e4, e8), political commitment (e4), an increased capacity and human resources to develop decarbonization strategies (e5), or a big external shock, such as a massive decline in demand (e9). Further, E5 stated that local governments in Kalimantan have growing concerns about the coal market's future and that they already realised that they should prepare for a coal transition. Further, e5 stated that the MEMR has a keen interest in phasing out coal and wants to realise a coal transition. However, e4 stated that people from coal-producing regions on Kalimantan decided to try to understand the need for a coal transition, but that they did not see the urgency because of the current and expected future demand for coal (e4). E9 stated that a political narrative around diversification strategies could foster a coal transition.

This part presents results from interviews associated with L2 of the Williamson scheme at the institutional level. The first topic addressed is the possibility of implementing an independent regulator responsible for the coal or electricity sector. E3 stated that an independent regulator could enable a level playing field for the electricity sector and could potentially reduce the number of barriers that developers of renewable energy face. Only a few interviewees stated that implementing an independent regulator might be feasible (e1), whereas e9 stated that the political feasibility is rather low. Several barriers and challenges exist regarding the implementation of an independent regulator. E1 stated that the independent regulator would require political legitimacy to operate independently and efficiently and that this could pose an obstacle to the implementation since the ministries already have rather unclear but still defined authorities and responsibilities. Similarly, the lack of clarity regarding institutional responsibilities could pose a barrier to the implementation (e10). Interviewees stated that an independent regulator's effectiveness in enabling a coal transition would depend on its design, including its roles, responsibilities, autonomy and scope of authority (e2, e8). Similarly, interviewees stated that it seems unlikely that the independent regulator would be fully independent and that the regulator probably would include members from ministries of coal associations (e7, e9). E10 highlighted the risk of just multiplying responsible organisations without clear mandates. E4 stated that an independent regulator would not be effective in advancing a coal transition. Further, e4 stated that discussions about climate change and related decarbonisation activities in Indonesia are always made by a "climate mafia" (the same group of people influencing these activities) and that these could influence policymaking despite an independent regulator. E4 and e5 stated that a dedicated task force for a coal transition would be more effective in this regard.

The interviewees stated differing views on the effectiveness and political feasibility of environmental regulations. Only one interviewee stated that environmental regulations could help to phase-out coal (e8). Several interviewees argue that environmental regulations would not be effective (e3, e4, e7, e9). Interviewees stated that Indonesia has a large number of regulations but that these are often not implemented or laws broken (e3, e7). Further, e3 stated that local pollution is not necessarily perceived by civil society as a big issue and is not addressed comprehensively by politics in public debates. E3 argues that the low momentum to introduce environmental regulations to reduce pollution would be outweighed by the benefits of having abundant and cheap electricity from CFPP. Interviewees argue that lobbying efforts often weaken environmental regulations (e3, e7). Several interviewees argue that law enforcement should be strengthened instead of introducing more environmental regulations (e4, e9). E5 argues that transparency and monitoring of complying with regulations should be increased. However, interviewees stated that local governments do not have the resources to monitor or enforce environmental regulations. E6 stated that an increasingly informed and active society could contribute to demanding more stricter environmental regulations or even demanding legal persecution.

E9 stated similarly that civil society organisations could demand stricter environmental regulations, but in other countries, this was only possible through fierce opposition, which has come with enormous risks to the organisations. E10 stated that in other parts of Indonesia, concerns and strong local resistance from local citizens over the construction of new CFPP are increasing. However, e11 highlighted that the civil society in Indonesia is weak and that they often feel threatened, which is exacerbated by local armed forces which protect coal mining operations and which threaten citizens when they voice their concerns or protest against coal operations. E11 stresses that the government could play a role in protecting civil society to make them feel more secure in voicing their concerns.

The interviewees had differing views on reducing illegal mining. Several interviewees emphasised that illegal mining could be reduced by increasing transparency and strengthening regulation of the mining licensing procedure (e1, e2, e11). E1 emphasised that decentralised licensing poses a difficulty for effectively controlling the licensing process. Increased law enforcement could also reduce illegal mining (e2, e3, e6). Interviewees highlighted that illegal mining could be reduced by offering alternatives for economic development (e6, e7, e11). E2 suggests increasing cooperation between employers, mining workers, and the government. E2 argues that these interest groups could have an interest in reducing illegal mining since it would be in their interest. Employers lose potential revenues from illegal mining companies which do not pay coal royalties or taxes (e2). E4 similarly states that increased awareness of the negative consequences of illegal mining could aid in its reduction. However, e4 emphasises the difficulty in reducing illegal mining since actors who could drive efforts to reduce it often benefit from it. Further, e8 stresses that increased monitoring of illegal mining seems rather unfeasible due to the number of monitoring stations which would be required.

Regarding the reduction of corruption in the mining sector, interviewees stated that increasing transparency (e1, e2), law enforcement (e2), and the quality of the legal institutions (e3) could aid in its reduction. However, several interviewees stated that corruption is deeply rooted in some sectors. For example, interviewees stated that corruption has started especially during the dictatorship and that these practices have *culturalized* (e5), that the *culture* still exists (e4), and that corruption is *entrenched* (e11). E4 and e5 stated that there has been progress in reducing corruption, especially due to the work from the Corruption Eradication Commission, but that further progress is needed. E9 stressed that these kinds of organisations need to be empowered further. E4 also stated that the decentralisation process transferred the corrupt practices from the central to the regional or provincial level. E8 highlights that as long as coal generates value, corruption will always exist in the sector. E8 also highlights that different organisations have tried to reduce corruption by *publicly naming and shaming* corrupt behaviour, but that this has not made any difference and that these organisations were often sued for their actions. E9 argues that the only thing that could *mildly help* to reduce corruption would be pressure from the public society and public opinion. However, e11 stated that there is much risk involved for civil society groups and NGOs, and that they are risking their lives to highlight corruption and that they are even threatened at home by armed militia groups in some parts of Indonesia.

The interviewees largely agreed that the fiscal and administrative decentralisation process has also led to increased coal production in Indonesia and the province of South Kalimantan (e1, e7, e8). The decentralisation process incentivised the regions and provinces to support coal for increased revenues (e3) and has shifted corrupt practices to the regional or provincial level (e4, e7, e8). E4 stated that the decentralisation does not necessarily hinder a coal transition, but that much depends on the local leadership and the commitment to environmental issues.

This part now addresses L3 of the Williamson scheme, especially the aspect of compensation. The interviewees have different views on compensation, who should be compensated and who could pay for this. The interviewees generally agree that compensation should be paid (e1-e4, e7-e10). Potential

stakeholders which could be compensated are coal mining workers (e1, e,2, e3, e7), employees in CFFP (e2, e5), owners of CFPP (e2, e5, e7, e10), local communities (e2, e3, e4, e7), coal mining companies (e1), or low-income households which could be affected by increasing electricity prices (e3). E2 even states that the social aspect of a coal transition is the most pressing one and that affected workers should be compensated. However, e6 also highlights that compensation could remain *wishful thinking* as long as public society does not have the power to demand these measures. Further, e8 highlights the difficulty of compensating informal workers who do not have formal connections to coal companies. E3 emphasises that especially given political economy aspects, compensation should be paid to ensure the feasibility of a coal transition by incentivising powerful actors who could otherwise oppose reforms. E6 and e9 similarly argue that compensation can reduce resistance against phasing-out coal. However, e8 also highlights the challenge of dealing with *free-riders*, who would only provide support in exchange for financial support. E9 similarly highlights that coal mining companies or operators of CFPP could postpone decisions on plant and mine closures by anticipating compensation or financial support.

Interviewees argue that the aspect of compensating coal mining companies remains difficult and questionable (e3, e6, e7, e9). E3 hereby specifies that, on the one hand, large coal mining companies often have CCOWs which legally give them the right to mine coal, which could entitle them to compensation. On the other hand, from an environmental justice perspective, these coal mining companies contributed to the environmental damage from their operations, and they did not pay the true costs of their operations (their externalities), and it remains questionable if these companies should then be compensated. However, interviewees argue that coal mining companies might need compensation from a political economy perspective to ensure their political buy-in (e3, e6). E5 highlights similarly that IPPs often have take-or-pay contracts with PLN, where PLN has to pay the IPPs for the electricity they supply, which is often contracted over 25-30 years and ensured by the MoF. This means that IPPs have a legal right to get paid for their electricity supply from CFFP. If CFPP would decrease, IPPs would have the legal right to be compensated for that (e5). However, e7 also states that compensation to owners of CFPP should be dependent on the lifetime of the power plants and whether these are already paid off.

The aspect of which compensation measures could be implemented was also answered by interviewees differently. Compensation could not only be paid by financial support but also by promoting employment development training (e2, e4, e8, e11). The respondent stated that the finance for the compensation could be either paid by redirecting funds from fossil fuel subsidies (e2) or by offering coal companies incentive schemes and favourable conditions in PPAs for the deployment of RES (e3) or directly by the government (e3). E11 also highlighted the psychological impact which a coal phase-out could incur on coal workers and that these issues might also need to be addressed as part of compensation measures.

In line with compensation, several interviewees also provided insights on alternative forms of economic development and highlighted the need for these measures in affected coal regions (e1, e2, e5-e9, e11). E9 stressed that coal regions must diversify their economy but that the risk exists that these regions try to diversify their economies by looking for upstream or downstream linkages in the value chain of coal, which only increases the dependency on coal. E9 also highlighted the need to transition the informal economy around coal, which exists around mining regions. E11 further stressed that people often move away from regions where the coal sector declined, which leaves regions economically depleted. E2 stated that if the renewable energy market would provide sufficient jobs and opportunities for economic development, a tipping point could be reached for phasing-out coal. Interviewees further emphasised that alternative forms of economic development could come from different sectors, such as transport, manufacturing, or mining for minerals required for RES (e2), or also from the technology sector, ecotourism, or game reserves (e11). E2 stressed that local governments in Indonesia on the provincial

and municipal levels often do not have the capacity and knowledge to develop strategies for alternative forms of economic development. E11 highlights that the national government needs to play an active role in facilitating alternative forms of economic development in the affected coal regions.

The aspect of deregulating, liberalising, or privatising the electricity sector was also answered by interviewees differently. Several interviewees stated that a liberalised market could ensure a level playing field, increase the competitiveness of renewables (e3, e4, e6, e10, e11), and attract more international investors (e10). However, e3 also argued that a liberalised market would not necessarily ensure a level playing field and drive a coal transition since this would also depend on the extent of prevalent fossil fuel subsidies. Further, e6 stressed that a liberalised market would not necessarily benefit local communities since companies in the electricity sector would not necessarily have the incentive to, for example, connect small islands to the grid or to provide cheap electricity there. E2 was unsure whether liberalisation of the electricity sector would drive a coal transition. E3 emphasised that the current dominant market position of PLN and its position as a SOE makes it very powerful and enables PLN to influence policymaking. E4 stated that PLN would only support a coal transition if they would benefit from it. Several interviewees stated that it would be difficult to liberalise or privatise the electricity market. Most importantly, several interviewees stated that liberalising or privatising the electricity sector would be very difficult in Indonesia due to the Indonesian constitution stating that natural resources and electricity as a common good should be under the control of the government (e1, e3, e5, e7, 38). Furthermore, liberalisation of the electricity sector in Indonesia is also hindered by political economic factors and vested interests (e3), and PLN, as a powerful actor, could oppose this (e4, e8). However, several interviewees stated that the electricity sector could be restructured partially. E1 emphasises that the electricity generation market is slowly opening up to IPPs. Furthermore, e5 highlights that the MEMR is considering partially separating the responsibilities of PLN by creating separate entities responsible for generation, transmission, and distribution. E5 states that this would not directly liberalise the market but could increase transparency. E8 stated that currently, different organisations are discussing with the PLN the possibility of reforming PLN to some degree. E10 similarly states that deregulation or liberalisation is slowly gaining more interest in Indonesia.

Several interviewees believed that carbon pricing, as another possible institutional intervention, could be feasible in Indonesia (e1, e2, e3, e5, e8) and could drive a coal transition (e8, 10). Some interviewees stated that the currently planned carbon tax is too low (e7). Several interviewees stated that the monopolistic structure of the electricity market could render carbon pricing ineffectual (e6, e7, e9). Some interviewees stated that the MoF seems relatively open to carbon pricing (e1, e3). E1 states that resistance from the industry can be expected due to expected increased production costs. E3 highlighted that the resistance from PLN and potential lobbying could keep carbon prices at a low and ineffective level. Furthermore, e3 stated that the political difficulties of raising electricity prices in Indonesia might pose a strong barrier to implementing carbon prices. However, e2 emphasised that the revenues from carbon pricing to the government could be redirected to social programs, such as employee development programs, and that transparency about the distribution of the revenues from carbon pricing is key to ensuring support. E9 further highlighted the huge bureaucratic effort involved with carbon pricing and the opportunity for corrupt practices. E11 highlighted that an effective tax revenue collecting system would need to be established with a strong institutional foundation for collecting carbon taxes. Lastly, e5 highlighted that a pilot project for a cap-and-trade mechanism was introduced for selected coal plants and that the pilot was deemed successful by the government.

The aspect of subsidies, either decreasing subsidies for fossil fuels or increasing subsidies for RES, was perceived differently by the interviewees. On the aspect of decreasing fossil fuel subsidies, interviewees highlighted the need for decreased fossil fuel subsidies but also associated difficulties due to increasing electricity prices and associated political interest (e3), the entrenchment of subsidies and associated

vested interests (e9), increased costs for households (e1), the reliance of the current electricity infrastructure on subsidies (e5, e6), and past demonstrations in Indonesia from attempts to reduce subsidies (e4). Several interviewees highlighted the need to gradually remove fossil fuel subsidies (e1, e2) and the need to compensate affected and vulnerable groups (e2, e4). E7 stated that it seems very unlikely that coal subsidies in Indonesia would be lifted.

Regarding increasing subsidies for RES, e7 emphasised that this could be possible and feasible in Indonesia. More specifically, FiTs, as a certain form of subsidies for RES, were perceived by some interviewees as effective for accelerating the expansion of RES and could be feasible in Indonesia (e1, e2, e3). FiTs for the expansion of rooftop PV in Indonesia could be effective (e6). E1 highlighted that FiTs are being currently discussed for regulations and that these might be implemented. Interviewees stressed that the design and the level of FiTs are important for their effectiveness (e2, e9). E3 stressed that changing regulations regarding FiTs in Indonesia and the associated risk and uncertainty pose a barrier for IPPs. The uncertainty over the costs which FiTs might incur poses another barrier to their implementation in Indonesia (e10). E2 highlighted that subsidies for RES also distort the market and that subsidy reforms must be carefully designed.

Only a few interviewees commented on emission or renewable portfolio standards. E9 stated that they could generally work to increase the share of RES. E7 highlighted that these standards would probably be implemented, but their effectiveness depends on their design and how they will be governed. Interviewees highlighted the problem that these standards could not be adhered to and that these only help if they are implemented and enforced (e6, e11). Similarly, e9 stated that emission standards are especially prone to not being adhered to. E5 highlighted that the current draft for the renewable energy law includes renewable portfolio standards. However, e5 stressed that the current phrasing of the draft states *new energy* and that currently, efforts are being conducted to rephrase the term to renewable energy since *new energy* could also include alternative fossil fuels.

The need for increased communication and cooperation between actors was mentioned by several interviewees (e4, e5). E4 identified the lack of communication between ministries as a barrier to decarbonisation in general. E5 highlighted that the discussion of phasing-out coal on the national level is unstructured, has many ministries involved, and seems to lack clear leadership. E5 further stressed that the local and national governments seem to have different perspectives on phasing-out coal and that increased communication could be required to make the national government more aware of the local perspectives. Implementing a task force for increasing communication and cooperation between ministries and other organisations was suggested (e4, e5).

The interviewees presented differing views regarding the feasibility of a coal transition in the near future. Most interviewees stated that a coal transition would not be feasible in the near future (e1, e2, e3, e4, e6, e7, e10, e11) but might be feasible in the long term (e1, e2, e3, e4). Several interviewees stated that the next 5 to 10 years could lead to changing market dynamics (e2, e3, e4). E4 stated that stakeholders in South Kalimantan do not seem to see the urgency of preparing for a coal transition since they believe that coal will be a good commodity for the next 5 to 10 years. E3 highlighted that a global decline in the demand for coal in the next ten years could lead to an oversupply of coal, leading to decreased prices and a resurfacing demand if there is no global carbon price in place. E4 further stated that unforeseen events and circumstances, such as wars, could set back efforts for phasing-out coal. E5 highlighted that the feasibility depends on the smoothness of negotiations and adequate compensation schemes.

This section addresses the issue of financing a coal transition. E3 highlights that the government and taxpayers would pay for a coal transition. Several interviewees stated that the international community could financially support the coal transition in South Kalimantan (e2, e3, e4, e6), especially by more

developed states (e2, e3). However, several interviewees highlighted the difficulty in achieving this (e3, e6). E6 highlighted that international finance could likely flow to projects creating the largest revenue and not to projects which might benefit the local society the most. E4 emphasised that from a polluter pays principle, the coal mining companies and operators of CFPP should pay for the transition. However, E3 argued that from a pollical economy perspective, it is unlikely that coal companies or coal oligarchs would pay for a transition, even though these benefitted from coal over the last years and have not paid any externalities. A further possibility for financing the transition could be to lower interest rates by providing institutional certainty and thereby reducing risks (e3). Stable and trustable markets could further attract international investments (e6). E3 highlights the importance of considering the least cost. E3 argues that international finance could focus on reducing global GHGE at low costs by providing financial support to Indonesia for phasing-out coal. E10 highlights the need to convince banks to divest from coal projects and to focus on renewable energy projects. E6 further highlighted the need for standards and requirements for investments in renewable energy projects. Lastly, E8 highlights the need to establish an *energy transition fund* that pools financial resources.

This last section addresses the aspect of international assistance, both through financial and technical support. Several interviewees highlighted the importance of international support for phasing-out coal (e1-e9). E1 highlighted that international technical and financial support is currently being provided for retiring plants for CFFP. Further support is provided by technical assistance for designing policy reforms (e1). Financial support could also be provided to support a coal transition (e2, e3, e4, e9, e11). Interviewees highlighted that international support in knowledge and capacity building for enabling a transition could also play a role (e4, e9, e11). E6 thereby highlighted that capacity building at the local level is much more important than providing technical assistance. This is especially important since capacities at the local level in Kalimantan seem to be limited (e8). Support could also come in data provision, statistics, personnel training, raising awareness (e4), or research and provision of academic findings (e5). E4 even stated that provincial or local governments in Indonesia actually expect support from the international community to facilitate a coal transition. International support could also be provided for handling larger shares of RES in the electricity grid (e9), for reskilling coal workers, or by providing education (e11). E5 stated that the MEMR has a keen interest in phasing-out coal and that international support could facilitate decision-making and strengthen decision-makers confidence to pursue a coal transition. Several interviewees stated that international support by developed states is a moral responsibility (e6, e10, e11).

Lastly, the interviewees suggested further interventions or instruments which could enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan. E7 mentioned that when coal plants are shut down, some of the existing infrastructure could be used for renewable energy projects. E7 further mentioned that existing coal plants could potentially be retrofitted to utilise biomass, natural gas, or hydrogen. E8 further stresses that the regulated electricity tariff for PLN poses a significant barrier to changing their strategy on CFPP. E11 highlighted that the land use in Indonesia needs to be monitored more effectively to understand how and where land is used for coal mining and emphasises that digital tools could enable this. Further, e11 argues that the capacity of the corruption eradication commission needs to be strengthened and that citizen groups could be included to monitor corruption at the local level. However, these citizen groups would also have to be protected by the corruption eradication commission (e11).

As stated at the beginning of this chapter, Table 6, which is presented below, provides a summary of the results from the interviews. Table 6 focuses on the responses by interviewees to the proposed institutional interventions and highlights the expected political feasibility and effectiveness of the proposed institutional interventions.

Level of Insti- tutions	Proposed Institutional Interventions in Interviews	Further responses by interviewees regarding proposed institutional interventions	Expected Political Feasibility & Effectiveness of proposed institutional interventions
LI	Changes on the Embeddedness Level	 Increasing awareness for needed decarbonization, local pollution, and environmental issues Providing education on climate change Increasing knowledge of RES Fostering citizen participation Providing alternative employment opportunities Increasing international pressure Strong influence of market dynamics Strong political leadership required 	 Low awareness of key stakeholders for needed decarbonization Relocation of Indonesia capital could spur debate around economic restructuring in Kalimantan
L2	Implementing an Independent Regulator	 Opportunity to create a level playing field Possible reduction of barriers for RES Implementing a task force might be more effective than an independent regulator 	 Low political feasibility Requires political legitimacy and independence Effectiveness dependant on roles, responsibility, autonomy, and scope of authority
	Implementing stricter Environmental Regulations	 Increasing law enforcement Increasing transparency and monitoring of compliance Monitoring of compliance by civil society Facilitating protection of civil society for increasing citizen participation 	Low / no effectiveness due to non-adherence and lobbying efforts
	Allocation of Mining Permits	 Strengthening regulations and increasing transparency to reduce illegal mining Local leadership required to foster a coal transition if decentralized mining allocation remains 	• Decentralized mining permit allocation has shifted corrupt practices to the provincial level, posing a greater barrier to a coal transition
	Corruption Reduction	 Increasing transparency, law enforcement, and the quality of the legal institutions Increasing public pressure 	Difficult to reduce due to entrenched and culturalized corrupt practices
	Reduction of illegal mining	 Reduction by providing alternative forms of economic development Increasing cooperation between stakeholders Increasing awareness of negative consequences of illegal mining 	 Rather low feasibility of increased monitoring Difficult to reduce illegal mining due to vested interest
L3	Compensation Schemes	 Compensation measures required for a successful coal transition Differing views on who should be compensated Compensation to reduce resistance of regime incumbents Compensation could be legally required for CCOWs or take-or-pay contracts Provision of employment development training 	 Compensation as wishful thinking if no empowerment of public society Difficulty compensating informal workers Problem of potential free riders
L4	Providing alternative forms of economic development	 Provision of alternative forms of economic development in affected regions Diversification of coal dependent economies Transitioning informal coal economy Fostering renewable energy markets 	 Limited local capacity and knowledge for developing development strategies National government to facilitate alternative forms of economic development
	Market Regulation,	• Partial restructuring of the electricity market possible	Difficult to liberalise or privatize electricity market

	Liberalisation, Privatisation	 Creation of separate entities of PLN responsible for generation, transmission, and distribution to increase transparency Market slowly opening to IPPs and liberalisation or deregulation is slowly gaining more interest 	 Indonesian constitution as main barrier for liberalisation Differing views on effectiveness Prevalent fossil fuel subsidies still extort market Risk of neglect of local communities and small islands Influence of PLN on policymaking due to dominant market position of PLN Vested interests hinder liberalisation
	Economic measures - Carbon Pricing, Subsidies & Taxes	 Redirecting revenues from carbon prices Increase transparency of distribution of revenues Establishing a tax revenue collecting system Gradually removing fossil fuel subsidies Compensation of affected and vulnerable groups from decreased fossil fuel subsidies FiTs effective for fostering rooftop PV Design and level of FiTs seems crucial Careful design and governance of emission or renewable portfolio standards required 	 Carbon pricing seems feasible but current level seems too low Pilot project for a cap-and-trade mechanism was deemed successful by government Monopolistic market structure, resistance from PLN and industry, and lobbying could render carbon pricing ineffectual Political difficulty of raising electricity prices and reducing fossil fuel subsidies FiTs seem feasible, but uncertainty over costs as barrier Possible non-adherence to emission or renewable portfolio standards
	Increased communication and cooperation	 Increased vertical and horizontal communication and cooperation between ministries, local, and national governments Implementation of a task force 	• Lack of communication between ministries hindering a coal transition
General	Finance	 International community to financially support coal transition Lowering interest rates by providing institutional certainty International finance for following a least cost principle for reducing GHGE Fostering divestments from coal projects Implementing standards and requirements for investments in renewable energy projects Establish an energy transition fund 	 Flow of finance to most profitable, and not most socially beneficial projects Unlikely to implement a polluter-pays-principle
	International assistance	 Support for retiring coal plants Support for designing policy reforms Support for knowledge and capacity building Further technical support required 	 International support expected by provincial and local governments Interest of MEMR to phase-out coal, but international support could foster decision-making
	Further interventions / instruments	 Use of existing infrastructure for development of renewable energy Retrofitting of coal plants Changing PLN's regulation of electricity tariffs More effective monitoring of land use Strengthen capacity of corruption eradication commission Protection of citizen groups for increasing citizen monitoring of local corruption 	-

Table 6: Summary of Results from Interviews

6 Discussion

This chapter discusses the results of the expert interviews and embeds them in the broader scientific literature presented in the previous chapters. This is conducted by discussing the implications for practice and, subsequently, the implications for research and theory. The societal relevance of the findings is discussed, research limitations addressed, and recommendations are provided for further research.

6.1 Implications for Practice

This chapter discusses the implications for practice of this research. As discussed in Chapter 1.1, the problem that this research addresses is the resistance of powerful actors in the political economy of coal in Indonesia towards a coal transition in South Kalimantan. The research question of this research is: *How can a coal transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia, be enabled by influencing actors in the Indonesian political economy of coal through institutional interventions?*

As discussed in Chapter 5.1.1, this research adopts the view that institutional interventions should be pursued which are politically feasible and that the social optimum should merely serve as a benchmark (see Biber et al., 2017; Brauers & Oei, 2020; Jakob et al., 2020). In the political economy of coal in Indonesia, which is marked by a high degree of vested interests, those interventions are likely to be adopted which serve the interests of the most powerful actors and do not harm the interests of powerful actors (see Jakob et al., 2020; Ordonez et al., 2021; Yudha et al., 2018).

Furthermore, as discussed previously, Atteridge et al. (2018) conclude in their study on the political economy of coal in Indonesia that "[t]he fundamental structures of the system that triggered such rapid growth in coal production over the last decade remain relatively unchanged" (p.25). They further highlight that corruption is widespread, politicians have vested and financial interests in mining activities, mining management and oversight are weak, and the overarching goal of the Indonesian government is to increase domestic coal demand.

As discussed in Chapter 2.2.6, insights from the study of complex systems, systems thinking, and especially systems archetypes can provide valuable insights for intervening in complex systems, such as the political economy of coal. In addition, the study of institutions can be seen as a form of delineating systems into subsystems and identifying relationships between elements of systems and other systems. Three systems archetypes were presented in Chapter 2.2.6. Policy resistance occurs when actors resist policies which could harm their interests. A solution to this situation is to seek ways to realise the actors' goals in a mutually satisfactory way. Given the theoretical assumption from NIE, as discussed in Chapter 2.2.5., that individuals aim to maximise their utility and that institutions structure the interaction of individuals (see North, 1986, Williamson, 2000), it seems that mutually satisfactory results for actors can be expected when their aim of maximising their utility is fulfilled, or at least not harmed. The *Tragedy of the Commons*, the second archetype, could be overcome by educating the resource users to enhance their understanding of potentially negative consequences, privatising the resource, or regulating access. The third archetype, rule beating, which can be seen in corrupt practices in the Indonesian coal sector, could be overcome by ensuring that the consequences of the rule beating serve the purpose of the rule itself.

In the following, the results of the expert interviews will be discussed, embedded into the scientific literature, and complemented with insights from NIE and systems thinking. In general, the interviews' results complement the scientific literature findings on the drivers for the current dominance of coal in Indonesia, which were presented in Chapter 4.4.3. The aspect of vested interests and the influence on

the coal sector was also stated by interviewees, which complements the findings from the literature, and provides further justification for the scope of this research.

Further barriers to the expansion of RES largely complemented the findings from the literature. However, one aspect not mentioned previously was the issue that decreasing prices of RES in the future could make coal uncompetitive, which could lead to an oversupply of cheap coal which then floods the market. As suggested by one interviewee, an international carbon price would be required to prevent this.

The expert interviews provided valuable insights into potential factors which could influence the current course of the Indonesian government for coal mining and the expansion of CFPP. Most importantly, market forces were deemed influential, especially related to declining costs of RES and reduced international coal demand. In addition, several interviewees stated that increased awareness of both the public and key decision-makers of climate change and environmental damage from coal-related practices could drive a coal transition. This closely aligns with results from the interviews for possibilities to intervene on the embeddedness level (L1) of the Williamson framework. Increasing awareness, providing education on climate change, citizen engagement, the influence of voters on political processes, and strong political leadership could exert influence on the political economy of coal. Interviewees suggested international pressure and international financial and technical support for enabling this. This could be conducted by international organisations, such as the UNDP, the World Bank, or the ADB, by firstly assisting but also by divesting from coal projects. NGOs could further aid in raising awareness and providing education in South Kalimantan on climate change and environmental impacts. However, as presented in Chapter 5.1.3, coal is framed in the narrative of the Indonesian coal sector as an abundantly available and cheap national capital to alleviate poverty, provide public infrastructure, and provide energy security and energy access. Electricity from RES is mostly considered for off-grid systems. This highlights the need to support the deployment of cheap, reliable, and secure RES to provide alternative forms of energy for meeting the demand and for providing energy access and -security. International organisations could further aid in this by providing financial and also technical assistance since especially capacities and knowledge on the local level are limited. However, from the perspective of NIE, institutions on L1 change slowly and often noncalculative (see Williamson, 2000). Changes in these beliefs can either be realised through internal or external pressure. External pressure could come from international organisations or climate agreements, such as COP26 or the Powering Past Coal Alliance. Importantly, Indonesia declared in the COP26 statement that Indonesia would "consider accelerating coal phase out into the 2040s, conditional on agreeing additional international financial and technical assistance" (UNFCCC, 2021, Section: Statement supported by:), as discussed in Chapter 1. This further emphasises the results from the expert interviews that some actors in provincial or local governments in Indonesia expect support from the international community to facilitate a coal transition.

In conclusion, international support in terms of financial and technical assistance for managing a coal transition seems vital for changing institutions on the embeddedness level. Further influence can be exerted by educational programs and by raising awareness in affected regions. International organisations can play a vital role in facilitating this in South Kalimantan. In addition, from a systems thinking perspective, education of the local population regarding the consequences of coal extractions, especially illegal mining, could aid in counteracting the Tragedy of the Commons. Furthermore, increasing awareness at the public level might even strengthen the feedback loop between the public and the political system. When politicians realise that climate and environmental issues are gaining importance to the electorate, changes in political practices might occur, or new political parties might emerge that challenge the existing regime. The international community can further influence the coal transition in Indonesia by interventions aimed at reducing global costs of RES, such as supporting

research and development, providing subsidies, or by other regulations to support the deployment of RES. This would reduce global costs, which could influence the energy market in Indonesia and South Kalimantan.

Results from the interviews regarding institutional interventions on L2 of the Williamson scheme complement findings from literature but also provide additional insights. The feasibility of implementing an independent regulator seems rather low. Different responsibilities of already existing ministries and their boundaries seem to make the implementation of an independent regulator difficult. Challenges associated with ensuring legitimacy, defining its roles, responsibilities, and scope of authority exist. These challenges complement the findings from Chapter 5.1.4.2 (see Biber et al., 2017; Lamb & Minx, 2020). The risk of the *climate mafia* in Indonesia taking control of the independent regulator seems given. A dedicated task force dealing with issues of coal transitions might be more suitable. However, similar challenges exist regarding the implementation of a task force. In conclusion, the political feasibility and effectiveness of implementing an independent regulator for advancing a coal transition seem rather low. Implementing a task force could be advisable, but independence and legitimacy would have to be ensured.

Similarly, the results from the interviews suggest that implementing further environmental regulations seems rather ineffective. Lobbying could reduce the scope of regulations, proposed regulations are often not implemented, or regulations are simply circumvented. Instead, strengthening law enforcement, increasing transparency, and enabling adequate monitoring of practices in the coal sector seem more effective. However, capacities for these measures are rather low at the local level. National support from the Indonesian government or support from international organisations could improve capacities for implementing these measures at the provincial level in South Kalimantan. Furthermore, an increasingly informed and active society could exert pressure on politics or even monitor environmental regulation adherence. However, due to existing risks and threats from armed forces for voicing opinions related to coal mining operations or corruption, governmental support for promoting a secure environment for citizen engagement would need to be ensured.

These measures could also enable improved mining site restorations. Politicians could be incentivised to increase mining site restorations due to increasing concerns over these issues from the local population in Kalimantan, as discussed in Chapter 4.4.3, which could otherwise negatively affect political popularity.

The interviews' results complement the literature findings that the fiscal and administrative decentralisation process has led to a rapid increase in coal mining. As interviewees stated, the decentralisation process does not necessarily hinder a coal transition, but much depends on the local leadership and the commitment to environmental issues. Findings from the literature further suggest establishing accountability and reinforcing monitoring mechanisms for decentralised permit allocation to reduce corrupt practices in the mining sector (see Faisal, 2015).

Results from the interviews suggested similarly that corrupt practices and illegal mining could be reduced by increasing transparency, increasing law enforcement, increasing cooperation between affected stakeholders to foster an understanding of the negative impacts of these practices, and increasing awareness of these issues. Importantly, providing alternative means for economic development could further reduce illegal mining. However, difficulties arise from the deeply rooted and *entrenched* practices of corruption which have trickled down from the dictatorship and have become *culturalized* in certain areas, as interviewees stated. Efforts by the Corruption Eradication Commission could be enhanced to fight corruption in South Kalimantan. In addition, pressure from the public society and public opinion could help to reduce corruption. However, threats by armed militia increase the risk

of publicly denouncing corruption. Strong political leadership and the provision of a more secure environment could aid in fostering broader civil engagement to reduce corruption.

Systems Thinking and the systems archetypes of *Policy Resistance* and *Rule Beating* can provide valuable insights in this regard. From the perspective of policy resistance, institutional interventions would have to be defined which serve the actors' interests in a mutually satisfactory way. One way this could be achieved in the coal mining sector in South Kalimantan would be to provide alternative forms of economic development. This could be, for example, in the transportation or manufacturing sector. Especially manufacturing of products for RES could provide employment opportunities and generate provincial and local economic development opportunities. Actors in the associated coal industries could be less resistant to institutional interventions when their interest in maximising or satisfying their utility is fulfilled. The same could be applied to the system archetype of rule beating. If the economy in South Kalimantan would move toward a non-fossil fuel-based economy, the creative energy of rule beating and corruption (see Meadows, 2008) could be shifted to a non-fossil fuel-based economy. Corruption would likely still exist, but its occurrence could still contribute to the overarching goal of reducing GHGE by reducing coal consumption.

This section addresses L3 of the Williamson scheme, which deals with compensation. Firstly, following the logic of the systems archetypes, compensation to affected actors from a coal transition could provide a way to reduce the expected policy resistance. This also aligns with insights from the literature on political economy, as discussed in Chapter 5.1.5. In addition, the results from the interview suggest that compensation should be paid in the context of a coal transition in South Kalimantan. Compensation could be paid to employees in the coal sector, owners of CFPP, coal mining companies, local communities, and low-income households. The compensation of coal mining companies and owners of CFPP remains disputable in terms of environmental justice and from a polluter pays principle, but seems to be required in terms of political economy aspects for ensuring buy-in and support of powerful actors in the coal sector. Especially CCOWs for coal mining companies and take-or-pay contracts with IPPs could provide a legal entitlement for compensation in case of a coal transition. Compensation does not necessarily have to be provided monetarily to affected workers but could also be provided in terms of employee development training. This complements findings from Caldecott et al. (2017) on coal transitions, as discussed in Chapter 5.1.5, whereby former coal workers might be in a more favourable situation after development training than merely receiving financial compensation. However, the authors also highlight that coal workers often prefer direct financial payments. Therefore, it seems important for compensation schemes to consider these aspects and find ways to convince coal workers that employee development training for other forms of work might be more favourable. Considerations of a managed retreat whereby workers are relocated to different regions in closer proximity to alternative forms of employment, as discussed in Chapter 5.1.5, were not mentioned by interviewees and are deemed unfeasible for South Kalimantan due to the loss of social identity and expected resistance from stakeholders in South Kalimantan.

The provision of alternative forms of economic development closely aligns with the aspect of compensation. The findings from the literature suggest that this poses one of the biggest challenges for coal transitions (see Brauers et al., 2020; Diluiso et al., 2021). As discussed in Chapter 5.1.6.1, the provision of transport infrastructure, the establishment of a renewable energy sector, including solar, wind, and potentially green hydrogen or also natural gas (even though not deemed a RES), the co-development of RES and energy-intensive industries provision, and the provision of educational opportunities, such as universities, could provide alternative forms of economic development. Interviewees suggested that alternative means for economic development could also come from ecotourism or the establishment of game reserves. These measures would require close collaboration between ministries, provincial, and district governments in Indonesia (see Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019).

The results from the interviews suggest similarly that the aspect of providing alternative forms of economic development is of crucial importance for affected regions. Interestingly, one interviewee stated that provincial and municipal governments often do not have the capacity and knowledge to develop strategies for alternative forms of economic development. This indicates that further support from the national government or the international community could support developing strategies for creating alternative forms of economic development.

The interviews and the literature findings indicate that deregulation, liberalisation, or privatisation of the electricity sector could reduce the influence of vested interests, increase the competitiveness of RES, and accelerate a coal transition. However, it seems unlikely that the electricity sector would be fully liberalised or privatised due to the narrow interpretation of the constitution. Partial steps could be taken, as already seen in the generation of electricity, or separate entities of PLN could be created to increase transparency. Findings from literature further suggest that the MoF and the MOEF would have to be consolidated with the MSOE to successfully reform PLN or that the incentive system of PLN would have to be changed to make RES more attractive (Ordonez et al., 2021; see also Bridle et al., 2018). In addition, the powerful influence which PLN exerts on policymaking makes these steps rather unrealistic. However, interviewees suggest that the possibility of reforming PLN is gaining interest or that PLN is already considering reforming itself.

In conclusion, it seems unlikely that the electricity sector could be fully liberalised or privatised. Creating separate entities of PLN responsible for generation, transmission, and distribution could increase transparency. Partial reform could be gaining momentum. However, for coal to be phased-out successfully, further interventions would be required to make RES more competitive for the generation of electricity. Challenges would still exist since the entities responsible for transmission and distribution would be interested in receiving energy sources from the generation that do not threaten grid stability (see Ialnazov & Keeley, 2020). Further measures would be required to ensure grid stability, such as grid interconnection with East- or Central Kalimantan, improving grid management or increasing storage capacities for intermittent RES.

The introduction of carbon pricing seems likely in Indonesia and is already underway. However, carbon pricing seems rather ineffective in combination with the monopolistic structure of the electricity sector to phase-out coal. The interviews have shown that resistance from industry, PLN, and households can be expected, which complements the findings from the literature. Compensating these actors could ensure support, but lobbying efforts could reduce the effectiveness of carbon pricing. However, an initially low carbon tax could also be steadily increased (see Biber et al., 2017).

The results from the interviews suggest that decreasing fossil fuel subsidies remains challenging and unlikely, especially due to the political difficulty of raising electricity prices and existing vested interests. Increasing subsidies for RES, such as FiTs, seems likely and could drive the expansion of RES. Findings from the literature on FiTs provide valuable additional insights. Research has shown that FiTs might be a more suitable option for supporting decentralised electricity generation, such as rooftop solar PV. Setting FiTs at an adequate rate remains challenging and must be carefully designed (see Bridle et al., 2018). FiTs could be met by resistance by actors with a vested interest in coal, which might need to be compensated (see Ordonez et al. 2021). Further issues which would need to be addressed, which include: reducing the complexity of governance structures, increasing knowledge on the community level of RES, increasing coordination between related organisations (see Yuliani, 2017), and providing institutional certainty (see Ordonez et al., 2021).

The findings from the literature provide ample recommendations for expanding the share of RES in Indonesia, more specifically in South Kalimantan. General measures include: reducing regulatory requirements, removing protectionist barriers, and introducing reverse auction processes and other

market instruments, such as introducing carbon pricing or subsidy reform. For the case of South Kalimantan, solar PV, wind, and biomass were identified as suitable options for RES (see Riva & Vestarchi, 2019). Investments, foreign and domestic, could be directed to support these energy sources. Additional support can be provided for identifying appropriate sites for developing renewable energy projects with expected high yields (see Bridle et al., 2017). In addition, renewable portfolio standards tend to favour large, centralised generation (see Biber et al., 2017). Renewable portfolio standards could therefore play a role in expanding wind power in South Kalimantan. The results from the interviews have shown that renewable portfolio standards are currently included in the planning process, which indicates that this intervention could be implemented. However, the phrasing from *new energy* to *renewable energy* would have to be ensured. Furthermore, interviewees believed that emission standards are especially prone to non-adherence.

The interviews' results complement the literature findings that increased cooperation and a multi-level governance approach would be required to facilitate a coal transition in South Kalimantan. Especially actors at the provincial or local level in South Kalimantan should be included in energy planning, and a bottom-up approach should be facilitated (Setyowati & Quist, 2022; see also Caldecott et al., 2017; Marquardt, 2014). Increased cooperation between ministries would also be required. Implementing a task force responsible for coordinating a coal transition could be required to bridge communication. Especially civil engagement could aid in creating support and momentum, but civil engagement of local actors in South Kalimantan is limited in energy planning (see Setyowati & Quist, 2022). International organisations and NGOs could facilitate broader engagement of civil society.

Further investments into other technological solutions were covered in Chapter 5.1.6.5. Investments in natural gas or nuclear energy, even though not RES, could facilitate phasing-out coal with lower GHGE. Investments into CCT would be required to reduce GHGE from CFPP and present a viable and feasible intermediate solution. Additionally, investments for improving the energy efficiency of CFPP and investments in CCS could further reduce GHGE.

The issue of rationing, bans, or moratoria was not discussed in the expert interviews. However, as discussed in Chapter 5.1.6.6, the Indonesian government has made many announcements, such as moratoria or production caps, but these were often not implemented as intended or codified into regulation (see Atteridge et al., 2017). This indicates that more political commitment would be required to pursue these institutional interventions further. Without political commitment and further compensatory measures, these interventions seem politically unfeasible.

This section addresses the aspect of financing. Experts stated that the source of finance could be from the government, the international community, coal mining companies, or operators of CFPP. From a polluter pays principle and environmental justice perspective, making coal mining companies or operators of CFPP pay for part of the transition could make sense. However, from a pollitical economy perspective, this seems unfeasible in Indonesia. The results from the expert interviews largely complement the findings from the literature. The aspect of financing seems to be of crucial importance to bear the costs of a coal transition. The results, in general, indicate that the international community can contribute greatly through financial support. This could even be an economically efficient way to reduce global GHGE. From an ethical perspective, as discussed in Chapter 5.1.7., more developed states could have an ethical responsibility to support climate change mitigation in less developed states. However, in practice, this seems challenging. In addition, some mechanisms would be potentially required to ensure that international finance is directed to the dedicated purposes and is not redirected by corrupt politicians. As one interviewee suggested, establishing a dedicated fund for a coal transition would be advisable.

6.2 Implications for Theory and Research

This chapter discusses the implications for theory of this research. This thesis aims to contribute to the understanding of how institutions influence the behaviour of actors, and institutional interventions could influence actors towards enabling a coal transition. This research thereby used the theory of NIE and the Williamson framework as a theoretical framework. The four levels of the Williamson framework provided structure and guidance for possible institutional interventions. In addition, the Williamson framework fostered the understanding of the dependencies of institutional interventions, their relationship, and their frequency of change. In addition, to the best of the knowledge of the responsible researchers, the Williamson framework seems to have not been used for the analysis of coal transitions before. This thesis thereby contributed to a further understanding of the role of institutions and institutional development in the research field of coal transitions. The research has shown that the Williamson framework alone does not suffice in exploring possible institutional interventions for coal transitions. As stated above, the Williamson framework only provides structure, guidance, and an enhanced understanding of institutional dependencies for possible institutional interventions. For an indepth and comprehensive identification of possible institutional interventions, further insights from different sources must be considered. The additional sources for this research included academic articles related to coal transitions, the political economy of coal- and energy transitions, and context-specific information regarding the political economy of coal in South Kalimantan and Indonesia. This research thereby contributes to the theory of NIE by demonstrating the usefulness of the Williamson framework for the analysis of institutions. Furthermore, this research highlighted the importance of changing L1 institutions. The research has shown that, especially in the case of political economy considerations, the norms, beliefs, and values of responsible decision-makers for changing institutions must change, before lower levels of institutions can be effectively altered. This is especially relevant for cases in which strong vested interest influence decision-making.

As discussed in Chapter 2.2.5, NIE applied to politics is synonymous with Political Economy. However, the application of NIE to politics is not straightforward. As stated above, for identifying possible, and more importantly, politically feasible, institutional interventions, context-specific information regarding the political economy of the sector under investigation is necessary for an in-depth and comprehensive understanding. The 'Analytical Framework for Understanding the Political Economy of Sectors and Policy Arenas' from Field Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005) provided useful guidance for identifying relevant factors influencing the political economy of coal for this research. This thesis, therefore, contributes to the scientific community by providing the first study combining the analytical framework from Moncrieffe and Luttrell (2005) with the Williamson framework (Williamson, 2000) - to the best of the knowledge of the responsible researcher. In addition, combining these frameworks seems to enable an in-depth and comprehensive political economic analysis of sectors, with the subsequent identification of possible institutional interventions.

Furthermore, the results of this thesis confirm the need to focus on politically feasible institutional interventions, as argued by Jakob et al. (2020), Ordonez et al. (2021), Biber et al. (2017), and Brauers and Oei (2020). As argued by Ordonez et al. (2021), the effectiveness of interventions in the energy sector depends on the extent to which the influence of the coal lobby can be reduced or to which extent interventions harm public and private actors with interests in the political economy of coal. The results of this research confirm this and highlight the need to take the reality of the political economy of sectors into account for any intended interventions.

In addition, this research provides further insights into the field of transition theory. In particular, the results from the interviews and the findings from the literature emphasise the validity of the MLP from Geels & Schot (2007). The changes on the embeddedness level (L1) of the Williamson framework closely align with the concept of sociotechnical landscape changes from the MLP. These landscape

pressures could be achieved by increasing public awareness and providing education related to climate change and environmental issues. According to the MLP, the landscape could exert pressure on the sociotechnical regime to advance transitions. In addition, the results of the interviews also confirm the importance of niche innovations, as proclaimed in the MLP, to drive transitions. Even though it can be argued that RES are not necessarily regarded as niche innovations in most developed countries, they seem to be rather neglected in Indonesia and mostly seen as off-grid solutions (see Marquardt, 2014). This research further contributes to studies expanding on the MLP by including aspects of political economy into the regime level, addressing actors, power distribution, economics, politics, culture, and discourses (see Avelino & Rotmans, 2009; Avelino & Wittmayer, 2016; Geels, 2014; Sovacool & Brisbois, 2019). This research highlights the importance of acknowledging power dynamics and vested interests and proposes that interventions should focus on political feasibility and that the political economy of sectors must be carefully analysed for proposing interventions. The political reality of sectors must be acknowledged for transitions to occur.

6.3 Reflection on Societal Relevance

This chapter addresses the societal relevance of this research. The need to mitigate climate change by mitigating the emission of GHG is eminent. Especially for Indonesia, which is expected to become the fourth-largest economy in the world by 2050 (IEA, 2021a), continuing population growth, economic growth, and structural changes toward more energy-intensive industries pose a significant challenge for meeting a continually increasing energy demand. Further planned investments and expansion of CFPP undermine the announced ambitions to achieve net-zero by 2060 and could result in an exacerbated structural and institutional lock-in of the existing coal-dependent electricity sector. The archipelago of Indonesia is expected to be especially affected by climate change due to rising sea levels.

The strong dependence of South Kalimantan on coal poses a significant challenge to a coal transition. The coal sector was responsible for 18.8% of the provincial GDP in 2017 (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019). Any efforts to phase-out coal must therefore be accompanied by structural changes in South Kalimantan to provide alternative forms of economic development to provide long-term well-being and prosperity. This thesis highlighted the need to take these considerations into account and provided suggestions to achieve a *just transition*.

Furthermore, this thesis highlighted the need for additional investments and stressed the ethical responsibilities which lie with more developed states to provide financial aid to Indonesia to enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan. This is especially apparent since the more developed states have mostly benefitted from the extraction and exploitation of fossil fuels, such as coal, but the burden of this exploitation lies mostly with less developed states, primarily in the Global South.

In conclusion, this research is of significant societal relevance due to the possibility of its results contributing to the mitigation of climate change, ensuring a just transition, and highlighting global inequalities and the need for more developed states to meet their ethical responsibilities towards less developed states who face challenges with climate change mitigation and adaptation.

6.4 Research Limitations

This chapter addresses the main research limitations of this thesis. Firstly, the most eminent research limitation is the limited scope of available literature on the topic in English or German. More research could have already been conducted on the topic in different languages, which the author of this thesis does not speak or can read. Especially literature in Bahasar Indonesia could have already covered the topic from similar perspectives. In addition, the data collected from the literature review and desk study for the political economic analysis may not sufficiently give insights into informal knowledge and information regarding the political economy of coal in South Kalimantan. Further informal knowledge

could have been collected by expert interviews for the analysis part of this research. However, it could have been difficult to extract this informal knowledge from expert interviews due to the topic's sensitivity. In addition, as discussed in Chapter 2.3., research has already been conducted on the political economy of coal in Indonesia with extensive expert interviews covering these aspects (see Jakob et al., 2020; Ordonez et al., 2021). Nevertheless, further expert interviews, especially with actors from South Kalimantan, could provide further insights into the political economy of coal in South Kalimantan.

The second research limitation lies in the recommendations for institutional interventions. The responsible researcher of this thesis does not have an in-depth understanding of the situation in the different responsible organisations where the institutional interventions would have to be implemented. However, the extent of this research limitation was reduced by conducting expert interviews with a wide range of interviewees from different backgrounds and with a more comprehensive understanding of the real-life situation in South Kalimantan and Indonesia. Furthermore, the institutional interventions merely provide indications of possible interventions. A more comprehensive design and evaluation of the proposed institutional interventions is required.

The third research limitation refers to the focus on institutional interventions. As Ostrom (2005) states, institutions are only one factor influencing human behaviour, and there are further factors influencing how humans interact in given situations, such as biological features and genes. However, as discussed in Chapter 2.2.5, the theory of institutions, especially NIE, aims to understand how different rules affect human behaviour. This is especially relevant for this thesis since coal transitions, as discussed in Chapter 2.1.2., are heavily driven by policies. This thesis adopts the view that policies are part of institutions. This thesis aims to provide explanations of how a coal transition can be enabled by institutions. However, as stated, further factors could influence coal transitions.

A further research limitation is that the institutional interventions are mostly developed for the short- to medium-term future. Further considerations on how these institutional interventions would have to be adapted over time are not within this thesis's scope.

6.5 Further Research

This chapter provides suggestions for further research. Firstly, as addressed in the previous chapter, this thesis mainly explored and developed recommendations for institutional interventions for the short- to medium-term future. Several researchers emphasise the need for adaptive management in the case of policies (see Biber et al., 2017; Caldecott et al., 2017; Gawel et al., 2017). Further research would need to address implications which could arise from the proposed institutional interventions and how these might be addressed in the future. For example, Biber et al. (2017) highlight that FiTs could become too costly at some point and do not deliver the efficient expansion of RES as intended. They emphasise that the introduction of FiTs might even lead to the emergence of new interest groups, now in favour of maintaining FiTs for their interests. This could even lead to similar lock-in problems as currently experienced with the coal industry and infrastructure (see also Gawel et al., 2017). Further research is therefore vital to consider the long-term implications of institutional interventions and to explore how these can be adapted to new circumstances.

As Caldecott et al. (2017) indicate, further research in the context of coal transitions should explore how *key actors* can be convinced of the importance of anticipating and preparing for coal transitions. This is especially relevant for the political economy of coal in South Kalimantan and Indonesia more broadly. Furthermore, this seems especially challenging given the decentralised decision-making process in Indonesia, where multiple actors influence decision-making.

Further research could also investigate the required investments accompanying the proposed institutional interventions. What are the associated costs for the coal transition? How can these costs be

distributed? How can it be ensured that investments for specific purposes are used for the intended purposes? How can it be ensured that these investments are not redirected to corrupt individuals? These questions are of vital interest for future developments in South Kalimantan.

Similarly, more research would need to be conducted to explore alternative pathways for economic development in South Kalimantan. As discussed in Chapter 2.1.2, the dependency of regions on coal acts as one of the main barriers to coal transitions. This thesis has briefly touched upon alternative pathways for economic development, but further research would have to be conducted to assess the suitability and feasibility of different pathways. This research could also address the most suitable way to aid the workforce transitioning to new employment opportunities, in the sense of possible training, financial aid, or further education opportunities. Further research would also need to be conducted to address ways to deal with free-riders which could emerge from compensation measures and companies postponing decisions on plant and mine closures by anticipating compensation or for financial support.

Further research could also be conducted to model the proposed institutional interventions. Ostrom (2005) suggests using models, such as experimentation and simulation, game theory, or mathematical models.

7 Conclusion

This chapter presents the conclusion of this research and answers the research questions. The SRQs are presented first before answering the main research question. Recommendations for institutional interventions are given, and an outlook is presented.

7.1 Answers to the Research Questions

7.1.1 Answer to the first Sub Research Question

The first SRQ aims to explore how historical and foundational factors influence the political economy of coal in South Kalimantan, Indonesia. The results from the expert interviews complement the findings from the literature. Several historical factors influence the coal sector in South Kalimantan, such as the colonial influence and interest in the extraction of coal, the re-allocation of property rights for local resources from local communities to the central government and the establishment of licensing requirements, a possible emergence of coal nationalism as part of a postcolonial identity, the introduction of law No. 11/1967 in the 1960s under President Suharto which allowed foreign investments in mining, and the fiscal and administrative decentralisation of the licensing process which has led to a drastic increase of coal mining. In addition, interviewees stated that corrupt practices have culturalized after the dictatorship in Indonesia. Several foundational factors also influence the coal sector in South Kalimantan, such as the natural abundance of coal in South Kalimantan and other provinces, the decentralised nature of the coal licensing process, which has led to rampant corruption, the vast size of Indonesia and its population with its different geographies and legislative environments which could make phasing-out coal more difficult, the economic dependency of South Kalimantan on coal, the social identity of communities dependent on coal, the limited awareness of Indonesia's population on climate change and environmental issues, and the monopolistic market structure of the electricity sector. In conclusion, historical and foundational factors strongly influence the coal sector in South Kalimantan and make a coal transition extremely challenging. These factors created a strong technological and institutional lock-in, which fostered the emergence of a political economy with vested interest aimed at continuing the status quo for economic and political interests.

7.1.2 Answer to the second Sub Research Question

The second SRQ aims to explore how relevant actors and institutions influence the political economy of coal in South Kalimantan, Indonesia? The case study has revealed that relevant actors have different relationships and influence the coal sector to a varying degree. The greatest influence lies within the presidency and the parliament, which seem to have a political interest in maintaining low electricity prices, providing public infrastructure, providing energy access and -security, and increasing the state budget. Research suggests that vested interest in parliament and close ties to the fossil fuel industry exist, and RES are generally less supported by the parliament. PLN has a strong position and seems to influence policymaking significantly. The different ministries involved in energy planning and existing institutions influence the political economy of coal to a varying degree. PLN has a strong interest in coal and the monopolistic position of PLN is regarded as a main barrier to the development of RES. The coal industry has an interest in coal extraction for economic gains and poses as a powerful actor, influencing policymaking through lobbying or financially supporting election campaigns. The coal industry is further closely linked to provincial and regional actors by providing economic opportunities. Communities, development partners, and NGOs do not carry much political influence, but growing environmental concerns and associated political conflicts could indicate that some local community views on coal are changing due to efforts from development partners and NGOs. In general, strong ties

and vested interests exist between actors in the political economy of coal, which strongly influence policymaking and could hinder a coal transition.

The second part of the second SRQ aims at exploring the influence of institutions on the coal sector in South Kalimantan. Important formal institutions include the constitution, CCOWs, the Mining Law of 2009, Domestic Market Obligations, highly regulated electricity tariffs, the price cap for coal, and higher interest rates for renewable energy projects. Informal institutions include the framing of coal as a national development capital, the possible emergence of a postcolonial identity, the aim to establish energy independence, the framing of the energy sector as not being important for climate change mitigation, and *symbolic* targets for RES. Informal corrupt practices are widespread, especially in the coal mining sector in Kalimantan, which further drives coal extraction. In conclusion, the institutional environment in the coal mining and electricity sector created a strong institutional lock-in which is exacerbated by the political narrative of coal being a national development capital and the emergence of a coal nationalism. This seems especially evident in the province of South Kalimantan due to the strong contribution of coal to the provincial GDP.

7.1.3 Answer to the third Sub Research Question

The third SRQ aims at exploring what institutional interventions could influence the political economy of coal to enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia. This SRQ was answered by conducting a literature review on several topics, including coal transitions, the political economy of coal transitions and decarbonisation, and the energy and coal transition in Indonesia and South Kalimantan. In addition, the expert interviews provided further input for possible interventions which could enable a coal transition. Possible formal institutional interventions include international climate agreements, the creation of an independent regulator, environmental regulations, changing the allocation of mining permits, providing compensation schemes, providing alternative means for economic development, restructuring the electricity market, introducing carbon pricing, reforming energy subsidies, introducing emission or renewable portfolio standards, (re)introducing FiTs, attracting investments into other technological solutions, implementing measures for rationing or banning, or introducing moratoria. Informal institutional interventions could include increasing awareness of climate change and environmental issues among key stakeholders and the local population in South Kalimantan, increasing citizen engagement, fostering the emergence of new actors aimed at disrupting the current regime, fostering the influence of voters on political processes, and fostering strong political leadership.

7.1.4 Answer to the Main Research Question

Lastly, this section aims to answer the main research question by synthesising the findings from the research. The main research question is: *How can a coal transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia, be enabled by influencing actors in the Indonesian political economy through institutional interventions?* The first aspect which needs to be considered is that this research aims to develop institutional interventions that are politically feasible given the current political economy of coal in South Kalimantan. Several of the above-mentioned possible institutional interventions for enabling a coal transition would simply not be politically feasible. Any institutional intervention must consider the reality of vested interests, power dynamics, economic dependency, and technological and institutional lock-in of coal mining and CFPP.

Based on the theory of NIE, institutions emerge from the interaction between different levels of institutions. The Williamson framework serves as a theoretical framework to conceptualise different levels of institutions and their interaction. L1 institutions, such as norms, beliefs, and traditions around

coal, must change to effectively change institutions on lower levels. How can this be realised? Changes on this level must derive from an understanding of the reality of global developments and their impact on Indonesia. The threat of climate change, expected stronger international mitigation efforts, expected declining international coal demand, decreasing costs of RES, reduced international investment efforts into coal, and increasing awareness of citizens of climate change may increase the risk of further investing in coal mining and CFPP. Several studies have shown that the economic, social, and environmental costs of not being prepared for collapsing coal markets are high and the impact disruptive and that preparing for energy and coal transitions in advance could reduce social and economic costs (see Caldecott et al., 2017; Malahayati & Masui, 2021). Furthermore, as discussed in Chapter 2.1.2, research indicates that the economic and monetary benefit of limiting climate change by mitigation efforts can outweigh the cost of adaption (see Krupnick et al., 2000; Maddison, 1995). In addition, political conflict was already caused in East Kalimantan by the negative impacts of mining operations. This suggests a growing awareness of local communities of the detrimental impact of coal mining operations and highlights the need for politicians to consider these considerations. Results from interviews suggest that local opposition to coal projects in other regions of Indonesia is also increasing.

Which institutional interventions could influence the values, beliefs, and norms in the political economy of coal? Most importantly, results from the expert interviews suggest that market forces can play a vital role in this regard, either by decreased demand for coal, increasing costs for the extraction and combustion of coal, or decreasing costs for RES. Institutional interventions could therefore aim at influencing these forces by, for example, increasing research and development or subsidies into RES to reduce costs, countries reducing the import of coal to reduce the profitability of coal mining, countries increasing carbon pricing to increase the price for coal for further reducing demand or by increasing the costs of fuel for heavy machinery (since fuel costs make up the highest share of operating costs for coal mining). These institutional interventions for influencing market forces can directly be influenced by the international community. It must be highlighted, though, that some of these measures would be difficult to implement in some countries since measures, such as increasing carbon pricing, could also negatively influence the domestic economy of those countries. Results from the research have also shown that increased awareness of the public and key decision-makers of climate change and environmental damage from coal-related practices could drive a coal transition. Institutional interventions aimed at increasing awareness of the public could include providing further education on climate change or conducting campaigns for increasing awareness at the local level. International organisations, such as the UNDP, and other NGOs, especially local NGOs, could aid in these measures. Increasing public awareness can further influence political processes by creating a feedback loop through the process of elections in the democratic system of Indonesia. In addition, providing education on the negative impacts of coal mining is also seen as a solution to counteract the systems archetype of the Tragedy of the Commons (see Meadows, 2008). Raising awareness of the negative impacts of illegal mining, such as resource sterilisation which makes mining increasingly unprofitable and limits access to deeper coal reserves, could especially help reduce illegal coal mining. Increasing citizen engagement in public discussions surrounding coal mining and energy planning in South Kalimantan could further help to increase capacities at the provincial level to deal with the region's economic restructuring and aid in changing beliefs surrounding coal. However, civil engagement of local actors in South Kalimantan is limited in energy planning (see Setyowati & Quist, 2022). International organisations and NGOs could facilitate broader engagement of the civil society. As one interviewee stated, providing information to coal mining companies about expected declining international coal demand could further aid in changing their strategies. Educating decision-makers on the technical issues surrounding RES and the required measures to change the electricity system from CFPP to a system based on RES is required. In general, international technical assistance by relevant organisations can aid in many of these tasks. Especially since Indonesia declared in the COP26 statement that they would be Indonesia will "consider accelerating coal phase out into the 2040s, conditional on agreeing additional

international financial and technical assistance" (UNFCCC, 2021, Section: Statement supported by:), as discussed in Chapter 1.

The changing L1 institutions can enable the implementation of institutional interventions on L2 of the Williamson framework. Implementing an independent regulator seems unfeasible and ineffective. Further environmental regulations seem rather ineffective. Instead, other measures seem more effective, such as strengthening law enforcement, increasing transparency, and enabling adequate monitoring of practices in the coal sector. However, provincial capacities in South Kalimantan would need to be increased, either by international organisations or by national support. In addition, governmental support for promoting a secure environment for citizen engagement would need to be ensured to foster citizen engagement which could exert pressure on politics or even actively monitor adherence to environmental regulations.

The allocation of mining permits needs to be regulated more strictly by establishing accountability and reinforcing monitoring mechanisms. Increased awareness at the provincial level of the impact of unhinged mining practices on the environment and resource sterilisation and the impact on prospects can aid in reducing illegal mining and corrupt practices and potentially increasing political commitment to law enforcement. However, corrupt practices seem to be extremely difficult to eradicate, especially since these seem to have culturalized to some extent. Increased efforts by the Corruption Eradication Commission are required to fight corruption in South Kalimantan's coal mining sector. Civil engagement, backed by governmental support and strong political leadership, could exert public pressure to reduce corruption. Providing alternative means of economic development could reduce illegal mining and shift corruption to a non-fossil fuel-based economy, which could contribute to the overarching goal of climate change mitigation.

If laws are implemented on L2, and sufficient momentum is created through changes in L1 institutions, L3 institutional interventions can be more easily realised. These institutions refer mainly to contracts, specifically compensation contracts for affected stakeholders of the coal transition. Compensation can reduce policy resistance and can ensure the buy-in of influential actors who could otherwise oppose a coal transition. Compensation could be legally required for CCOWs or take-or-pay contracts between PLN and IPPs. Compensation to coal mining workers in terms of development training or education could be more beneficial for prospects than financial compensation. This also aligns with insights from the literature that coal transitions in CMEs might only be able to occur through extensively compensating for sunk assets and job losses (see Rentier et al., 2019).

Fostering alternative forms of economic development is crucial for South Kalimantan regarding a coal transition. Providing alternative forms of economic development could also aid in counteracting the systems archetype of Rule Beating by redirecting the creative energy of corrupt and lawless individuals towards the goal of climate change mitigation. This also aligns with the insight that institutional lock-ins can be overcome by shifting the lock-in to alternative modes of favouring powerful actors (see Seto et al., 2016). However, the capacity for coal exit and economic development strategies is limited in South Kalimantan and would require international and national support.

Complete liberalisation of the electricity sector seems unfeasible, but the creation of separate entities of SOEs responsible for generation, transmission, and distribution could increase transparency and could accelerate the deployment of RES. Interviewees suggest that the possibility of reforming PLN might be gaining momentum. For South Kalimantan, solar PV, either in large, centralised units or in rooftop PV, wind turbines, or biomass, would be the most suitable option for the development of RES. Especially, centralised units could reduce resistance from PLN since decentralised solutions, such as rooftop PV, could threaten their business models. However, rooftop PV would be ideally suited for rural areas in South Kalimantan. Further large-scale investments would be required to ensure grid

stability with higher shares of RES, such as grid interconnection with East- or Central Kalimantan, improving grid management or increasing storage capacities for intermittent RES. Further investments could also be made into CCT, CCS, and for increasing the efficiency of CFPP. Investments could come from international organisations since financial assistance for a coal transition in South Kalimantan could be an economically efficient solution to reduce GHGE.

Several market instruments, such as carbon pricing, subsidy reform, renewable portfolio standards, or FiTs, seem feasible and are already partially considered in current energy planning processes. However, their effectiveness remains questioned, especially with regard to lobbying efforts to keep carbon prices low and with regard to the market structure of the electricity market, whereby currently, competition is weak or even non-existent due to the monopolistic position of PLN. In addition, corruption and non-adherence to regulations could render these market instruments ineffectual. These instruments are expected to be met with resistance from powerful actors. Compensation, as discussed above, could ensure the support of these actors. These measures would have to be complemented with partial reform of the electricity market, in particular the monopolistic structure of PLN, to increase competition and to create a level-playing field for RES. However, recent news about a construction halt of a coal plant by PLN could indicate an increasing interest in phasing-down coal and increasing the share of RES (see Karyza, 2022).

In general, increased cooperation between relevant actors and organisations and a multi-level governance approach is required to facilitate a coal transition in South Kalimantan. A task force could be created for this matter. Reducing the complexity of governance structures, increasing knowledge and capacities on the provincial level, and providing institutional certainty could further aid in advancing a coal transition.

In conclusion, to answer the main research question concisely, enabling a coal transition in South Kalimantan would have to arise from a shared understanding of the current and expected market dynamics and the need to prepare for collapsing coal markets and stricter climate targets. Increasing awareness at the provincial level, providing financial and technical assistance, and fostering citizen engagement could facilitate a bottom-up approach for influencing the political spectrum through the electorate. Strong political leadership would be required to align the interests of powerful and influential actors, to reduce the extent of vested interests, and to reduce corruption to enable a coal transition. A democratic symbiosis of a bottom-up and a top-down approach is required since political leadership is required to facilitate citizen engagement, and citizen engagement is required to foster the emergence of new political actors favouring reforms or to create pressure on the current regime. However, any efforts to enable a coal transition would have to consider the current political economic reality. Especially the overarching goals of the Indonesian government for providing public infrastructure, ensuring energy access and security, and maintaining low electricity prices, would have to be acknowledged. Compensation measures and providing alternative means for economic development are crucial in this regard. Reduced costs for RES could aid in providing affordable and reliable energy access by simultaneously providing infrastructure development and employment opportunities. Pressure from international climate agreements can exert influence on the current regime to accelerate a coal transition. International financial and technical support is crucial for enabling a coal transition in South Kalimantan. International financial support might be an economically efficient way to reduce GHGE and might be normatively required based on the ethical obligations of more developed states towards less developed states. From a systems thinking perspective, systems archetypes can be overcome by: (1) increasing awareness and increasing coal mining regulations to reduce the *Tragedy of the Commons*; (2) providing alternative means for economic development for redirecting *Rule Beating* and for reducing Policy Resistance. Financing the provision of alternative means of economic development could be partly enabled by redirecting investments from coal projects to renewable energy projects,

reforming subsidies, or by revenues from carbon pricing; (3) Compensation for affected stakeholders might also reduce the archetype of *Policy Resistance*. These measures are required to overcome the prevalent systems archetypes and to intervene in the complex system of the political economy of coal to enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia.

7.2 Outlook

Lastly, this thesis provides an outlook. None of the interviewed experts for this research believed that phasing-out coal in the near future would be feasible. However, current research on climate change suggests that CFPP needs to be phased out quickly and urgently to meet the targets of the Paris Agreement. Geels (2014) concludes that increasing deployment of RES might not be sufficient in view of the resistance of coal incumbents and that "politically inspired regime destabilization may be necessary to create opportunities for the wider diffusion of renewables" (p.37). Seto et al. (2016) argue similarly that institutional lock-ins might be overcome "through bursts of disruption as a result of swift social, political or technological changes, that make it unfeasible for veto-players to still block decarbonisation" (p.446). Similarly, Williamson (2000) argues that changes in L2 institutions are difficult to implement due to rigid government structures but that certain defining moments can produce the opportunity for sharp breaks and drastic change. These include civil wars due to massive discontent, wars, military coups, or financial crises. The threat of climate change, which is eminent in Indonesia due to the risk of rising sea levels, or the threat of collapsing coal markets and subsequent civil discontent in coal-dependent regions, might result in enough momentum for a coal transition to occur. This momentum is urgently required to mitigate climate change and prevent widespread misery in South Kalimantan, in Indonesia, and beyond. The Indonesian government must act quickly and decisively to prevent this scenario. This research serves as a call toward the Indonesian government to overcome vested interests and corrupt practices and to facilitate sustainable development, ensuring long-term prosperity and well-being and preventing further environmental degradation.

References

- Apriando, T. (2017). *Who owns Indonesia's deadly abandoned coal mines?*. *Mongabay*. <u>https://news.mongabay.com/2017/05/who-owns-indonesias-deadly-abandoned-coal-</u> <u>mines/#:~:text=Based%20on%20the%20latest%20company,Bhaskara%20Alam%20and%20</u> <u>Riznor%20Rezwara</u>.
- Arinaldo, D., & Adiatma, J. C. (2019). Indonesia's Coal Dynamics: Towards a Just Energy Transition (Report by IESR). Institute for Essential Systems Reform. Jakarta, Indonesia. <u>http://iesr.or.id/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/Indonesias-Coal-Dynamics_Toward-a-Just-Energy-Transition.pdf</u>
- Arnold, R. D., & Wade, J. P. (2015). A Definition of Systems Thinking: A Systems Approach. Procedia Computer Science, 44, 669-678. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2015.03.050</u>
- ATLAS.ti. (2022). Atlas.ti Scientific Software Development GmbH [ATLAS.ti Version 22.1.0 Mac]. https://atlasti.com
- Atteridge, A., Aung, M. T., & Nugroho, A. (2018). Contemporary Coal Dynamics in Indonesia (SEI working paper 2018-04). Stockholm Environment Institute, Stockholm. <u>https://www.sei.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/contemporary-coal-dynamics-in-indonesia.pdf</u>
- Attwood, C., Bridle, R., Gass, P., Halimanjaya, A. S., Laan, T., Lontoh, L., & Christensen, L. T. (2017). Financial Supports for Coal and Renewable in Indonesia (Report by IISD and GSI). International Institute for Sustainable Development. <u>https://www.iisd.org/system/files/publications/financial-supports-coal-renewablesindonesia.pdf</u>
- Avelino, F., & Rotmans, J. (2009). Power in Transition: An Interdisciplinary Framework to Study Power in Relation to Structural Change. *European Journal of Social Theory - EUR J SOC THEORY, 12*, 543-569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1368431009349830</u>
- Avelino, F., & Wittmayer, J. M. (2016). Shifting Power Relations in Sustainability Transitions: A Multi-actor Perspective. *Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning*, 18(5), 628-649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1523908X.2015.1112259</u>
- Bell, L. (2015). *East Kalimantan reaffirms moratorium on new mining, logging concessions. Mongabay*. <u>https://news.mongabay.com/2015/03/east-kalimantan-reaffirms-moratorium-on-new-mining-logging-concessions/#:~:text=The%20governor%20of%20East%20Kalimantan,a%20higher%20status%2C%20he%20said.</u>
- Bevir, M. (2021). *Governance. Encyclopedia Britannica.* <u>https://www.britannica.com/topic/governance</u>
- Bhattacherjee, A. (2012). Social Science Research: Principles, Methods, and Practices. In *Textbooks Collection. 3*. Global Text Project. <u>https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/oa_textbooks/3</u>
- Biber, E., Kelsey, N., & Meckling, J. (2017). *The Political Economy of Decarbonization: A Research Agenda.* 82 Brook. L. Rev. 605.

- Biber, E., & Ruhl, J. B. (2014). The Permit Power Revisited: The Theory and Practice of Regulatory Permits in the Administrative State. 64 Duke L.J. 133. http://scholarship.law.duke.edu/dlj/vol64/iss2/1
- Bland, B. (2019). *Politics in Indonesia: Resilient elections, defective democracy* (Report by the Lowy Institute). Lowy Institute. <u>https://www.lowyinstitute.org/publications/politics-indonesia-resilient-elections-defective-democracy</u>
- BPH MIGAS. (2012). 4 Gubernur Se-Kalimantan Akan Teken MOU. <u>http://www.bphmigas.go.id/berita-bbm/4-gubernur-se-kalimantan-akan-teken-mou-20-juni-2012</u>
- Brauers, H., & Oei, P.-Y. (2020). The political economy of coal in Poland: Drivers and barriers for a shift away from fossil fuels. *Energy Policy*, 144, 111621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2020.111621</u>
- Brauers, H., Oei, P.-Y., & Walk, P. (2020). Comparing coal phase-out pathways: The United Kingdom's and Germany's diverging transitions. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 37, 238-253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2020.09.001</u>
- Bridle, R., Grass, P., Halimajaya, A., Lontoh, L., McCulloch, N., Petrofsky, E., & Sanchez, L. (2018). Missing the 23 Per Cent Target: Roadblocks to the development of renewable energy in Indonesia (International Institute for Sustainable Development Report). https://www.iisd.org/system/files/publications/roadblocks-indonesia-renewable-energy.pdf
- Britannica. (2019a). *Banjarmasin. Encyclopedia Britannica.* <u>https://www.britannica.com/place/Banjarmasin</u>
- Britannica. (2019b). South Kalimantan. Encyclopedia Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/place/South-Kalimantan
- Britannica. (2021). Borneo. Encyclopedia Britannica. <u>https://www.britannica.com/place/Borneo-island-Pacific-Ocean</u>
- Brown, B., & Spiegel, S. J. (2017). Resisting coal: Hydrocarbon politics and assemblages of protest in the UK and Indonesia. *Geoforum*, 85, 101-111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2017.07.015
- Brown, B., & Spiegel, S. J. (2019). Coal, Climate Justice, and the Cultural Politics of Energy Transition. *Global Environmental Politics*, 19(2), 149-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/glep_a_00501</u>
- Budiono, A., & Rizky Ananda, W. S. R. (2017). Administration of Coal Permit under Coordination and Supervision of KPK (Report by PWYP and KPK). <u>https://pwypindonesia.org/en/administration-of-coal-permit-under-coordination-and-supervision-of-kpk/</u>
- Burke, M. J., & Stephens, J. C. (2018). Political power and renewable energy futures: A critical review. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 35, 78-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.10.018</u>

- Burke, P. J., Widnyana, J., Anjum, Z., Aisbett, E., Resosudarmo, B., & Baldwin, K. G. H. (2019). Overcoming barriers to solar and wind energy adoption in two Asian giants: India and Indonesia. *Energy Policy*, 132, 1216-1228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2019.05.055</u>
- Caldecott, B., Kruitwagen, L., Dericks, G., Tulloch, D. J., Kok, I., & Mitchell, J. (2016). *Stranded Assets and Thermal Coal: An Analysis of Environment-related Risk Exposure Stranded Assets Programme* (Report by Smith School of Enterprise and the Environment). University of Oxford. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2724550</u>
- Caldecott, B., Sartor, O., & Spencer, T. (2017). Lessons from previous "Coal Transitions": High-Level Summary for Decision Makers (Report by IDDRI and Climate Strategies). https://www.iddri.org/sites/default/files/import/publications/coal_synthesisreport_v04.pdf
- Cambridge Dictionary. (n.d). Intervention. Cambridge Online Dictionary. https://dictionary.cambridge.org/de/worterbuch/englisch/intervention
- Carbon Trust. (2021). Regional: Opportunities to Accelerate Coal to Clean Power Transition in Selected Southeast Asian Developing Member Countries (Report by Carbon Trust, in collaboration with Asia Group Advisors and Climate Smart Ventures). https://www.adb.org/projects/55024-001/main
- Checkland, P. (1993). Systems thinking, systems practice. J. Wiley.
- Chelminski, K. (2018). Fossil Fuel Subsidy Reform in Indonesia: The Struggle for Successful Reform. In H. van Asselt & J. Skovgaard (Eds.), *The Politics of Fossil Fuel Subsidies and their Reform* (pp. 193-211). Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108241946.013</u>
- Christi, P. (2022). *Does Indonesia's carbon tax have the power to trigger a sustainable market shift?* <u>https://lens.monash.edu/@environment/2022/05/03/1384628/does-indonesias-carbon-tax-have-the-power-to-trigger-a-sustainable-market-shift#:~:text=Indonesia%20is%20set%20to%20charge,of%20C0%E2%82%82e%20for%20developing%20countries.</u>
- Climate Analytics. (2019a). Country Profile Indonesia. Decarbonising South and South East Asia (Report by Climate Analytics). <u>https://climateanalytics.org/media/decarbonisingasia2019-profile-indonesia-climateanalytics.pdf</u>
- Climate Analytics. (2019b). Decarbonising South and South East Asia: Shifting energy supply in South Asia and South East Asia to non-fossil fuel-based energy systems in line with the Paris Agreement long-term temperature goal and achievement of Sustainable Development Goals (Report by Climate Analytics). <u>https://climateanalytics.org/media/decarbonisingasia2019-</u> fullreport-climateanalytics.pdf
- Constitute. (2022). Indonesia's Constitution of 1945, Reinstated in 1959, with Amendments through 2002. <u>https://www.constituteproject.org/constitution/Indonesia_2002.pdf?lang=en</u>
- Diluiso, F., Walk, P., Manych, N., Cerutti, N., Chipiga, V., Workman, A., Ayas, C., Cui, R. Y., Cui, D., Song, K., Banisch, L. A., Moretti, N., Callaghan, M. W., Clarke, L., Creutzig, F., Hilaire, J., Jotzo, F., Kalkuhl, M., Lamb, W. F., Löschel, A., Müller-Hansen, F., Nemet, G. F., Oei, P.-Y., Sovacool, B. K., Steckel, J. C., Thomas, S., Wiseman, J., & Minx, J. C. (2021). Coal transitions—part 1: a systematic map and review of case study learnings from regional,

national, and local coal phase-out experiences. *Environmental Research Letters, 16*(11), 113003. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac1b58</u>

- Dissanayake, S., Mahadevan, R., & Asafu-Adjaye, J. (2020). Evaluating the efficiency of carbon emissions policies in a large emitting developing country. *Energy Policy*, *136*, 111080. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2019.111080</u>
- Down to Earth. (2010). *Indonesia's coal: local impacts global links. Down to Earth Newsletter No.* 85-86. <u>https://www.downtoearth-indonesia.org/old-site/85-86.pdf</u>
- Dutu, R. (2016). Challenges and policies in Indonesia's energy sector. *Energy Policy*, 98, 513-519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2016.09.009
- Erdiwansyah, Mamat, R., Sani, M. S. M., & Sudhakar, K. (2019). Renewable energy in Southeast Asia: Policies and recommendations. *Science of The Total Environment*, 670, 1095-1102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.03.273
- Faisal, M. (2015). Coal mining slump a blessing in disguise. Jakarta Post. https://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2015/02/16/coal-mining-slump-a-blessingdisguise.html
- Fouquet, R. (2010). The slow search for solutions: Lessons from historical energy transitions by sector and service. *Energy Policy*, *38*(11), 6586-6596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.06.029
- Fouquet, R. (2016). Historical energy transitions: Speed, prices and system transformation. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 22, 7-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2016.08.014</u>
- Fouquet, R., & Pearson, P. J. G. (2012). Past and prospective energy transitions: Insights from history. *Energy Policy*, 50, 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.08.014</u>
- Fünfgeld, A. (2016). The state of coal mining in East Kalimantan: Towards a political ecology of local stateness. ASEAS – Austrian Journal of South-East Asian Studies, 9(1), 147-162. <u>https://doi.org/10.14764/10.ASEAS-2016.1-9</u>
- Fünfgeld, A. (2019). Just energy? structures of energy (In)justice and the Indonesian coal sector. In J. Tahseen (Ed.), *Routledge Handbook of Climate Justice*. Routledge, London.
- Gales, B., & Hölsgens, R. (2017). *Coal Transition in the Netherlands* (Report by IDDRI and Climate Strategies). <u>https://www.iddri.org/en/publications-and-events/report/coal-transition-netherlands</u>
- Gawel, E., Strunz, S., & Lehmann, P. (2017). Support Policies for Renewables: Instrument Choice and Instrument Change from a Public Choice Perspective. In D. Arent, C. Arndt, M. Miller, T. Finn, & O. Zinaman (Eds.), *The Political Economy of Clean Energy Transitions*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198802242.001.0001</u>
- Geels, F. W. (2014). Regime Resistance against Low-Carbon Transitions: Introducing Politics and Power into the Multi-level Perspective. *Theory, Culture, and Society, 31 (5)*, 21-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0263276414531627</u>
- Geels, F. W., & Schot, J. (2007). Typology of sociotechnical transition pathways. *Research Policy*, 36(3), 399-417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.01.003</u>
- Geels, F. W., Sovacool, B. K., Schwanen, T., & Sorrell, S. (2017). Sociotechnical transitions for deep decarbonization. *Science*, *357*(6357), 1242-1244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aao3760</u>
- Global Data Lab. (2022). GDL Area Profile South Kalimantan. https://globaldatalab.org/profiles/region/IDNr122/
- GPPAC. (2009). Tools for Political Economy Analysis: A brief guide and signposts to additional resources (Report by GPPAC). <u>https://www.alnap.org/help-library/tools-for-political-economy-analysis-a-brief-guide-and-signposts-to-additional</u>
- Grubler, A. (2012). Energy transitions research: Insights and cautionary tales. *Energy Policy*, 50, 8-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.02.070</u>
- Gunningham, N. (2013). Managing the energy trilemma: The case of Indonesia. *Energy Policy*, 54, 184-193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.11.018</u>
- Hajer, M. A. (1996). *The Politics of Environmental Discourse : Ecological Modernization and the Policy Process*. Oxford University Press, Incorporated.
- Harrington, M. (2017). An Own Coal? Energy policy in Indonesia (Report by the Australia Institute). https://australiainstitute.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/P285-An-own-coal-Indonesianenergy-policy-Feb-2017-FINAL.pdf
- Harris, J. (2014). *Indonesia's coal export restrictions become effective. Lexology*. <u>https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=edb663c2-eb00-46a3-bce9-2df67fe608d5</u>
- Hickman, A. (2010). Corruption, Collusion and Nepotism. The case of Rio Tinto, BP, the Bakrie Brothers and Kaltim Prima Coal. *Down to Earth Newsletter No. 85-86*,19-24. <u>https://www.downtoearth-indonesia.org/old-site/85-86.pdf</u>
- Hodgson, G. M. (2001). Frontiers of Institutional Economics. *New Political Economy*, 6:2, 245-253. https://doi.org/10.1080/13563460123448
- Hodgson, G. M. (2006). "What Are Institutions?". Journal of Economic Issues, 40:1, 1-25. https://doi.org/10.1080/00213624.2006.11506879
- Ialnazov, D., & Keeley, A. (2020). IOP Conf. Ser.: *Earth Environ. Sci. 505 012044*. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/505/1/012044
- IEA. (2019). Southeast Asia Energy Outlook 2019 (Report by IEA). https://www.iea.org/reports/southeast-asia-energy-outlook-2019
- IEA. (2021a). The landmark IEA-Indonesia Energy Transition Alliance will build a path to a sustainable energy future (International Energy Agency). <u>https://www.iea.org/news/the-landmark-iea-indonesia-energy-transition-alliance-will-build-a-path-to-a-sustainable-energy-future</u>

- IEA. (2021b). *World Energy Balances: Overview* (Report by IEA). <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-balances-overview</u>
- IPCC. (2021). *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Summary for Policy Makers.* (Report by IPCC). <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/</u>
- Iskander, E., Noor, M., Ramli, R. M., Budiman, Tayeb dan, A. M., & Samsurijan, M. S. (2021). Local and Central Political Conflict in the Implementation of Post-Mining Policies in East Kalimantan Province, Indonesia: A Review. *Journal of Legal, Ethical and Regulatory Issues,* 24, Special Issue 1, 1-16. <u>https://www.abacademies.org/abstract/local-and-central-politicalconflict-in-the-implementation-of-postmining-policies-in-east-kalimantan-provinceindonesia--11863.html</u>
- Jakob, M., Flachsland, C., Christoph Steckel, J., & Urpelainen, J. (2020). Actors, objectives, context: A framework of the political economy of energy and climate policy applied to India, Indonesia, and Vietnam. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 70, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101775</u>
- Jakob, M., & Steckel, J. C. (2022). The political economy of coal. Lessons learnt from 15 country cases. In M. Jakob & J. C. Steckel (Eds.), *The Political Economy of Coal* (Vol. 1st Edition, pp. 320-333). Routledge.
- Jenkins, J., & Karplus, V. J. (2017). Carbon Pricing under Political Constraints. Insights for Accelerating Clean Energy Transitions. In D. Arent, C. Arndt, M. Miller, T. Finn, & O. Zinaman (Eds.), *The Political Economy of Clean Energy Transitions*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198802242.001.0001</u>
- Jewell, J., McCollum, D., Emmerling, J., Bertram, C., Gernaat, D. E. H. J., Krey, V., Paroussos, L., Berger, L., Fragkiadakis, K., Keppo, I., Saadi, N., Tavoni, M., van Vuuren, D., Vinichenko, V., & Riahi, K. (2018). Limited emission reductions from fuel subsidy removal except in energy-exporting regions. *Nature*, 554(7691), 229-233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature25467</u>
- Jewell, J., Vetierd, M., Vinichenkoa, V., Lægreide, O. M., Paif, S., Cherpd, A., Brauersi, H., Braungeri, I., Nackea, L., & Zerriff, H. (2022). Quitting fossil fuels: how fast can the world do it?. Policy Brief. <u>https://www.polet.network/publications/contractions-policy-brief</u>
- Kalkuhl, M., Steckel, J. C., Montrone, L., Jakob, M., Peters, J., & Edenhofer, O. (2019). Successful coal phase-out requires new models of development. *Nature Energy*, 4(11), 897-900. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-019-0500-5</u>
- Karyza, D. (2022). *PLN cancels 1 GW coal plant in move toward net zero. The Jakarta Post.* <u>https://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2019/08/02/coal-demand-to-rise-12-percent-next-year-pln.html</u>
- Kennedy, S. F. (2018). Indonesia's energy transition and its contradictions: Emerging geographies of energy and finance. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 41, 230-237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2018.04.023</u>
- Kim, S. E., Yang, J., & Urpelainen, J. (2016). Does Power Sector Deregulation Promote or Discourage Renewable Energy Policy? Evidence from the States, 1991-2012. *Review of Policy Research*, 33, 22-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ropr.12157</u>

- Krupnick, A., Burtraw, D., & Markandya, A. (2000). *The ancillary benefits and costs of climate change mitigation: a conceptual framework*. (Report by OECD). https://www.oecd.org/environment/cc/2049184.pdf
- Kurniawan, R., Trencher, G. P., Edianto, A. S., Setiawan, I. E., & Matsubae, K. (2020). Understanding the Multi-Faceted Drivers of Increasing Coal Consumption in Indonesia. *Energies, 13*(14). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en13143660</u>
- Lahiri-Dutt, K. (2016). *The Coal Nation: Histories, Ecologies and Politics of Coal in India*. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315614793</u>
- Lamb, W. F., & Minx, J. C. (2020). The political economy of national climate policy: Architectures of constraint and a typology of countries. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 64, 101429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101429</u>
- Langer, J., Quist, J., & Blok, K. (2021). Review of Renewable Energy Potentials in Indonesia and Their Contribution to a 100% Renewable Electricity System. *Energies*, 14(21). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en14217033</u>
- Legge, J. D., Adam, A. W., McDivitt, J. F., Mohamad, G. S., Leinbach, T. R., & Wolters, O. W. (2022). *Indonesia. Encyclopedia Britannica*. <u>https://www.britannica.com/place/Indonesia</u>
- Li, S., Meng, J., Zheng, H., Zhang, N., Huo, J., Li, Y., & Guan, D. (2021). *Environ. Res. Lett.* 16 054002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abde05</u>
- Loorbach, D., Frantzeskaki, N., & Avelino, F. (2017). Sustainability Transitions Research: Transforming Science and Practice for Societal Change. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 42(1), 599-626. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-102014-021340</u>
- Lucarelli, B. (2010). The History and Future of Indonesia's Coal Industry: Impact of Politics and Regulatory Framework on Industry Structure and Performance. Working Paper #93. <u>https://pesd.fsi.stanford.edu/publications/the_history_and_future_of_indonesias_coal_industry_jimpact_of_politics_and_regulatory_framework_on_industry_structure_and_performance</u>
- Maddison, D. (1995). A cost-benefit analysis of slowing climate change. *Energy Policy*, 23(4), 337-346. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0301-4215(95)90158-4</u>
- Maggio, G., & Cacciola, G. (2012). When will oil, natural gas, and coal peak? *Fuel*, *98*, 111-123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2012.03.021</u>
- Malahayati, M., & Masui, T. (2021). Potential impact of introducing emission mitigation policies in Indonesia: how much will Indonesia have to spend? *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 26(8), 37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-021-09973-2</u>
- Marquardt, J. (2014). A Struggle of Multi-level Governance: Promoting Renewable Energy in Indonesia. *Energy Procedia*, 58, 87-94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2014.10.413</u>
- Maulidia, M., Dargusch, P., Ashworth, P., & Ardiansyah, F. (2019). Rethinking renewable energy targets and electricity sector reform in Indonesia: A private sector perspective. *Renewable* and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 101, 231-247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.11.005</u>

- Meadowcroft, J. (2009). What About the Politics? Sustainable Development, Transition Management, and Long Term Energy Transitions. *Policy Sciences*, 42, 323-340. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11077-009-9097-z
- Meadowcroft, J. (2011). Engaging with the politics of sustainability transitions. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 1*(1), 70-75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2011.02.003</u>
- Meadows, D. H. (2008). *Thinking in Systems: A Primer*. Chelsea Green Publishing. United States of America.
- Merdekawati, M., Suryadi, B., Verniastika, R., Larasati, A., & Wijaya, T. N. (2022). Preparing Green Jobs for Coal Companies' Transition Strategies in ASEAN. . *Policy Brief. No. 05*. <u>https://accept.aseanenergy.org/preparing-green-jobs-for-coal-companies-transition-strategiesin-asean</u>
- Moe, E. (2010). Energy, industry and politics: Energy, vested interests, and long-term economic growth and development. *Energy*, 35(4), 1730-1740. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2009.12.026</u>
- Moncrieffe, J. M., & Luttrell, C. (2005). An Analytical Framework for Understanding the Political Economy of Sectors and Policy Arenas (Report by Overseas Development Institute). <u>https://cdn.odi.org/media/documents/3898.pdf</u>
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054</u>
- North, D. C. (1986). The New Institutional Economics. Journal of Institutional and Theoretical Economics (JITE) / Zeitschrift für die gesamte Staatswissenschaft, 142(1), 230-237. http://www.jstor.org.tudelft.idm.oclc.org/stable/40726723
- North, D. C. (1994). Economic Performance Through Time. *The American Economic Review*, 84(3), 359-368. <u>http://www.jstor.org.tudelft.idm.oclc.org/stable/2118057</u>
- NWO. (2020). Two projects with Indonesia on renewable energy. NWO. https://www.nwo.nl/en/news/two-projects-indonesia-renewable-energy
- OECD. (2021). RUPTL 2021-30: PLN steps up ambitions to accelerate clean energy investments in Indonesia (Report by OECD). <u>https://www.oecd.org/environment/cc/cefim/indonesia/RUPTL-2021-30-PLN-steps-up-ambitions-to-accelerate-clean-energy-investments-in-Indonesia.pdf</u>
- Oei, P.-Y., Brauers, H., & Herpich, P. (2020). Lessons from Germany's hard coal mining phase-out: policies and transition from 1950 to 2018. *Climate Policy*, 20(8), 963-979. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2019.1688636
- Ordonez, J. A., Jakob, M., Steckel, J. C., & Fünfgeld, A. (2021). Coal, power and coal-powered politics in Indonesia. *Environmental Science & Policy, 123*, 44-57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2021.05.007</u>

Ostrom, E. (2005). Understanding Institutional Diversity. Princeton, Princeton University Press.

- Permana, S., Trianti, N., & Rahmansyah, A. (2021). *IOP Conf. Ser.: Earth Environ. Sci.* 753 012048. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/753/1/012048
- Posner, A., & Sunstein, C. R. (2008). Justice and Climate Change. *Discussion Paper, 08-04, Harvard Project on Climate Agreements*. <u>https://www.belfercenter.org/publication/justice-and-climate-change</u>
- PT PLN Persero. (2019). Rencana Usaha Penyediaan Tenaga Listrik (RUPTL) 2019-2028. https://gatrik.esdm.go.id/assets/uploads/download_index/files/2c961-ruptl-pln-2019-2028.pdf
- Rentier, G., Lelieveldt, H., & Kramer, G. J. (2019). Varieties of coal-fired power phase-out across Europe. *Energy Policy*, 132, 620-632. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2019.05.042</u>
- Reyseliani, N., & Purwanto, W. W. (2021). Pathway towards 100% renewable energy in Indonesia power system by 2050. *Renewable Energy*, 176, 305-321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2021.05.118
- Richmond, B. (1994). Systems Dynamics/Systems Thinking: Let's Just Get On With It. Syst. Dyn. Rev., 10, 135-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sdr.4260100204</u>
- Riva, A. D., & Vestarchi, M. (2019). South Kalimantan Regional Energy Outlook (Report by EAEA and DEA). <u>https://ens.dk/sites/ens.dk/files/Globalcooperation/Publications_reports_papers/south_kalima_ntan_reo.pdf</u>
- Rosyid, F., & Adachi, T. (2016). Forecasting on Indonesian Coal Production and Future Extraction Cost: A Tool for Formulating Policy on Coal Marketing. *Natural Resources*, 7, 677-696. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/nr.2016.712054</u>.
- Roy, B., & Schaffartzik, A. (2021). Talk renewables, walk coal: The paradox of India's energy transition. *Ecological Economics*, 180, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2020.106871</u>
- Sarrica, M., Richter, M., Thomas, S., Graham, I., & Mazzara, B. M. (2018). Social approaches to energy transition cases in rural Italy, Indonesia and Australia: Iterative methodologies and participatory epistemologies. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 45, 287-296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2018.07.001</u>
- Schmidt, T. S., Blum, N. U., & Sryantoro Wakeling, R. (2013). Attracting private investments into rural electrification — A case study on renewable energy based village grids in Indonesia. *Energy for Sustainable Development*, 17(6), 581-595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esd.2013.10.001
- SETKAB. (2021). Gov't to Optimize National Energy Utilization. Cabinet Secretariat of the Republic of Indonesia. <u>https://setkab.go.id/en/govt-to-optimize-national-energy-utilization/</u>
- Seto, K. C., Davis, S. J., Mitchell, R. B., Stokes, E. C., Unruh, G., & Ürge-Vorsatz, D. (2016). Carbon Lock-In: Types, Causes, and Policy Implications. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 41(1), 425-452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-110615-085934</u>

- Setyowati, A. B. (2021). Mitigating inequality with emissions? Exploring energy justice and financing transitions to low carbon energy in Indonesia. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 71, 101817. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2020.101817</u>
- Setyowati, A. B., & Quist, J. (2022). Contested transition? Exploring the politics and process of regional energy planning in Indonesia. *Energy Policy*, 165, 112980. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2022.112980</u>
- Shue, H. (1999). Global Environment and International Inequality. *International Affairs*, 75(3), 531-545. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.00092</u>
- Siagian, U. W. R., Yuwono, B. B., Fujimori, S., & Masui, T. (2017). Low-Carbon Energy Development in Indonesia in Alignment with Intended Nationally Determined Contribution (INDC) by 2030. *Energies*, 10(1), 52. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/10/1/52</u>
- Simanjuntak, J. S. (2021). Techno-Economic and Institutional Assessment of Wind Energy in Indonesia. A spatial evaluation of wind energy potential and its pertinent institutions [Master's thesis, Delft University of Technology]. <u>https://repository.tudelft.nl/islandora/object/uuid%3A669018fe-93a0-4cb3-8ee2e6ab7cd0c8e0</u>
- Singer, P. (2010). One Atmosphere. In S. M. Gardiner, S. Caney, D. Jamieson, & H. Shue (Eds.), *Climate Ethics: Essential Readings*. Oxford Scholarship Online. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780195399622.003.0020</u>
- Skovgaard, J., & van Asselt, H. (2019). The politics of fossil fuel subsidies and their reform: Implications for climate change mitigation. WIREs Climate Change, 10(4), 581. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.581</u>
- Sovacool, B. K. (2016). How long will it take? Conceptualizing the temporal dynamics of energy transitions. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 13, 202-215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2015.12.020</u>
- Sovacool, B. K., & Brisbois, M.-C. (2019). Elite power in low-carbon transitions: A critical and interdisciplinary review. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 57, 101242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2019.101242</u>
- Steckel, J. C., Hilaire, J., Jakob, M., & Edenhofer, O. (2020). Coal and carbonization in sub-Saharan Africa. *Nature Climate Change*, 10(1), 83-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0649-8</u>
- Steckel, J. C., & Jakob, M. (2022). To end coal, adapt to regional realities. *Nature 607, 29-31*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-022-01828-3</u>
- Suroyo, G., & Sulaiman, S. (2022). Indonesia could push back carbon tax set to start next month. <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/indonesia-considers-another-delay-carbon-tax-2022-06-23/</u>
- Susanto, A. E. (2017). Indonesia's second renewables regulation alleviates PLN's tariff dilemma. PV Tech. <u>https://www.pv-tech.org/indonesias-second-renewables-regulation-alleviates-plns-tariff-dilemma/</u>

- Syahni, D. (2018). Banyak Celah Kerugian Negara Dampak Kebijakan Fiskal Batubara, Ini Alasannya. https://www.mongabay.co.id/2018/10/16/banyak-celah-kerugian-negara-dampakkebijakan-fiskal-batubara-ini-alasannya/
- Tampubolon, A. P., Arinaldo, D., & Adiatma, J. C. (2018). Coal Dynamics and Energy Transition in Indonesia (Report by the IESR). <u>https://iesr.or.id/v2/publikasi_file/COMS-PUB-0015_Coal-Dynamics-and-Energy-Transition-in-Indonesia-1.pdf</u>
- Ukar, S. W. (2013). Political Economy of Resources and Its Development: The Case of Indonesia. *American Journal of Business, Economics and Management, 1*, 16. <u>https://www.academia.edu/6243993/Political_economy_of_resources_and_its_development_The_case_of_Indonesia</u>
- UNEP. (2017). Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency in Developing Countries: Contributions to Reducing Global Emissions (Report by UN Environmental Program). <u>https://www.unep.org/resources/report/renewable-energy-and-energy-efficiency-developingcountries-contributions-0</u>
- UNFCCC. (2021). *Global coal to clean power transition statement. COP26 Statement.* <u>https://ukcop26.org/global-coal-to-clean-power-transition-statement/</u>
- Veseth, M. A., & Balaam, D. N. (2022). *Political economy. Encyclopedia Britannica*. <u>https://www.britannica.com/topic/political-economy</u>
- Vogt-Schilb, A., & Hallegatte, S. (2017). Climate policies and nationally determined contributions: reconciling the needed ambition with the political economy. WIREs Energy and Environment, 6(6), 256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wene.256</u>
- Wamsley, G. L., & Zald, M. N. (1973). The Political Economy of Public Organizations. *Public Administration Review*, 33(1), 62-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/974786</u>
- WCED. (1987). World Commission on Environment and Development. Our Common Future. Oxford Univ. Press, Oxford.
- Wehnert, T., Fekete, H., & Vieweg, M. (2019). Challenges of Coal Transitions A comparative study on the status quo and future prospects of coal mining and coal use in Indonesia, Colombia and Viet Nam (Report on behalf of the German Environment Agency). <u>https://epub.wupperinst.org/frontdoor/index/index/docId/7275</u>
- Weingast, B. R., & Wittman, D. A. (2011). Overview Of Political Economy: The Reach Of Political Economy. The Oxford Handbook of Political Science. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199604456.013.0038</u>
- Williamson, O. E. (1998). Transaction Cost Economics: How It Works; Where It is Headed. De Economist, 146(1), 23-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1003263908567</u>
- Williamson, O. E. (2000). "The New Institutional Economics: Taking Stock, Looking Ahead.". Journal of economic literature, 38, 595-613. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/2565421</u>
- Wong, J. (2021). A combined niche transition and energy justice study of biomass gasification in Indonesia [Master's thesis, Delft University of technology].

https://repository.tudelft.nl/islandora/object/uuid%3Abe0ed7f3-b696-4756-b31f-59b4b17ecb86

- Yanguas Parra, P., Hauenstein, C., & Oei, P.-Y. (2021). The death valley of coal Modelling COVID-19 recovery scenarios for steam coal markets. *Applied Energy*, 288, 116564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2021.116564</u>
- Yanguas Parra, P. A., Ganti, G., Brecha, R., Hare, B., Schaeffer, M., & Fuentes, U. (2019). *Global* and regional coal phase-out requirements of the Paris Agreement: Insights from the IPCC Special Report on 1.5°C (Report by Climate Analytics). https://climateanalytics.org/media/report_coal_phase_out_2019.pdf
- Yin, R. K. (1994). Case Study Research: Design and Methods. SAGE Publications.
- Yudha, S. W., Tjahjono, B., & Kolios, A. (2018). A PESTLE Policy Mapping and Stakeholder Analysis of Indonesia's Fossil Fuel Energy Industry. *Energies*, 11(5), 1-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en11051272</u>
- Yudha, S. W., Tjahjono, B., & Longhurst, P. (2021). Stakeholders' Recount on the Dynamics of Indonesia's Renewable Energy Sector. *Energies*, 14(10). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en14102762</u>
- Yuliani, D. (2017). Is Feed-In-Tariff Policy Effective for Increasing Deployment of Renewable Energy in Indonesia? In D. Arent, C. Arndt, M. Miller, T. Finn, & O. Zinaman (Eds.), *The Political Economy of Clean Energy Transitions*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198802242.001.0001</u>

Appendix A - Basic Country Analysis Indonesia

People, Culture, and Society

The following information is taken from Legge et al. (2022). Indonesia has a highly diverse environment and society, which is nevertheless united under a centralized government and a national language (Bahasa Indonesia). The diversity of the Indonesian country emerged from the convergence of different people, cultures, and languages. More than 300 ethnic groups and more than 600 distinct languages exist. Even though many different religions are practiced, the Islamic religion is predominant. The natural landscape of Indonesia with its mountain ranges and dense forests has led to the preservation of many traditions. This is especially eminent in rural areas, where differences in traditions and culture can even occur between neighbouring villages.

Almost half of the Indonesian population lives in rural areas. Due to the soil enriching characteristics of volcanic activity, many agricultural activities coincide with a dense population around volcanic areas. The level of urbanization in Indonesia is comparatively low compared to other countries with similar economic growth. However, urbanization is occurring rapidly across Indonesia. Yet, urbanization has not been accompanied with industrialization, in most parts of Indonesia, and many settlements around major cities are comparable to urban villages (kampongs), where rural traditions are maintained.

In urban areas there exists some sort of social hierarchy - a three-tiered hierarchy. Government officials, business leaders, and military officials, inter alia, make up the upper class. There is a growing middle class, and a large share from the lower-class, who are usually unskilled labour and lowly educated, and who often have strong ties to their villages. This three-tiered hierarchy also closely resembles an economic structure, which is characterized by formal and informal business conducts, and government opportunities.

Economy of Indonesia

Indonesia had played a rather minor role in the world economy until recently, despite its size, geographic location, and its resources. Indonesia is a big exporter of natural gas, and crude petroleum, and a main supplier, of coffee, cocoa, palm oil, rubber, and other commodities, such as tea, tobacco, sugar, and spices. The exploration of oil and other minerals in large-scale projects has contributed substantially to overall development. The country shifted throughout the last decades from primary industry (mostly agricultural self-sufficiency), to secondary, and tertiary industries, such as manufacturing, services, and trade. The overall share of agriculture in the countries' GDP was surpassed by manufacturing in the early 1990s and has remained the largest component of the country since then.

Several five-year plans were initiated in the time from 1969 to 1998 to develop economic infrastructure. The government played a major role in developing areas which were not considered by private endeavours. The SOE Pertamina responsible for oil in Indonesia emerged out of these initiatives. The private sector expanded continuously since the mid 90s. Prior to that, economic growth in the private sector was mainly generated by few conglomerates, which benefitted from government initiatives.

Foreign investments into Indonesia declined after the Asian economic crisis in 1997. The economy recovered by in 2003 and the country was freed from the economic reform program which was initiated by the International Monetary Fund (IMF). Thereafter, a development plan was initiated aimed at establishing self-sufficiency (swasembada) for Indonesia in the 21st century. Part of this was the plan for liberalization of some areas and reducing foreign ownership in economic assets.

Resources and Power

Indonesia has a vast amount of natural resources and mineral deposits. Roughly 10% of the country's GDP can be attributed to mining of oil and natural gas. Fossil fuels, such as petroleum, natural gas, and coal, are a main source of revenue. Exploitation and mining occur mainly in Kalimantan and Sumatra, and in offshore sites in the South China seas and along Java. The mining of coal has increased significantly in the last decades of the 20th century and Indonesia has emerged as one of the main global coal exporters. The sale of LNG is also increasingly gaining importance.

Most of the Indonesia electricity is generated from fossil fuels. In the late 20th century, most of the electricity was generated from oil or gas, until the domestic use of coal was expanded. Few hydro- or geothermal plants were providing electricity by the beginning of the 21st century.

Government and Political System

Indonesia was formerly a Dutch colony as known as the Dutch (or Netherlands) East Indies. In 1945, Indonesia declared its independence, thereby declaring itself as *The Republic of Indonesia*, which was officially recognized by the Netherlands in 1949. In 1945, the constitution of Indonesia was drafted.

The constitution grants most of the power to the executive branch, especially to the president. The president is assisted by a cabinet and a vice-president. From 2004 onwards, the president and vice president are elected directly, and their presidency is limited to two five-year terms. The ministers of the cabinet are directly appointed by the president. The ministries manage different areas, and their responsibilities depend on assignments by the president. The president has the authority to issue regulations, issue bills, and implement acts.

The legislative branch of the government is the MPR (Majelis Permusyawaratan Rakyat, or People's Consultative Assembly). Their primary role is to interpret the constitution and the state policies. The legislators are directly elected and serve for five years.

Indonesia consists of roughly 30 provinces (propinsi or provinsi). The boundaries of these provinces were largely defined by geographic features, but also to simplify cultural and traditional divisions. The decentralization agenda at the beginning of the 21st century led to the creation of further provinces. There exist more than 300 regencies (second-order subdivisions), which are governed by governor (bupati), who has local legislative powers. Further, there are over 5000 districts (third-order subdivisions), and several cities (kota) which have obtained autonomy. District and city leaders are directly elected. Villages (kampung), establish a link between the people and the government on the district level.

The judicial system of Indonesia, the third branch of the government, will not be discussed in this thesis, due to the lack of relevance.

Indonesia political history was turbulent in the 20th century. Sukarno, the first president of Indonesia, introduced a new concept, the Guided Democracy, and dissolved the elected assembly. In 1965, a coup d'état was initiated which led to the downfall of Sukarno. Suharto, the successor, initiated a new political era, called the New Order. At the beginning of this era, the political process was primarily guided by the government. However, this soon changed and most of the political power was transferred to the president, thereby leading Indonesia into authoritarianism. The end of this era in 1998 caused a major transformation in the political system. The first election in 1999 after Suharto's reign was a milestone. Out of these elections, three main parties emerged which remained strong positions. Several other parties have also gained popularity. (Legge et al., 2022).

According to Bland (2019), the current presidency of Joko Widodo, known as Jokowi, is accompanied with various allegations and has undermined democratic principles, with extensive evidence. For example, Jokowi's administration has undermined efforts to fight corruption, has increased the prosecution of government critics through illiberal laws, and has fostered the emergence of identity politics through criminalizing hard-line Muslim critics and conservatives. Bland argues that Jokowi is pursuing vested interests, while following short-term goals over long-term political change. Jokowi surrounded himself with former generals from the military, has made compromises with corrupt politicians, and during his presidency, the rule of law, the protection of minorities and human rights have suffered. Opposition in the Indonesian democratic system is weak, since many political leaders position themselves behind the current president to maintain power by either hoping for seats in the cabinet, seeking patronage, or protecting themselves from prosecution from former corruption. Fundamentally, Bland concludes that the future of Indonesia and its ability to overcome growing challenges, will depend on the *next generation of leaders*, who aim for reformation and fighting the decline of democratic norms (Bland, 2019).

Appendix B - Basic Province Analysis - South Kalimantan

The following information is derived from Britannica (2019b), Britannica (2019a), and Britannica (2021). South Kalimantan is a province of Indonesia on the island of Borneo (Kalimantan in Indonesian), the third largest island in the world. The island of Borneo is divided into three countries, namely Malaysia, Brunei, and Indonesia. The Indonesian part of Borneo will henceforth be called Kalimantan. Kalimantan is divided into five provinces: Central-, West-, North, East, and South Kalimantan. The neighbouring provinces of South Kalimantan are Central- and East Kalimantan. South Kalimantan is further surrounded on the east by the Makassar Strait and by the Java sea on the south. Large parts of Kalimantan are covered by dense rainforest and large mountain ranges, The island is spun by navigable rivers, which often represent the only means for trade and commerce in Kalimantan.

The capital of South Kalimantan is Banjarmasin, which is linked to most of the larger cities in South Kalimantan by road. Banjarmasin is located next to the Barito river, which serves as the means for transporting and exporting goods from the harbour in Banjarmasin. Coal is being transported to Banjarmasin from nearby Pengaron. Most of the houses in Banjarmasin are raised on pillars and waterways are mostly used for travel rather than roads, since the tides from Barito river are influenced by the Java sea.

Most of the population in South Kalimantan is engaged in agriculture of rice, corn, and cassava for subsistence. The manufacturing sector entails the production of chemicals, rubber goods, furniture, processed food and beverages. Coal, iron ore, gold and diamonds, are mined in South Kalimantan. In general, Borneo is rather poor in mineral resources, since most of the resources have already been exploited since the beginning of the 19th century. The soils on Borneo are also rather poor, with exceptions from fertile volcanic areas.

Appendix C - Actor Analysis

Presidency

Bridle et al. provide an analysis of the role which the president plays in advancing RES. The current president, Joko Widodo, known as Jokowi, has been president since 2014. Jokowi's main objectives seem to be to ensure prosperity and domestic growth. The president has the highest influence on policymaking and has the power to revoke regulations from different ministries. Bridle et al. further stress that support towards RES remains limited, stemming from the need to balance competing interests, such as ensuring economic growth, maintaining low electricity prices, and providing infrastructure development. Jokowi seems to be heavily interested in the impact of energy policies on *ordinary Indonesian's*. Bridle et al further suggest that the officials surrounding the president do not seem to believe that certain types of RES, such as solar, is economically viable regions in close proximity to CFPP. (Bridle et al., 2018). Jakob et al. (2020) emphasize that the pledge to remain low electricity prices seems to be a part of election campaign strategies in Indonesia.

Bridle et al. highlight that the president has the responsibility to define the KEN (National Energy Strategy) and to approve the RUEN (General National Energy Plan). The current plans suggest that the president is supportive of RES. However, Bridle et al. also stress that the energy sector is primarily seen as a means to ensure economic growth by providing infrastructure development, and that the choice of energy source is secondary to the overarching goal of economic growth. In relation to RES, Jokowi seems to focus on ensuring energy security, ensuring access to electricity, and maintaining low electricity prices. (Bridle et al., 2018)

As already discussed in Chapter 4.1.1., the president Jokowi has also been surrounded by various allegations and seems to have undermined democratic principles. Efforts to fight corruption have diminished, prosecution of government critics have increased, and the emergence of identity politics seems to have been fostered. Jokowi seems to also pursue vested interests and seems to favour short-term goals (see Bland, 2019).

Indonesian Parliament

Bridle et al. indicate that the Indonesian parliament (Dewan Perwakilan Rakyat, DPR) is responsible for the legislative act of defining frameworks for the development of RES and for approving budgets for ministries and for PLN. Bridle et al. highlight that there exists a wide discrepancy of views towards the energy sector within the DPR. Whereas some of the 560 parliamentarians favour RES, some have close connection to the fossil fuel industry, and especially the coal sector. They argue that the decision to not support subsidies to PLN for the development of RES is indicative for the lack of support for RES. Further, they stress that the effect of energy policies on electricity prices on regions and constituents seems to play a major role for parliamentarians. In addition, it seems that many parliamentarians do not have extensive knowledge of the energy sector, and that they seem to be heavily motivated to keep electricity prices low and ensuring energy security for regions and for potential voters.

Bridle et al. highlight that several interviewees from their study indicated that the development of RES is hindered by the political process for decision-making for energy policies due to uncertainty and a lack of transparency surrounding choices made in the DPR.

In summary, it seems that the DPR has vast influence on policymaking surrounding the energy sector. Further, the DPR seems to be not too supportive of RES and they seem to be involved and influenced by the coal sector (Bridle et al., 2018).

Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources

Since 1978, the Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources (MEMR) deals with both matters, energy and natural resources, which has fostered the co-development of energy policies driven by coal and other natural resources (Atteridge et al., 2018), and thereby acts as the regulatory body for the electricity and mining sector (Jakob & Steckel, 2022).

Bridle et al. indicate that the MEMR has substantial power over energy policies. They also highlight that the course of the MEMR towards different energy sources heavily depends on the minister in charge. They indicate the Sudiman Said, a former minister, was in favour of RES and issued Feed-in Tariffs (FiT), whereas Jonan Ignasius, Said's successor, seems to be more reluctant towards RES and seems to be in close cooperation with PLN.

Furthermore, Bridle et al. also highlight the role of different Directorate Generals in the ministries. They indicate that the Directorate responsible for RES, the EBKTE, was responsible for drafting regulations in favour of RES. However, under the minister Ignasius, the EBKTE seems to have been circumvented and regulations for RES have been issues by the Directorate General for Electricity. Furthermore, interviewees from their study suggested that regulations were even directly drafted by PLN. However, the view on RES by Ignasius seems to have changed. Bridle et al. suggest that this stems from declining costs of RES. They conclude that the MEMR is not reluctant towards the development of RES, but that these should be developed at low costs.

The stance of the MEMR towards coal can also be seen by their regulation that a certain amount of coal should be kept by coal producers for domestic use. This regulation was aimed ensuring energy security and independence (Yudha et al., 2018), emphasizing these concerns as their objectives in energy policies.

However, Atteridge et al. (2018) indicate that in 2016 the MEMR opened the market for IPPs in six regions across Indonesia with low electrification rates, which could be perceived as a signal that the government is planning to open and diversify the electricity sector.

Ministry of Finance

The Ministry of Finance (MoF) is responsible for managing the government's budget and thereby is also responsible for determining financial support in the energy sector (Jakob et al., 2020). Bridle et al. indicate that one primary objective of the MoF is to keep subsidies in the energy sector low. This influences the support for the development of RES. The MoF is thereby reluctant to increase subsidies to PLN for expanding the use of RES. The MoF is further concerned with the financial status of the energy sector and has raised concerns over the high indebtedness of PLN. The MoF seems to also favor increasing electricity tariffs, as the only branch of the government, since this would reduce the amount of subsidies needed to be paid to PLN (Bridle et al., 2018).

Ordonez et al. (2021), stress that, from the perspective of coal, the MoF has incentives to foster and encourage the extraction and use of coal due to the rents and revenues from the coal sector contributing to the government's budget. Furthermore, the Directorate General of Customs and Excise which is under the responsibility of the MoF, issued a decree to impose export taxes on coal to reduce coal exports and to increase domestic use. (Yudha et al., 2018).

In conclusion, the MoF seems to have deep interests in the coal sector due to its financial contributions to the government's budget.

Ministry of State-Owned Enterprises

Another ministry influencing policymaking around the energy sector is the Ministry of State-Owned Enterprises (MSOE). The MSOE's aim is to develop public infrastructure through SOE as part of the presidential agenda. This involves the expansion of CFPP as part of the 35,000 MW Program1. The MSOE is therefore incentivized to promote the extraction and use of coal (Ordonez et al., 2021).

Ministry of Environment and Forestry

The Ministry of Environment and Forestry (MOEF) was established in 2015 when the Ministry of Environment and the Ministry of Forest were merged. The merger also led to the creation of the Directorate General of Climate Change Mitigation. However, Ordonez et al. (2021) indicate that a questioned interviewee from their study that the MOEF does not exert any influence on policymaking in the energy sector, since the MOEF is not part of the ministries responsible for overseeing PLN. Furthermore, they stress that climate protection is framed in Indonesia as being a land-use and forestry issue, and that the energy sector is therefore not considered for climate change mitigation.

Electricity Companies - PLN and IPPs

The state-owned enterprise (SOE) PT Perusahaan Negara (PLN) is the only electricity company in Indonesia and has significant influence on energy policies and on the political economy of coal (Atteridge et al., 2018). Bridle et al. (2018) indicate that the vast influence of PLN on policymaking is due to the scope and scale of their operations, which involves generation, transmission, distribution, grid development, supplying fuel to generators, and acting as the single buyer for electricity. They stress that these responsibilities lead to conflicts of interest.

PLN creates the majority of electricity in Indonesia and has a monopoly on the transmission grids in Indonesia. Independent Power Producers (IPPs) can sell electricity to PLN by entering into Power Purchase Agreements (PPAs). However, PLN's monopoly position enables them to either refuse the PPAs or to negotiate favourable conditions (Harington, 2017, Jakob & Steckel, 2022).

The powerful position which PLN holds has been expressed by interviewees in a study conducted by Jakob et al. (2020), stating that, for example, PLN is even more powerful than the MEMR, and that it is protected by the MSOE. Harrington (2017) argues that the monopoly positions of PLN remains the main barrier for the development of RES in Indonesia.

Atteridge et al. (2018) argue that PLN faces the unique challenge that they are required by regulation to return profits to the government. Due to the regulatory pressure to be profitable, the energy portfolio PLN is centred around the operating costs of energy sources. However, Harrington (2017) hereby stresses that PLN is a loss-making entity, selling electricity below production costs and can only operate through government subsidies. Further, some PLN officials are in prison or are facing charges for losses to the governemt from PLNs loss-making operations (Harrington, 2017). The implementation of more expensive RES into the portfolio is therefore met with much resistance from PLN. The electricity tariff which PLN can charge to consumers and the subsidies which PLN receives by MoF are heavily regulated (Susanto, 2017).

In general, PLN seems to favour coal usage in their electricity mix due to low costs associated with subsidies for coal from the MoF (Arinaldo & Adiatma, 2019; Ordonez et al., 2021). In the business plan in which PLN sets its targets for their electricity mix (RUPTL 2019-2028), they set their targets for coal to contribute 54.4% to the mix and electricity from RES to 12.2% by 2027. This plan has lower targets for RES than the previous plan, which aimed for a 20% contribution of RES (Climate Analytics, 2019a). However, PLN recently announced zero emission targets for 2060 (Merdekawati et al., 2022).

PLN seems reluctant towards RES. The reasons for this are manifold. Firstly, due to the role of PLN as the grid operator with the responsibility to maintain grid stability, PLN is reluctant towards intermittent

RES which might threaten the grid stability (Bridle et al., 2018; Ialnazov & Keeley, 2020). Bridle et al. further stress that possible increased costs from RES could further worsen the financial situation of PLN which is already reliant on subsidies form the MoF. Furthermore, PLN owns and operates a large fleet of CFPP, which would become stranded assets when increasing the share of RES and phasing-out coal. Bridle et al. hereby conclude that the reluctance of PLN towards further deployment of RES could only be overcome by some mechanism which would directly incentivize PLN (Bridle et al., 2018).

Atterdige et al. emphasize that there are ongoing discussions in Indonesia whether to change the role of PLN, by for example only being responsible for the transmission of electricity. Interviewees in the study conducted by the authors emphasize that opening the electricity market to more players could accelerate the transition to RES (Atteridge et al., 2018).

Coal Industry

Bridle et al. highlight that the coal industry is a main actor in the political economy of coal in Indonesia. They highlight that the coal industry contributes significantly to the economy and the government's budget by royalty payments from mining operations. The authors also highlight the difficulties which the coal industry is facing, due to declining global demand and concerns regarding pollution and environmental damage. They stress that the coal industry also significantly influences policymaking due the impact which energy policies could have on their business models (Bridle et al., 2018). Jakob et al. (2020) further highlight the strong connection between the coal industry and responsible regulators, arguing that this might explain why CFPPs are more favoured by regulators over alternative energy sources.

According to Down to Earth (2010), the three biggest coal companies in South Kalimantan are PD Baramarta, PT Arutmin Indonesia, and PT Adaro, which together hold concession contracts for over 112,000 ha and produced over 57.5 million tonnes of coal in 2008. Form the produced coal in South Kalimantan, 73% is exported, whereas the remainder is used for electricity generation or for industrial purposes.

Bridle et al. indicate that the coal industry exerts influence on policymaking and has strong ties to influential political actors, which might explain difficulties with phasing-out coal in Indonesia, and specifically in South Kalimantan. They further tend to have a negative or neutral attitude towards RES. The coal industry would further be one of the main negatively affected actors from phasing-out coal (Bridle et al., 2018)

Province of South Kalimantan

The provinces in Indonesia also play an important role in the political economy of coal, especially since the decentralization process in Indonesia (Jakob et al., 2020). Ordonez et al. (2021) highlight that regions and provinces are incentivized to extract coal for economic growth and to generate revenues. They further stress that corruption and a lack of law enforcement at the local level further drive coal extraction.

Marquardt (2014) stresses that the decentralization in Indonesia has led to a vertical fragmentation of responsibilities, where the local regencies and cities within a province are responsible for energy related issues, such as planning, development and implementation of energy projects, and the provision of licences and permits for mining activities.

As discusses in Chapter 4.1.2., South Kalimantan has vast resources of coal, illegal mining is widespread, and coal constitutes a main part of the provincial GDP. The province of South Kalimantan therefore poses a strong actor in the political economy of coal, possibly being reluctant towards phasing-out coal.

Communities

The view which communities can play in the political economy of coal is diverse. As discussed in Chapter 2.1.2., the influence of phasing-out coal on affected regions and the need to shift to alternative means of economic development poses the greatest challenge to coal transitions. Affected communities might fear loss of employment opportunities, loss if income, and possibly even a loss of social identity (see Caldecott et al., 2017).

On the contrary, Atteridge et al. (2018) highlight that affected communities might the main opponents of increased mining activities due to environmental damage in Indonesia. However, they also stress that communities often do not carry much political influence. It seems that in Indonesia concerns about the environmental and social damage of coal mining activities is increasing, having led to increased political conflict in East Kalimantan (see Brown and Spiegel, 2017; Iskander et al., 2021). Brown and Spiegel (2017) further highlight that coal reserves in Kalimantan are mainly located in the forests of Kalimantan in the interior of the island, where Dayak communities are located, which has led to controversies surrounding territorial aspects.

Development Partners & NGOs

Bridle et al. highlight that development partners, such as The World Bank, the Asian Development Bank (ADB), or other countries, have played a role for advancing the energy transition in Indonesia by providing technical and financial support to projects for renewable energy. Environmental NGOs have also played a role in fostering public engagement, raising awareness for coal related impacts on the environment and the climate. However, even though their support for RES and their advocacy against coal, their political influence remains rather low (Bridle et al., 2018; see also Jakob et al., 2020; Ordonez et al. 2021).

Appendix D - Interview Protocol

Semi-structured Interview Questionnaire, by Kieron P. Funk

Introduction (5 min)

- Thank you for availability
- Explanation of research project, goal of interview and study
- Focus on politically feasible solutions
- Explanation of duration and structure of the interview
- Request for recording and automatic transcription
- Assurance of anonymity, not being published, only available to research staff, and planned deletion of recordings
- Assurance that no question must be answered if the interviewee feels uncomfortable for any reason
- Feedback and contact information of the interviewer

Introductory Questions: (10 min)

- 1. Could you please share your current position and explain your role and expertise in the energy or coal sector and experiences with Indonesia and with decarbonization in general?
- 2. Do you believe that Indonesia, in particular South Kalimantan, should aim for or prepare for phasing-out coal and how does this relate to your own work?
- 3. In your opinion, how did the dominance of coal in Indonesia and in South Kalimantan develop and what were the main drivers for this?
- 4. In your opinion, what are the main aspects and issues which would need to be addressed to enable a coal transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia?

Part 1: Institutional Interventions on Embeddedness Level (3 min)

5. Do you believe that the Indonesian government could change its course on continuing coal mining and expanding coal-fired power production due to internal or external pressure, such as public concerns over environmental damage from mining operations, rising climate awareness, or international efforts for climate change mitigation by phasing-out coal? If yes, or no, please explain why.

Part 2: Interventions on the Institutional Level - Laws, Regulations, etc. (15 min)

- 6. Do you believe that an independent regulator, responsible for the coal industry and the electricity sector, should be implemented in Indonesia? If yes, do you believe that this is politically feasible and that it would accelerate a coal transition or hinder it? If no, please explain why.
- 7. How could effective and politically feasible environmental regulations for improving air quality or for conducting mining restoration be implemented?
- 8. In your opinion, how can illegal mining in South Kalimantan be effectively reduced?
- 9. How could corrupt practices in the coal mining sector be reduced?

10. To what extent do you think that the fiscal and administrative decentralization in Indonesia is hindering or promoting coal production or a coal transition in South Kalimantan?

Part 3: Interventions on the Governance Level (2 min)

11. If a coal transition would occur, do you think compensation should be paid to affected stakeholders? If yes or no, please explain why, which stakeholders should be compensated, and who should pay for this.

Interventions on the Market Level - Resource Allocation and Employment (15 min)

- 12. To what extent do you think deregulation, liberalization, or privatization of the electricity sector would be advisable or even possible given the current situation in Indonesia?
- 13. Do you believe that carbon pricing, either through a carbon tax or through an Emission Trading Scheme can be implemented effectively, and how could this be achieved politically?
- 14. Do you believe that reducing fossil fuel subsidies or increasing subsidies for renewable energy in Indonesia would be politically feasible and how do you think could this be implemented?
- 15. Do you believe that emission or renewable portfolio standards could be implemented in Indonesia? If yes or no, please explain why.
- 16. Feed-in tariffs were abolished in Indonesia in 2017. Do you believe that it would be politically feasible and advisable to introduce them again, and if so, do you believe that these could accelerate the deployment of renewable energy sources?

Part 5: General Questions? (10 min)

- 17. To what extent do you think that financial and technical assistance by the international community should be provided to help phasing-out coal?
- 18. To what extent do you think that phasing-out coal in Indonesia in the near future would be feasible?
- 19. Would you know any other interventions or instrument that could support/enable phasing out coal?
- 20. Do you have any other remarks for this interview?
- 21. Who would you recommend interviewing further for this research?

Part 6: End

- Thank you for your participation and your support
- For any further questions, feel free to contact me, under the following e-mail: k.p.funk@student.tudelft.nl

Appendix E - Interview Consent Form

Delft University of Technology HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS INFORMED CONSENT

Dear Sir or Madam,

You are being invited to participate in an interview for a research study titled "Political Economic Analysis and Development of Institutional Interventions for enabling a Coal Transition in South Kalimantan, Indonesia", because you have been suggested as a key expert on this topic. This study is being conducted by Kieron Patrick Funk from the TU Delft in collaboration with Dr. Jaco Quist, Dr. Thomas Hoppe, and formerly Dr. Abidah Setyowati.

The purpose of this research study is to develop institutional interventions (e.g. norms, laws, policies, regulations, contracts, market structures etc.) for enabling the phasing-out of coal in South Kalimantan, Indonesia. The interview will take approximately *60* minutes. The data will be used for the master thesis of Mr. Funk and as potential input for research being conducted for the research project "Regional Development Planning and Ideal Lifestyle of Future Indonesia - By Utilizing Advance Green Energy Technology and Trans/Inter-disciplinary Approaches" by the Indonesian Ministry of Research and Technology and the Dutch Research Council (NWO). The interview consists of open-ended questions in an audio-recorded semi-structured interview on how the phasing-out of coal in Indonesia can be initiated and managed by institutional interventions.

Your personal information and your answers in this study will remain confidential, unless otherwise agreed upon. We will minimize any risks by completely anonymising the interviews in the thesis. Personal data (name, e-mail address, occupation) will only be collected for purposes related to the thesis (e.g., informing supervisor of the study). The data will safely be stored on the personal TU Delft OneDrive of Mr. Funk and the transcription of the interview anonymised. The interview would be audio-recorded, given your permission, and automatically transcribed using either Microsoft Teams or Zoom. The automatic transcription will be manually adjusted by Mr. Funk to match the originally spoken words. The transcripts of the interviews will only be made available to the supervisor of the thesis and will not be published elsewhere. The audio-recording of the interview will be stored on the personal account of Mr. Funk on the TU Delft OneDrive and deleted 1 month after the thesis project has been finished around September 2022. Your participation in this study is entirely voluntary and you can withdraw at any time. You are free to omit any questions.

Below you can find the informed consent form for this research. Please tick the appropriate boxes to indicate your consent, or alternatively we can record your answers during the interview.

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at k.p.funk@student.tudelft.nl. The Contact details of the Responsible Researcher/Supervisor of the thesis are:

Dr. ir. Jaco Quist e-mail: J.N.Quist@tudelft.nl

PLEASE TICK THE APPROPRIATE BOXES	Yes	No
A: GENERAL AGREEMENT – RESEARCH GOALS, PARTICPANT TASKS AND VOLUNTARY PARTICIPATION		
 I have read and understood the study information dated 01.06.2022, or it has been read to me. I have been able to ask questions about the study and my questions have been answered to my satisfaction. 		
2. I consent voluntarily to be a participant in this study and understand that I can refuse to answer questions and I can withdraw from the study at any time, without having to give a reason.		
3. I understand that taking part in the study involves:		
 an audio-recorded interview which will either be conducted via Microsoft Teams or Zoom 		
 the interview will be a semi-structured interview with open-ended questions 		
 the audio-recording will be transcribed as a text directly from Microsoft Teams or Zoom; the text will be edited by the researcher to eliminate any mistakes from the automatic transcription; this will be conducted by listening to the recording of the interview and adjusting the written transcription to the originally spoken text 		
 the recording of the interview will be stored on the personal account of Mr. Funk on the TU Delft OneDrive of the researcher and will be destroyed after the research has been completed 		
4. I understand that I will not be financially compensated for my participation.		
5. I understand that the study is anticipated to end by September 2022.		
B: POTENTIAL RISKS OF PARTICIPATING (INCLUDING DATA PROTECTION)		
6. I understand that taking part in the study involves the following risks.		
The risk of leaked information		
The risk of reputation damage from leaked information		
I understand that these will be mitigated by complete anonymisation of the interviews and the interviewees. The transcripts of the interviews will not be made public and are only made available for the supervisor of the thesis. No personal data will be published or made available to anyone not involved in the research. The personal data will be stored on the TU Delft OneDrive of Mr. Funk and deleted after the research has been conducted. The interview will consist of open-ended questions. The interviewees can decide how to answer to the question and can omit to answer any question. The interviewees are free to stop the interview at any time.		
7. I understand that taking part in the study also involves collecting specific personally identifiable information (PII) (name, contact data, occupation) and associated personally identifiable research data (PIRD) with the potential risk of		

PLEASE TICK THE APPROPRIATE BOXES	Yes	No
my identity being revealed with the risk of re-identification and following risk of affecting public or professional reputation.		
8. I understand that some of this PIRD is considered as sensitive data within GDPR legislation, specifically political and religious views.		
9. I understand that the following steps will be taken to minimise the threat of a data breach and protect my identity in the event of such a breach. The interviews will be completely anonymised. No personal data will be published or made available to anyone not involved in the research. The personal data will be deleted after the research has been conducted.		
10. I understand that personal information collected about me that can identify me, such as my name or contact details, will not be shared beyond the study team.		
11. I understand that the (identifiable) personal data I provide will be destroyed after the research has ended. This will be conducted 1 month after the graduation of the researcher, which is anticipated to be around September 2022.		
C: RESEARCH PUBLICATION, DISSEMINATION AND APPLICATION		
12. I understand that after the research study the de-identified information I provide will be used for the following reasons. The master thesis and the results of the interviews will be made publicly available at the TU Delft Repository (https://repository.tudelft.nl/). An external appendix of the master thesis will include the anonymised transcripts of the interviews, which will not be published and only made available to the supervisors of the thesis. Further, the master thesis is part of a research project. The results from the study may be used for purposes in the research project by academic staff of the TU Delft involved in the research project. Further, the results of the study could potentially lead to a scientific publication.		
13. I agree that my responses, views or other input can be quoted anonymously in research outputs.		
D: (LONGTERM) DATA STORAGE, ACCESS AND REUSE		
14. I give permission for the de-identified data and the results of the interviews to be included in the thesis which will be archived in the TU Delft repository (https://repository.tudelft.nl/). The transcribed interviews will be included in an external appendix and not made available to the public or stored on the TU Delft repository.		
15. I understand that access to the repository where the master thesis is stored is openly available on the internet.		

Name of participant [printed]	Signature	Date
If you do not wish to sign this, we the interview verbally, and you c	e can also go through t an agree to these term	he informed consent at the beginning as verbally.
I, as researcher, have accurately participant and, to the best of mare freely consenting	provided or read out t y ability, ensured that	he information sheet to the potential the participant understands to what th
I, as researcher, have accurately participant and, to the best of mare freely consenting.	provided or read out t y ability, ensured that	he information sheet to the potential the participant understands to what th
I, as researcher, have accurately participant and, to the best of m are freely consenting. Kieron Patrick Funk	provided or read out t y ability, ensured that	he information sheet to the potential the participant understands to what th
I, as researcher, have accurately participant and, to the best of m are freely consenting. Kieron Patrick Funk Researcher name [printed]	provided or read out t y ability, ensured that Signature	he information sheet to the potential the participant understands to what th Date
I, as researcher, have accurately participant and, to the best of m are freely consenting. Kieron Patrick Funk Researcher name [printed]	provided or read out t y ability, ensured that Signature	he information sheet to the potential the participant understands to what th Date
I, as researcher, have accurately participant and, to the best of m are freely consenting. Kieron Patrick Funk Researcher name [printed] Study contact details for further	provided or read out t y ability, ensured that Signature information:	he information sheet to the potential the participant understands to what th Date

Back to text